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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements provide our current
expectations or forecasts of future events and are not statements of historical fact. These forward-looking statements include information about possible or
assumed future events, including, among other things, discussion and analysis of our future financial condition, results of operations, our strategic plans
and objectives, cost management, liquidity and ability to refinance our indebtedness as it matures, anticipated capital expenditures (and access to capital)
required to complete projects, amounts of cash distributions to our stockholders in the future, if any, and other matters. Words such as “anticipates,”
“expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates” and variations of these words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are
beyond our control, are difficult to predict and/or could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking
statements.
 
Forward-looking statements involve inherent uncertainty and may ultimately prove to be incorrect or false. Investors in our common stock are cautioned
not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Except as otherwise may be required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise
forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events or actual operating results. Our actual results could
differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including, but not limited to, the following:
 

• our success depends to a significant extent upon general economic conditions, including disposable income levels and changes in consumer
discretionary spending;

• a significant portion of our future growth is dependent upon our ability to expand our operations in our existing markets and to penetrate new
markets through acquisitions;

• we may not achieve the benefits expected from our acquisitions, which could adversely impact our business and operating results;
• we may have difficulty managing and facilitating our future growth;
• our business is a low-margin business and our profit margins may be sensitive to inflationary and deflationary pressures;
• we have significant competition from a variety of sources, and we may not be able to compete successfully;
• our customers are generally not obligated to continue purchasing products from us;
• damage to our reputation or lack of acceptance of our specialty food products, center-of-the-plate products and/or the brands we carry in existing

and new markets could materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition or results of operations;
• we have experienced losses due to our inability to collect accounts receivable in the past and could experience increases in such losses in the

future if our customers are unable to pay their debts to us in a timely manner or at all;
• new information or attitudes regarding diet and health or adverse opinions about the health effects of the products we distribute could result in

changes in consumer eating habits, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations;
• our business operations and future development could be significantly disrupted if we lose key members of our management team;
• our insurance policies may not provide adequate levels of coverage against all claims, and fluctuating insurance requirements and costs could

negatively impact our profitability. In addition, if we fail to establish proper reserves and adequately estimate future expenses, the costs associated
with our self-insured group medical, workers’ compensation liability and auto liability plans may adversely affect our business, financial condition
or results of operations;

• conditions beyond our control could materially affect the cost and/or availability of our specialty food products or center-of-the-plate products
and/or interrupt our distribution network;

• our increased distribution of center-of-the-plate products, like meat, poultry and seafood, involves increased exposure to price volatility
experienced by those products;

• group purchasing organizations may become more active in our industry and increase their efforts to add our customers as members of these
organizations;

• fuel cost volatility may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations;
• increases in our labor costs, including as a result of labor shortages, the unionization of some of our associates, the price or unavailability of

insurance and changes in government regulation, could slow our growth or harm our business;
• significant public health epidemics or pandemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”), may adversely affect our business, results

of operations and financial condition;
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• because our foodservice distribution operations are concentrated in certain culinary markets, we are susceptible to economic and other
developments, including adverse weather conditions, in these areas;

• information technology system failures or breaches of our network security could interrupt our operations and adversely affect our business;
• our investments in information technology may not produce the benefits that we anticipate;
• we may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which, in turn, could harm the value of our brands and adversely affect our

business;
• product liability claims could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations;
• we are subject to significant governmental regulation and failure to comply could subject us to enforcement actions, recalls or other penalties,

which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations;
• federal, state, provincial and local tax rules in the United States and Canada may adversely impact our business, financial condition or results of

operations;
• our substantial indebtedness may limit our ability to invest in the ongoing needs of our business;
• our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited;
• we may be unable to obtain debt or other financing, including financing necessary to execute on our acquisition strategy, on favorable terms or at

all;
• changes in the method of determining London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), or the replacement of LIBOR with an alternative rate, may

adversely affect interest charged on our outstanding debt;
• the price of our common stock may be volatile and our stockholders could lose all or a part of their investment;
• concentration of ownership among our existing executive officers, directors and their affiliates may prevent new investors from influencing

significant corporate decisions;
• if securities analysts or industry analysts downgrade our stock, publish negative research or reports or do not publish reports about our business,

our stock price and trading volume could decline;
• we do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and our stock may not appreciate in value;
• our issuance of preferred stock or debt securities could adversely affect holders of our common stock and discourage a takeover; and
• some provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could discourage an acquisition of us by others,

even if an acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders, and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current
management.

This list of risks and uncertainties, however, is only a summary of some of the most important factors and is not intended to be exhaustive. Investors in our
common stock should carefully review the risks that are set forth under the caption “Risk Factors” included in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

Unless this Form 10-K indicates otherwise or the context otherwise requires, the terms “The Chefs’ Warehouse,” “we,” “our,” “our Company,” “the
Company” or “us” as used in this Form 10-K refer to The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
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Item 1.    BUSINESS

We are a premier distributor of specialty food and center-of-the-plate products in the United States and Canada. We are focused on serving the specific
needs of chefs who own and/or operate some of the leading menu-driven independent restaurants, fine dining establishments, country clubs, hotels,
caterers, culinary schools, bakeries, patisseries, chocolateries, cruise lines, casinos and specialty food stores in the United States and Canada (collectively,
our “core customers”). We believe that we have a distinct competitive advantage in serving these customers as a result of our extensive selection of
distinctive and hard-to-find specialty and center-of-the-plate food products, our product knowledge and our customer service.

We define specialty food products as gourmet foods and ingredients that are of the highest grade, quality or style as measured by their uniqueness, exotic
origin or particular processing method. Our product portfolio includes over 50,000 stock-keeping units (“SKUs”) from more than 2,000 different suppliers
and is comprised primarily of imported and domestic specialty food products, such as artisan charcuterie, specialty cheeses, unique oils and vinegars,
truffles, caviar, chocolate and pastry products. We also offer an extensive line of center-of-the-plate products, including custom cut beef, seafood and
hormone-free poultry, as well as produce and broadline food products, such as cooking oils, butter, eggs, milk and flour. When marketing our products to
our customers, we focus our efforts on chefs, and we believe that, by offering a wide selection of both distinctive and hard-to-find products, together with
center-of-the-plate proteins and staple broadline food products, we are able to differentiate ourselves from larger, traditional broadline foodservice
distributors, while simultaneously enabling our customers to utilize us as their primary foodservice distributor. Additionally, we market certain of our
center-of-the-plate products directly to consumers through our mail and e-commerce platform of Allen Brothers, Inc. (“Allen Brothers”) and we expanded
our direct-to-consumer e-commere platform by launching our “Shop Like a Chef” online home delivery platform in several of the markets we serve.

Since the formation of our predecessor in 1985, we have expanded our distribution network, product selection and customer base both organically and
through acquisitions. Our net revenues have increased from approximately $1.2 billion for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2016 to $1.6 billion for the
fiscal year ended December 27, 2019. Our net revenues for the fiscal year ended December 25, 2020 decreased to $1.1 billion due to the COVID-19
pandemic’s (the “Pandemic”) adverse impact on our business and operations and those of our customers. Our historical sales growth and our ability to
manage through the material adverse impacts of the Pandemic on our business in fiscal 2020 are the result of an increase in the breadth and depth of our
product portfolio, our commitment to customer service, the efforts of our experienced and sophisticated sales professionals, the increased use of technology
in the operations and management of our business and our ongoing consolidation of the fragmented specialty foodservice distribution industry. Since
December 28, 2018, we have completed eleven acquisitions which have increased our penetration in existing markets, expanded our footprint into new
markets and/or enhanced our product capabilities. The up-front cash purchase prices for these eleven acquisitions resulted in aggregate up-front cash
consideration of more than $132.7 million, which we funded with cash generated from our operations, borrowings under our then existing indebtedness and
the proceeds of our common stock offerings.

Excluding our direct-to-consumer business, we currently serve more than 34,000 customer locations in our sixteen primary geographic markets across the
United States and Canada, including New York, Washington, D.C., Los Angeles, San Francisco, Las Vegas, Miami, Portland, Columbus, Cincinnati,
Chicago, Vancouver, Edmonton, Toronto, Seattle, Sacramento and Texas. By leveraging an experienced and sophisticated sales force of approximately 490
sales and customer service professionals, we maintain collaborative relationships with thousands of chefs while also acting as a critical marketing arm and
route-to-market for many of our suppliers. We operate 36 distribution centers and provide service six days a week in many of our service areas, utilizing
our fleet of delivery trucks to fill our customers’ orders.

Effect of the COVID-19 Pandemic on our Business

The Pandemic has had a material impact on our business and those of our customers. In an effort to limit the spread of the virus, federal, state and local
governments began implementing various restrictions beginning in late March that resulted in the temporary closure of non-essential businesses in many of
the markets we serve, which forced our customers in those markets to either transition their establishments to take-out service, delivery service or
temporarily cease operations. State and local governments began to ease these restrictions in mid-May, however, the severity of indoor and outdoor dining
restrictions have varied throughout the year depending on the extent of outbreaks and actions taken by the federal, state and local governments with
jurisdiction over the markets we serve.

Despite these restrictions, we continued to provide our core customers with high touch service while many of our competitors reduced service levels. Our
high touch service includes helping our core customers continue operating and pivoting to new business models. Although the environment has been
challenging, our teams’ engagement and dedication have led us to expand to new opportunities as we partner with new and existing customers on re-
openings and on launching new locations and
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concepts. We also expanded our direct-to-consumer product offerings by launching our “Shop Like a Chef” online home delivery platform in several of the
markets we serve. We now offer products directly to consumers through both our Allen Brothers and “Shop Like a Chef” online platforms.

We have implemented cost control measures during this time of demand volatility. Our variable cost structure naturally decreases as our sales decrease,
however, we also reduced portions of our fixed cost structure while still investing in our customer facing resources. Among other cost reduction actions, we
postponed planned capital expenditures, returned certain equipment on short-term rental agreements, and reduced compensation expense through salary
reductions, furloughs and lay-offs as we right-size our organization to current levels of demand.

As of December 25, 2020, we had $193.3 million of cash on our balance sheet and $50.3 million of availability on our asset-based loan facility. Our
liquidity position, cost control measures and our strong relationships with customers and suppliers put us in a strategic position to invest in growth and take
advantage of business development opportunities as we recover from the Pandemic.

Competitive Strengths

We believe that, during our over 30-year history, we have achieved, developed and/or refined the following strengths which provide us with a distinct
competitive position in the foodservice distribution industry and also the opportunity to achieve superior margins relative to most large broadline
foodservice distributors:

Leading Distributor of Specialty Food Products in Many of the Key Culinary Markets. Based on our management’s industry knowledge and experience, we
believe we are the largest distributor of specialty food products, as measured by net sales, in the New York, Washington, D.C., San Francisco and Los
Angeles metropolitan markets. We believe these markets, along with a number of other markets we serve, including Las Vegas, Miami, Portland,
Columbus, Cincinnati, Chicago, Vancouver, Edmonton, Toronto, Seattle, Sacramento and Texas, create and set the culinary trends for the rest of the United
States and Canada and provide us with valuable insight into the latest culinary and menu practices. Furthermore, we believe our established relationships
with many of the top chefs, culinary schools and dining establishments in these key culinary markets have benefited us when we entered into new markets
where we believe that chefs at our potential customers were generally knowledgeable of our brand and commitment to quality and excellence from their
experience working in other markets which we serve or through their personal relationships throughout the culinary industry.

Expansive Product Offering. We offer an extensive portfolio of high-quality specialty food products, ranging from basic ingredients and staples, such as
milk and flour, to custom-cut steaks, seafood, produce and pastries, as well as delicacies and specialty ingredients sourced from North America, Europe,
Asia and South America, which we believe helps our customers distinguish their menu offerings. We carry more than 50,000 SKUs and we constantly
evaluate our portfolio and introduce new products to address regional trends and preferences and ensure that we are on the leading edge of broader culinary
trends. Through our importing division, we provide our customers with access to a portfolio of exclusive items, including regional olive oils, truffles and
charcuterie from Italy, Spain, France and other Mediterranean countries. In addition, and as evidence of our commitment to aid our customers in creating
unique and innovative menu items, we regularly utilize our sourcing relationships and industry insights to procure additional products that we do not
regularly carry but that our customers specifically request. We believe that the breadth and depth of our product portfolio facilitates our customers’ ability
to distinguish and enhance their menu offerings and differentiates us from larger traditional broadline foodservice distributors. For example, we provide a
selection of more than 200 different varieties of olive oil, while large broadline foodservice distributors only carry, on average, 5-10 types of olive oil.

Critical Route-to-Market for Specialty Food Suppliers. We currently distribute products from more than 2,000 different suppliers. Our suppliers are located
throughout North America, Europe, Asia and South America and include numerous small, family-owned entities and artisanal food producers. We are the
largest customer for many of our suppliers. As a result, our experienced and sophisticated sales professionals, customer relationships and distribution
platform are important to these suppliers’ route-to-market, which enables us to offer a wide range of products on an exclusive basis.

Expanding Base of Premier Customer Relationships. Our breadth and depth of product offerings coupled with our highly regarded customer service has
allowed us to develop and retain a loyal customer base that is comprised of chefs who own or work at more than 34,000 of the nation’s leading menu-
driven independent restaurants, fine dining establishments, country clubs, hotels, caterers, culinary schools, bakeries, patisseries, chocolateries, cruise lines,
casinos and specialty food stores. Our focus on product selection, product knowledge and customer service has rewarded us with a number of long-term
customer relationships, which often begin when chefs are introduced to us while attending the nation’s leading culinary schools, including The Culinary
Institute of America and The French Culinary Institute, both of which have been customers of ours for
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more than ten years. Based on our management’s industry experience and our relationships and dealings with our customers, we believe we are the primary
distributor of specialty food products to the majority of our customers that are not part of our direct-to-consumer business.

Collaborative Professional and Educational Relationships with our Customers. We employ a sophisticated and experienced sales force of approximately
490 sales and customer service professionals, a significant number of whom have formal culinary training, degrees in the culinary arts or prior experience
working in the culinary industry. Equipped with advanced culinary and industry knowledge, our sales professionals seek to establish a rapport with our
customers’ chefs, so that they can more fully understand and anticipate the needs of and offer cost-effective food product solutions to the chefs who own or
operate these businesses. We believe that the specialized knowledge base of our sales professionals enables us to take a more collaborative and educational
approach to selling our gourmet foods and ingredients and to further differentiate ourselves from our traditional broadline competitors.

Expertise in Logistics and Distribution. We have built a first-class, scalable inventory management and logistics platform that enables us to efficiently fill
our customers’ orders and to profitably meet our customers’ needs for varying drop sizes, high service levels and timely delivery. With 36 distribution
centers located throughout the United States and Canada, we are able to leverage our geographic footprint and reduce our inbound freight costs. This scale
enables us to maintain a portfolio of more than 50,000 SKUs, and through the operation of our sophisticated information technology, inventory
management and logistics systems, we believe we provide our customers with some of the highest levels of customer service and responsiveness in our
industry.

Experienced and Proven Management Team. Our senior management team has demonstrated the ability to grow the business through various economic
environments. With collective experience of more than 90 years at The Chefs’ Warehouse, its predecessor and other foodservice distribution companies,
our founders and senior management are experienced operators and are passionate about our future. Our senior management team is comprised of our
founders, as well as experienced professionals with expertise in the foodservice distribution industry and in a wide range of functional areas, including
finance and accounting, sales and marketing, operations, information technology, legal and human resources

Our Growth Strategies

We believe substantial organic growth opportunities exist to recover our net revenues to pre-Pandemic levels in our current markets through increased
penetration of our existing customers and the addition of new customers, and we have identified new markets that we believe also present opportunities for
future expansion. Key elements of our growth strategy include the following:

Increase Penetration with Existing Customers. We intend to sell more products to our existing customers by increasing the breadth and depth of our product
selection and increasing the efficiency of our sales professionals, while at the same time continuing to provide excellent customer service. We are a data-
driven and goal-oriented organization, and our management and sales professionals are highly focused on our weekly sales and gross profit contribution
from each of our core customers and increasing the number of unique products we distribute to such customers. We believe our acquisition activity reflects
this focus, as we have sought to complement our existing product offerings and enhance our product capabilities through the acquisition of wholesale
specialty food and produce distributors and high quality center-of-the-plate protein suppliers, manufacturers and distributors.

Expand our Customer Base Within our Existing Markets. As of December 25, 2020, we served more than 34,000 customer locations, excluding our direct-
to-consumer business, in the United States and Canada. We plan to expand our market share in the fragmented specialty food distribution industry by
cultivating new customer relationships within our existing markets through the continued penetration of menu-driven independent restaurants, fine dining
establishments, country clubs, hotels, caterers, culinary schools, bakeries, patisseries, chocolateries, cruise lines, casinos and specialty food stores. We
believe we have the opportunity to continue to gain market share in our existing markets by offering an extensive selection of specialty food products, as
well as center-of-the-plate proteins, produce and traditional broadline staple food products through our unique, collaborative and educational sales efforts
and efficient, scalable distribution solution.

Improve our Operating Margins. As we continue to grow, we believe that the investments we are making in our facilities and information technology
platforms, along with improved efficiencies that we are working to achieve in our general and administrative functions, should yield both improved
customer service and increased profitability. Utilizing our fleet of delivery trucks, we usually fill customer orders within 12-24 hours of order placement.
We intend to continue to offer our customers this high level of customer service, while maintaining our focus on realizing efficiencies and economies of
scale in purchasing,
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warehousing, distribution and general and administrative functions which, when combined with incremental fixed-cost leverage, we believe will lead to
continued improvements in our operating margin over time.

Pursue Selective Acquisitions. Throughout our over 30-year history, we have successfully identified, consummated and integrated multiple strategic
acquisitions, which were designed to increase our penetration in existing markets, expand our footprint into new markets and/or enhance our product
capabilities. We believe that, over time, we will be able to improve the operations and overall profitability of each acquired company by leveraging our
sourcing relationships to provide an expanded product portfolio, implementing our tested sales force training techniques and metrics and installing
improved warehouse management and information systems. We believe we have the opportunity to capitalize on our existing infrastructure and expertise
by continuing to selectively pursue opportunistic acquisitions in order to expand the breadth of our distribution network, increase our operating efficiency
and add additional products and capabilities. Since our initial public offering (“IPO”), we have completed twenty acquisitions, which have increased our
penetration in existing markets, expanded our footprint into new markets and enhanced our product capabilities.

Our Markets and the Customers that We Serve

Excluding our direct-to-consumer business, we distribute our specialty food products to over 34,000 distinct customer locations from distribution centers
located in our primary markets, which include New York, Washington, D.C., Los Angeles, San Francisco, Las Vegas, Miami, Portland, Columbus,
Cincinnati, Chicago, Vancouver, Edmonton, Toronto, Seattle, Sacramento and Texas. We also serve customers in a number of other markets, including
Philadelphia, Boston and Napa Valley. We believe that many of these markets set the culinary trends for the rest of the United States and Canada and
provide us with valuable insight into the latest culinary and menu trends. We have established collaborative professional and educational relationships with
some of the United States’ and Canada’s most demanding chefs, which allows us to anticipate the needs of, and offer cost-effective food product solutions
to, our customers while allowing our customers to locate ingredients that will enable them to create unique and differentiated menu items. Our target
customers include menu-driven independent restaurants, fine dining establishments, country clubs, hotels, caterers, culinary schools, bakeries, patisseries,
chocolateries, cruise lines, casinos and specialty food stores. We have no meaningful customer concentration as our top ten customers accounted for less
than 8.5% of total net sales for our 2020 fiscal year.

Our Allen Brothers subsidiary markets certain of our center-of-the-plate proteins directly to consumers through a mail and e-commerce platform.
Additionally, in response to the Pandemic, we expanded our direct-to-consumer product offerings by launching our “Shop Like a Chef” online home
delivery platform in several of the markets we serve.

Set forth below is a breakdown of the primary geographic markets we serve and the year we entered each market:

Market Name Geographies Served Year Entered
New York Boston to Atlantic City 1985

Washington, D.C. Philadelphia to Richmond 1999
Los Angeles Santa Barbara to San Diego 2005

San Francisco Napa Valley to Monterey Bay 2005
Las Vegas Las Vegas 2005

Miami Miami 2010
Portland Bend, OR to Seattle, WA 2011

Columbus Midwest 2012
Cincinnati Dayton, OH to Lexington, KY 2013
Chicago Chicago 2013

Vancouver Vancouver and Western Canada 2013
Edmonton Edmonton and Calgary 2013

Toronto Toronto 2013
Seattle Seattle 2013

Sacramento Sacramento 2015
Texas Texas 2018

We extend credit to virtually all of our core customers on varying terms. Typically, most of our customers have payment terms from 14 -60 days, however,
in response to the Pandemic, the Company has temporarily tightened its credit terms to a maximum of 30 days for the majority of its customers. We
complete a formal credit assessment of all significant new core customers, and
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our Credit and Collections Department regularly evaluates credit terms for each such customer based upon several factors, including order frequency,
average order size, the types of products purchased and the length of the relationship. We believe that we are skilled at managing customer credit.

Our Gourmet Food Products

We strive to be the primary food source solution for our customers, and, to this end, we offer our customers a comprehensive product portfolio that ranges
from basic ingredients and staples, such as milk and flour, to custom-cut steaks, seafood, produce and pastries, as well as delicacies and specialty
ingredients sourced from North America, Europe, Asia and South America. We carry more than 50,000 SKUs and we are fully committed to utilizing our
sourcing relationships and industry insights to procure products that we do not regularly carry but that our customers specifically request as they seek to
create unique and innovative menu offerings.

We continuously evaluate potential additions to our product portfolio based on both existing and anticipated trends in the culinary industry. Our buyers
have numerous contacts with suppliers throughout North America, Europe, Asia and South America and are always looking for new and interesting
products that will aid our customers as they seek to keep up with the latest developments in the culinary industry. Our ability to successfully distribute a
significant portion of the total production of smaller, regional and artisanal specialty food producers allows us the opportunity to be these producers’
primary route-to-market in our markets without, in most cases, requiring us to make contractual commitments regarding guaranteed volume. We are also
able to utilize our size and successful track record of distributing products sourced from outside the United States and Canada to resist efforts from many of
our foreign suppliers to push importing costs off onto us.

We seek to differentiate ourselves from our competitors by offering a more extensive depth and breadth of specialty products. We carry a wide range of
high-quality specialty food products, including artisan charcuterie, specialty cheeses, unique oils and vinegars, truffles, caviar, chocolate and pastry
products across each of our markets, but we also offer a number of items in each of our respective markets that are tailored to meet the unique preferences
of the individual chefs in that market. We regularly rotate our inventory to identify and bring to market new products that will continue to support our value
proposition.

Within our product offerings, we carry numerous gourmet brands, and at the same time, we seek to maximize product contribution through the sale of our
proprietary brands, which we offer in a number of staple products, including bulk olive oil, Italian grating cheeses and butter. We believe that our ability to
offer simultaneously high-quality specialty foods and ingredients, center-of-the-plate products, produce and more traditional broadline staple food products
provides our customers with foodservice distribution solutions that are efficient and cost effective.

Our Sophisticated and Experienced Sales Professionals

We employ a sophisticated and experienced sales force of approximately 490 sales and customer service professionals focused on meeting our customers’
goals and objectives, while concurrently educating them regarding our latest products and broader culinary trends. Our sales force is composed of the
following three distinct groups which are all focused on providing outstanding service to our customers:

• Outside Sales Associates: Responsible for identifying sales opportunities, educating customers and acting as our public representatives.
• Inside Sales Associates: Responsible for processing customer orders and arranging for delivery and payment.
• Product Specialists: Responsible for maintaining specialized product knowledge and educating our outside sales associates and customers regarding

new products and general developments in several specific categories, including protein, seafood, pastry and cheese.

A significant number of our sales professionals have formal culinary training, degrees in the culinary arts and/or prior experience working in the culinary
industry. We strive to harness this culinary knowledge and passion for food and to concurrently promote an entrepreneurial working environment. Utilizing
advanced pricing optimization software available to them on a real-time basis, our sales professionals are afforded flexibility to determine the pricing of
individual items for our customers within a range of pricing options. The majority of our outside sales professionals are compensated on a commission
basis, and their performance is measured primarily upon their gross profit dollars obtained. We have historically experienced low turnover among our
seasoned sales professionals.

Because we are highly focused on collaborating with our customers and educating them regarding our latest products and broader culinary trends, we view
the ongoing education and training of our sales force as crucial to our continued success. To ensure that our sales professionals remain on the forefront of
new culinary products and trends, we regularly hold “vendor
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shows” at our distribution centers, where our sales force is able to interact with vendors and learn more about the vendors’ latest product offerings and the
performance of these products relative to competitive offerings.

Our Suppliers

We are committed to providing our customers with an unrivaled portfolio of specialty food products, as well as a comprehensive broadline product offering
and center-of-the-plate products. To fulfill this commitment, we maintain strong sourcing relationships with numerous producers of high-quality artisan and
regional specialty food products, as well as a wide range of broadline product suppliers, produce and protein vendors. Our importing arm also provides us
with access to exclusive items such as regional olive oils, truffles and charcuterie sourced from Italy, Spain, France and other Mediterranean countries.

We constantly seek out and evaluate new products in order to satisfy our customers’ desire to be at the forefront of the latest culinary and menu trends, and,
as evidence of our commitment to aid our customers in creating unique and innovative menu items, we regularly utilize our sourcing relationships and
industry insights to procure other products that we do not regularly carry but that our customers specifically request.

We currently distribute products from more than 2,000 different suppliers. We carry multiple products and utilize multiple suppliers in all of our product
categories, thereby eliminating our dependence upon any single supplier. Additionally, we seek to limit commodity risk by utilizing sophisticated
forecasting and inventory management systems to minimize the inventory carrying time of commodity-oriented products and by leveraging the specialized
product knowledge of our product specialists to manage purchasing and inventory levels when appropriate.
In response to the Pandemic, our purchasing teams have worked diligently to shift our product purchases to SKUs that are in high demand and, thus far, we
have not experienced difficulties in procuring products from our suppliers.

Our Operations and Distribution Centers

Operating out of 36 distribution centers of varying size and, despite the impacts of the Pandemic, providing service six days a week in many areas, we
utilize our fleet of delivery trucks to fill customer orders, usually within 12-24 hours of order placement. We have invested significantly in sophisticated
warehousing, inventory control and distribution systems, as described in more detail below.

We have implemented pick-to-voice technology in each of our distribution facilities, which enables our warehouse employees to fill orders with greater
speed and accuracy and are implementing inventory scanning platforms in an effort to reduce damages and returns.

Products are delivered to our distribution centers primarily by contract carriers, the suppliers themselves and our fleet of trucks. Out trucks are either owned
or leased from national leasing companies and regional firms that offer competitive services. Customer orders are assembled in our distribution centers and
then sorted, placed on pallets and loaded onto trucks and trailers in delivery sequence. The majority of our trucks and delivery trailers have multiple,
temperature-controlled compartments that ensure all product is delivered to the customer at its optimal temperature.

We employ advanced routing and logistics planning software, which maximizes the number of daily deliveries that each of our trucks can make, while also
enabling us to typically make deliveries within each customer’s preferred two to three hour time window. For our direct-to-consumer business, we ship
through nationally recognized couriers. We also use GPS and vehicle monitoring technology to regularly evaluate the condition of our delivery trucks and
monitor the performance of our drivers, by tracking their progress relative to their delivery schedule and providing information regarding hard braking,
idling and fast starts. Our use of this technology allows us to conduct proactive fleet maintenance, provide timely customer service and improve our risk
management.

Our Technology Systems

We maintain an advanced information technology platform that enables us to manage our operations across our various markets, as we seek to drive our
growth and profitability and ensure that the needs of our customers are met in an accurate and efficient manner. Over recent years, we have made
significant investments in distribution, sales, information and warehouse management systems and are in the process of implementing a fully-integrated
ERP system. Our systems improvements include the implementation of route optimization software, a warehouse management system at all specialty
warehouses that integrates with pick-to-voice and directed put-away systems. We are driving increasing sales volume through our ecommerce platforms
and a new mobile ordering tool which we believe will enable a much more seamless online customer experience. We also leverage a reporting and analytics
platform that provides our sales team and management with the information required to drive
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efficiency and growth. We believe that our current systems are scalable and can be leveraged together with targeted investments in new technology to
provide the fuel to drive profitable growth.

Intellectual Property

Except for the Spoleto, Bel Aria, Grand Reserve, Provvista, Argonaut, Praml, Black Falls, Michael’s, Chocoa, Crescendo, Matisse, Qzina, Coccinelle,
Allen Brothers, The Great Steakhouse Steaks, Del Monte, Fells Point, Bassian Farms, Sid Wainer & Son, Cambridge Packing, and The Chefs’ Warehouse
trademarks, we do not own or have the right to use any patent, trademark, trade name, license, franchise or concession, the loss of which would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Competition

The foodservice distribution industry is highly competitive. We compete with numerous smaller distributors on a local level, as well as with a limited
number of national broadline foodservice distributors. Certain of these distributors have greater financial and other resources than we do. Bidding for
contracts or arrangements with customers, particularly larger hotels and caterers, is highly competitive and distributors may market their services to a
particular customer over a long period of time before they are invited to bid. We believe that most purchasing decisions in the foodservice distribution
industry are based upon the quality and price of the product distributed and the distributor’s ability to completely and accurately fill orders and deliver them
in a timely manner.

Human Capital Management

As of December 25, 2020, we had 2,221 full-time employees, 149 of whom (approximately 7%) are currently represented by unions and operate under
collective bargaining agreements, which expire at various times between fiscal 2021 and 2025. We offer attractive compensation and benefit packages, and
we believe our relationship with our employees is satisfactory.

Workforce Health and Safety

The safety and health of our employees is a top priority for us. In response to the Pandemic, we implemented new procedures and protocols recommended
by the Centers for Disease Control, federal and state governments, and other major health authorities. This includes, but is not limited to, instructing our
employees to practice social distancing on our premises and those of our customers, frequent sanitation of our work environments, truck fleet and
equipment, supplying personal protective equipment to our workforce and allowing our administrative employees to work from home.

Regulation

As a distributor of specialty food products and meat and seafood in the United States and Canada, we are subject to regulation by numerous international,
federal, state, provincial and local regulatory agencies. For example, at the U.S. federal level, we are subject to the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act,
the Bioterrorism Act and regulations promulgated by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”). The FDA regulates manufacturing and holding
requirements for foods, specifies the standards of identity for certain foods and prescribes the format and content of certain information required to appear
on food product labels, among other responsibilities. For certain product lines, we are also subject to the Federal Meat Inspection Act, the Poultry Products
Inspection Act, the Perishable Agricultural Commodities Act, the Country of Origin Labeling Act and regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S.
Department of Agriculture (“USDA”). The USDA imposes standards for product quality and sanitation, including the inspection and labeling of meat and
poultry products and the grading and commercial acceptance of produce shipments from vendors. The products we distribute in Canada are also subject to
regulation and inspection by Health Canada and the Canadian Food Inspection Agency. Our suppliers are also subject to similar regulatory requirements
and oversight. The failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements could result in civil or criminal fines or penalties, product recalls, closure of
facilities or operations, the loss or revocation of existing licenses, permits or approvals or the failure to obtain additional licenses, permits or approvals in
new jurisdictions where we intend to do business.

We are also subject to state and local regulation through such measures as the licensing of our facilities, enforcement by state and local health agencies of
state and local standards for our products and facilities and regulation of our trade practices in connection with the sale of products. Our facilities are
generally inspected at least annually by federal and/or state authorities. These facilities are also subject to inspections and regulations issued pursuant to the
Occupational Safety and Health Act by the U.S. Department of Labor, which require us to comply with certain manufacturing, health and safety standards
to protect our employees from accidents and to establish hazard communication programs to transmit information about the hazards of certain chemicals
present in certain products that we distribute. Our Canadian distribution facilities, repackaging activities and other
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operations also are subject to regulation and inspection by the Canadian Food Inspection Agency and provincial health authorities.

Our trucking operations are regulated by the Surface Transportation Board, the Federal Highway Administration, Transport Canada and Canadian
provincial transportation authorities. In addition, interstate motor carrier operations are subject to safety requirements prescribed by the U.S. Department of
Transportation and other relevant federal and state agencies. Such matters as weight and dimension of equipment are also subject to federal and state
regulations. We believe that we are in compliance with applicable regulatory requirements relating to our motor carrier operations. Our failure to comply
with the applicable motor carrier regulations could result in substantial fines or revocation of our operating permits.

Our operations are subject to a broad range of federal, state, provincial and local environmental health and safety laws and regulations, including those
governing discharges to air, soil and water, the handling and disposal of hazardous substances and the investigation and remediation of contamination
resulting from releases of petroleum products and other hazardous substances.

We believe that we are in material compliance with all international, federal, state, provincial and local regulations applicable to our operations, and
management is unaware of any related issues that may have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Litigation and Insurance

We may be subject to lawsuits, claims and assessments in the normal course of business. Our management does not believe that there are any suits, claims
or unasserted claims or assessments pending which would have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial condition.

We maintain comprehensive insurance packages with respect to our facilities, equipment, product liability, directors and officers, workers’ compensation
and employee matters in amounts which management believes to be prudent and customary within the foodservice distribution industry.

Seasonality

Excluding our direct-to-consumer business, we generally do not experience any material seasonality. However, our sales and operating results may vary
from quarter to quarter due to factors such as changes in our operating expenses, management’s ability to execute our operating and growth strategies,
personnel changes, demand for our products, supply shortages, weather patterns and general economic conditions.

Our Allen Brothers direct-to-consumer business is subject to seasonal fluctuations, with direct-to-consumer center-of-the-plate protein sales typically
higher during the holiday season in our fourth quarter; accordingly, a disproportionate amount of operating cash flows from this portion of our business is
generated in the fourth quarter. Despite a significant portion of these sales occurring in the fourth quarter, there are operating expenses, principally
advertising and promotional expenses, throughout the year.

The Pandemic has had a material impact on our business and operations and those of our customers. Our net sales were most significantly impacted during
the second quarter of fiscal 2020 when, in an effort to limit the spread of the virus, federal, state and local governments began implementing various
restrictions that resulted in the temporary closure of non-essential businesses in many of the markets we serve, which forced our customers in those markets
to either transition their establishments to take-out service, delivery service or temporarily cease operations.

Inflation

Our profitability is dependent, among other things, on our ability to anticipate and react to changes in the costs of key operating resources, including food
and other raw materials, labor, energy and other supplies and services. Substantial increases in costs and expenses could impact our operating results to the
extent that such increases cannot be passed along to our customers. The impact of inflation on food, labor, energy and occupancy costs can significantly
affect the profitability of our operations.

Available Information

Our principal executive office is located at 100 East Ridge Road, Ridgefield, Connecticut 06877, and our telephone number is (203) 894-1345. Our annual
report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all
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amendments to those reports will be made available free of charge through the Investors section of our website (http://www.chefswarehouse.com) as soon
as practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Material contained on our
website is not incorporated by reference into this report.

We have also adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“Code of Ethics”) that applies to all of our employees, including our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. Our Code of Ethics is publicly available on the Investor Relations section of our website
(http://www.chefswarehouse.com) and is available free of charge by writing to The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., 100 East Ridge Road, Ridgefield, Connecticut
06877, Attn: Investor Relations. If we make any substantive amendments to the Code of Ethics or grant any waiver, including any implicit waiver, from a
provision of the Code of Ethics to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer or principal accounting officer, or persons performing similar
functions, we intend to make any legally required disclosures regarding such amendments or waivers on the Investors section of our website
(http://www.chefswarehouse.com).

The SEC also maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers, including us,
that file electronically with the SEC located at http://www.sec.gov.

Information about our Executive Officers

Name & Position Age Business Experience
Christopher Pappas
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board of
Directors

61 Christopher Pappas is our founder and has served as our chief executive officer since 1985 and has been
our chairman since March 1, 2011. He has been our president since April 11, 2009 and before that was
our president from our formation to January 1, 2007. Prior to founding our company, Mr. Pappas played
basketball professionally in Europe for several years following his graduation from Adelphi University in
1981 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Business Administration. Mr. Pappas currently oversees all of our
business activities, with a focus on product procurement, sales, marketing and strategy development. Mr.
Pappas's qualifications to serve on our board of directors include his extensive knowledge of our
company and the specialty food products distribution business and his years of leadership at the
Company.

John Pappas
Vice Chairman and Director

57 John Pappas is a founder of our company and currently serves as our vice chairman, a position he has
held since March 1, 2011. From our founding in 1985 to March 1, 2011, he served as our chief operating
officer. He has 25 years of experience in logistics, facility management and global procurement and
oversees our network of distribution centers nationwide. Mr. Pappas is also active in the development of
our corporate strategy. Mr. Pappas's qualifications to serve on our board of directors include his extensive
knowledge of our company and the specialty food products distribution industry and his years of
leadership at the Company.

James Leddy
Chief Financial Officer

57 James“Jim” Leddy is our chief financial officer and assistant secretary, positions he has held since his
appointment as of November 11, 2017. Prior to his appointment, Mr. Leddy served as our executive vice
president of finance since joining the Company in September 2017. Mr. Leddy previously served as
interim Chief Financial Officer at JetBlue Airways from November 2016 to February 2017 and served as
Senior Vice President and Treasurer from 2012 to November 2016. Prior to joining JetBlue, Mr. Leddy
served as Senior Vice President, Treasury and Cash Management at NBCUniversal from 2008 until 2012,
and as a Senior Technical Advisor at General Electric from 2003 until 2008. Previously, Mr. Leddy held
corporate risk and treasury management positions at First Union National Bank and Dai-ichi Kangyo
Bank. Mr. Leddy holds an M.B.A. in Finance and Management of Technology from the University of
Connecticut and a B.A. in Economics from Fordham University.
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Alexandros Aldous
General Counsel, Corporate Secretary
& Chief Government Relations
Officer

40 Alexandros Aldous is our General Counsel, Corporate Secretary & Chief Government Relations Officer,
positions he has held since joining us in March 2011, our IPO on July 27, 2011, and March 8, 2017,
respectively. Mr. Aldous is also an adjunct Professor of Law at the Washington College of Law,
American University. Mr. Aldous's prior work experience includes working as an attorney with Barclays
Capital, the investment banking division of Barclays Bank PLC, in London, where he focused primarily
on mergers and acquisitions and capital markets, and prior to that, working as an attorney with Shearman
& Sterling LLP, in New York, where he focused primarily on mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Aldous is a
member of both the Government Relations Leadership Committee and General Counsel Committee of
the International Foodservice Distributors Association, co-chairman of the Global Alumni Advisory
Board of the American College of Greece, as well as a member of the Dean's Counsel of American
University's School of International Service. Mr. Aldous earned a B.A. in Classics and Government from
Colby College, a Juris Doctor and M.A. from American University and an LL.M. from the London
School of Economics and Political Science. Mr. Aldous is licensed to practice law in the State of New
York, District of Columbia, and England and Wales.

Timothy McCauley
Chief Accounting Officer

56 Timothy McCauley has served as our chief accounting officer, since his appointment on February 16,
2018 and previously served as our controller since joining the Company in May 2015. Mr. McCauley has
over 30 years of experience in accounting and finance roles across a variety of industries. Mr.
McCauley’s prior work experience includes serving as Vice President – Finance at MacDermid Inc.,
Corporate Controller at Northern Tier Energy LP, Director of Financial Reporting and Investor Relations
at Presstek, Inc. and Finance Director at Eastman Kodak Company. Prior to joining Eastman Kodak
Company, Mr. McCauley worked with PricewaterhouseCoopers for eleven years in their assurance and
business advisory practice. Mr. McCauley holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Business - Accounting
from the University of Connecticut and is a registered certified public accountant in the state of
Connecticut.

Patricia Lecouras
Chief Human Resources Officer

65 Patricia Lecouras is our Chief Human Resources Officer. Ms. Lecouras was promoted to Chief Human
Resources Officer on March 8, 2013. Ms. Lecouras joined our company from GE Capital Commercial
Finance where she was vice president, human resources from 2001 to 2007. Prior to her time with GE
Capital Commercial Finance, Ms. Lecouras was with Nine West Shoes (f/k/a Fischer Camuto
Corporation) and Xerox. Ms. Lecouras's professional experience is multi-disciplinary and includes prior
experience working in finance and tax-related functions. She also has earned a six sigma master black
belt certification. Ms. Lecouras holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Psychology and Social Work from
Skidmore College.
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Item 1A.    RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition and results of operations are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described below and elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This section discusses factors that, individually or in the aggregate, we think could cause our actual results to differ
materially from our expected and historical results. Risk factors are organized in categories where they primarily apply, but other categories may also apply.
Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. We note these factors for investors as
permitted by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Business and Macroeconomic Risk

Our success depends to a significant extent upon general economic conditions, including disposable income levels and changes in consumer
discretionary spending.

Our business is exposed to reductions in consumer discretionary spending because our target customers operate in the food-away-from-home industry.
Consumer discretionary spending may be affected by many factors outside of our control, including general economic conditions, disposable income levels
and consumer confidence levels. In uncertain economic environments, consumers may choose to spend discretionary dollars less frequently which could
result in a decline in consumers’ food-away-from-home purchases, particularly in more expensive restaurants, and, consequently, adversely impact the
businesses of our customers by, among other things, reducing the frequency with which our customers’ customers choose to dine out or the amount they
spend on meals while dining out. If our customers’ sales decrease, our profitability could decline as we spread fixed costs across lower sales volume. Also,
similar economic conditions could lead to consumers purchasing less from our direct-to-consumer Allen Brothers business. Moreover, if a prolonged
downturn or uncertain outlook in the economy were to occur, consumers might ultimately make long-lasting changes to their discretionary spending
behavior, including dining out less frequently on a permanent basis or purchasing less from Allen Brothers. Accordingly, adverse changes to consumer
preferences or consumer discretionary spending, each of which could be affected by many different factors which are out of our control, could harm our
business, financial condition or results of operations. Our continued success will depend in part upon our ability to anticipate, identify and respond to
changing economic and other conditions and the impact that those conditions may have on discretionary consumer spending.

A significant portion of our future growth is dependent upon our ability to expand our operations in our existing markets and to penetrate new markets
either through organic growth or through acquisitions.

We intend to expand our presence in our existing markets by adding to our existing customer base through the expansion of our product portfolio and the
increase in the volume and/or number of purchase orders from our existing customers. We cannot assure investors, however, that we will be able to
continue to successfully expand or acquire critical market presence in our existing markets, as we may not successfully market our specialty food and
center-of-the-plate products and brands or may encounter larger and/or more well-established competitors with substantially greater financial resources.
Moreover, competitive circumstances and consumer characteristics in new segments of existing markets may differ substantially from those in the segments
in which we have substantial experience. If we are unable to expand in existing markets, our ability to increase our revenues and profitability may be
affected in a material and adverse manner. At times, we have grown our business by expanding into new geographic markets. Efforts to expand organically
may take time to produce revenues that exceed our expenses in these new markets, which can be high as we build out our infrastructure and hire associates
to run our operations.

We also regularly evaluate opportunities to acquire other companies. To the extent our future growth includes acquisitions, we cannot assure investors that
we will successfully identify suitable acquisition candidates, obtain financing for such acquisitions, if necessary, consummate such potential acquisitions,
effectively and efficiently integrate any acquired entities or successfully expand into new markets as a result of our acquisitions. Moreover, there may be
additional risks that we face to the extent that we acquire companies that are principally involved in the distribution of products that we have not
historically distributed, like fresh produce.

We may not achieve benefits expected from our acquisitions which could adversely impact our business and operating results.

We believe that there are risks related to acquiring companies, including overpaying for acquisitions, losing key employees of acquired companies, failing
to identify potential liabilities associated with the acquisition of the business prior to our acquisition and failing to achieve potential synergies. Additionally,
our business could be adversely affected if we are unable to integrate the companies we acquired.
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A significant portion of our past growth has been achieved through acquisitions of, or mergers with, other distributors of specialty food products and
center-of-the-plate protein items. Our future acquisitions may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, particularly in periods
immediately following the consummation of those transactions while the operations of the acquired business are being integrated with our operations.
Achieving the benefits of acquisitions depends on timely, efficient and successful execution of a number of post-acquisition events, including successful
integration of the acquired entity. Integration requires, among other things:

• maintaining the existing customer and supplier base and personnel;
• optimizing delivery routes;
• coordinating administrative, distribution and finance functions; and
• integrating management information systems and personnel.

The integration process may temporarily redirect resources previously focused on reducing product cost, resulting in lower gross profits in relation to sales.
In addition, the process of combining companies could cause the interruption of, or a loss of momentum in, the activities of the respective businesses,
which could have an adverse effect on their combined operations. We have an integration team which is dedicated to onboarding new acquisitions and
integrating information technology systems as quickly and efficiently as possible. We believe that having a team dedicated to integration helps make sure
the people, processes and products we add through acquisitions are consistent with our historical business and allows our management team to focus its
attention on our day-to-day operations. If the integration team does not improve our integration process, the integration of acquisitions could divert the
attention of management, and any difficulties or problems encountered in the integration process could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

In connection with our acquisition of businesses in the future, if any, we may decide to consolidate the operations of any acquired business with our
existing operations or make other changes with respect to the acquired business, which could result in special charges or other expenses. Our results of
operations also may be adversely affected by expenses we incur in making acquisitions, by amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets with
definite lives and by additional depreciation attributable to acquired assets. Any of the businesses we acquire may also have liabilities or adverse operating
issues, including some that we fail to discover before the acquisition, and our indemnity for such liabilities typically has been limited and may, with respect
to future acquisitions, also be limited. Additionally, our ability to make any future acquisitions may depend upon obtaining additional financing or the
consents of our lenders. We may not be able to obtain this additional financing or these consents on acceptable terms or at all. Moreover, we may need to
finance our acquisition activity with the issuance of equity or debt securities, which may have rights and preferences superior to those of our common stock
and, in the case of common equity securities, may be issued at such prices and in such amounts as may cause significant dilution to our then-existing
common stockholders. To the extent we seek to acquire other businesses in exchange for our common stock, fluctuations in our stock price could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to complete acquisitions.

In addition, although we enter into acquisition agreements with each company or business we acquire that contain customary representations, warranties,
covenants and indemnities, there is no guarantee that we will recover all of our losses that may result from a breach of such agreements. For example, most
acquisition agreements contain baskets or deductibles and caps and limitations on damages and on periods in which we may bring a claim. In addition,
there can be no guarantee that we will be successful on the merits of any claim that we bring arising out of a breach of an acquisition agreement or that if
we are successful on the merits in bringing a claim that the sellers of the businesses we acquire will be able to pay us for our losses. Moreover, the costs
that we incur to investigate a potential matter may not be fully recoverable. Additionally, as a result of an acquisition, we may enter into a new business or
market or offer products that differ from our core business. Any such new business or market or the sale and distribution of new products may present new
challenges for us, and we may not be able to overcome such challenges. Additionally, we may seek to distribute a different set of products than the business
that we acquire, which may cause a loss of customers of those businesses if we can no longer carry the products they desire or charge more for those
products than was charged before we acquired the business.

Our failure to realize the benefits expected from our acquisitions could result in a reduction in the price of our common stock as well as in increased costs,
decreases in the amount of expected revenues and diversion of management’s time and energy and could materially and adversely impact our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

We may have difficulty managing and facilitating our future growth.

At times since our inception, we have rapidly expanded our operations through organic growth, acquisitions or otherwise. This growth has placed and will
continue to place significant demands upon our administrative, operational and financial resources. This growth, however, may not continue. To the extent
that our customer base and our distribution networks continue to grow, this future growth may be limited by our inability to acquire new distribution
facilities or expand our existing distribution
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facilities, make acquisitions, successfully integrate acquired entities, implement information systems initiatives or adequately manage our personnel.

Moreover, our future growth may be limited in part by the size and location of our distribution centers. As we near maximum utilization of a given facility,
our operations may be constrained and inefficiencies may be created, which could adversely affect our results of operations unless the facility is expanded,
volume is shifted to another facility or additional processing capacity is added. Conversely, as we add additional facilities or expand existing operations or
facilities, excess capacity may be created. Any excess capacity may also create inefficiencies and adversely affect our results of operations. We cannot
assure investors that we will be able to successfully expand our existing distribution facilities or open new distribution facilities in new or existing markets
as needed to facilitate growth.

Even if we are able to expand our distribution network, our ability to compete effectively and to manage future growth, if any, will depend on our ability to
continue to implement and improve operational, financial and management information systems on a timely basis and to expand, train, motivate and
manage our employees. We cannot assure investors that our existing personnel, systems, procedures and controls will be adequate to support the future
growth of our operations. Accordingly, our inability to manage our growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Our business is a low-margin business and our profit margins may be sensitive to inflationary and deflationary pressures.

We operate within a segment of the foodservice distribution industry, which is an industry characterized by a high volume of sales with relatively low profit
margins. Although our profit margins are typically higher than more traditional broadline foodservice distributors, they are still relatively low compared to
other industries’ profit margins. Volatile food costs may have a direct impact upon our profitability. Prolonged periods of product cost inflation may have a
negative impact on our profit margins and results of operations to the extent we are unable to pass on all or a portion of such product cost increases to our
customers. In addition, product cost inflation may negatively impact consumer discretionary spending decisions within our customers’ establishments,
which could adversely impact our sales. Conversely, our profit levels may be negatively impacted during periods of product cost deflation even though our
gross profit as a percentage of sales may remain relatively constant. However, some of our products, particularly certain of our center-of-the-plate protein
items, are priced on a “cost plus” markup, which helps mitigate the negative impact of deflation. If our product mix changes, we may face increased risks
of margin compression, as we may be unable to achieve the same level of profit margins as we are able to capture on our traditional specialty products. Our
inability to effectively price our specialty food products or center-of-the-plate products, to quickly respond to inflationary and deflationary cost pressures
and to reduce our expenses could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We have significant competition from a variety of sources, and we may not be able to compete successfully.

The foodservice distribution industry is highly fragmented and competitive, and our future success will be largely dependent upon our ability to profitably
meet our customers’ needs for certain gourmet foods and ingredients, varying drop sizes, high service levels and timely delivery. We compete with
numerous smaller distributors on a local level, as well as with a limited number of larger, traditional broadline foodservice distributors. We cannot assure
investors that our current or potential competitors will not provide specialty food products and ingredients, center-of-the-plate protein items or services that
are comparable or superior to those provided by us at prices that are lower than the prices we charge or adapt more quickly than we do to evolving culinary
trends or changing market requirements. It is also possible that alliances among competitors may develop and rapidly acquire significant market share.
Accordingly, we cannot assure investors that we will be able to compete effectively against current and future competitors, and increased competition may
result in price reductions, reduced gross margins and loss of market share, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Our customers are generally not obligated to continue purchasing products from us.

Most of our customers buy from us pursuant to individual purchase orders, as we generally do not enter into long-term agreements with our customers for
the purchase of our products. Because our customers are generally not obligated to continue purchasing products from us, we cannot assure investors that
the volume and/or number of our customers’ purchase orders will remain constant or increase or that we will be able to maintain or add to our existing
customer base. Significant decreases in the volume and/or number of our customers’ purchase orders or our inability to retain or grow our current customer
base may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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Damage to our reputation or lack of acceptance of our specialty food products, center-of-the-plate products and/or the brands we carry in existing and
new markets could materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We believe that we have built a strong reputation for the breadth and depth of our product portfolio and the brands we carry and that we must protect and
grow their value to be successful in the future. Any incident that erodes consumer confidence in or affinity for our specialty food or center-of-the-plate
products or brands, whether or not justified, could significantly reduce their respective values and damage our business. If our customers perceive or
experience a reduction in the quality or selection of our products and brands or our customer service, or in any way believe that we failed to deliver a
consistently positive experience, our business, financial condition or results of operations may be affected in a materially adverse manner.

A specialty foods distribution business such as ours can be adversely affected by negative publicity or news reports, whether or not accurate, regarding
food quality issues, public health concerns, illness, safety, injury or government or industry findings concerning our products or others across the food
distribution industry. Although we have taken steps to mitigate food quality, public health and other foodservice-related risks, these types of health
concerns or negative publicity cannot be completely eliminated or mitigated and may harm our results of operations and damage the reputation of, or result
in a lack of acceptance of, our products or the brands we carry.

In addition, our ability to successfully penetrate new markets may be adversely affected by a lack of awareness or acceptance of our product portfolio or
our brands in these new markets. To the extent we are unable to foster name recognition and affinity for our products and brands in new markets, we may
not be able to penetrate these markets as anticipated, and, consequently, our growth may be significantly delayed or impaired.

We have experienced losses due to our inability to collect accounts receivable in the past and could experience increases in such losses in the future if
our customers are unable to pay their debts to us in a timely manner or at all.

Certain of our customers have experienced bankruptcy, insolvency and/or an inability to pay their debts to us as they come due. If our customers suffer
significant financial difficulties or bankruptcies, they may be unable to pay their debts to us in a timely manner or at all. It is possible that our customers
may contest their obligations to pay us under bankruptcy laws or otherwise. Even if our customers do not contest their obligations to pay us, if our
customers are unable to pay their debts to us in a timely manner, it could adversely impact our ability to collect accounts receivable and may require that
we take larger provisions for bad debt expense. Moreover, we may have to negotiate significant discounts and/or extended financing terms with these
customers in such a situation in an attempt to secure payment for outstanding debts. Accordingly, if we are unable to collect upon our accounts receivable
as they come due in an efficient and timely manner, our business, financial condition or results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.
During periods of economic weakness, small to medium-sized businesses, like many of our independent restaurant and fine dining establishment
customers, may be impacted more severely and more quickly than larger businesses. Consequently, the ability of such businesses to repay their obligations
to us may deteriorate, and in some cases this deterioration may occur quickly, which could adversely impact our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

New information or attitudes regarding diet and health or adverse opinions about the health effects of the products we distribute could result in
changes in consumer eating habits, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Consumer eating habits may impact our business as a result of changes in attitudes regarding diet and health or new information regarding the health effects
of consuming the products we distribute. If consumer eating habits change significantly, we may be required to modify or discontinue sales of certain items
in our product portfolio, and we may experience higher costs associated with the implementation of those changes. Additionally, changes in consumer
eating habits may result in the enactment of laws and regulations that impact the ingredients and nutritional content of our products or require us to disclose
the nutritional content of products. Compliance with these laws and regulations, as well as others regarding the ingredients and nutritional content of our
products, may be costly and time consuming. We cannot assure investors that we will be able to effectively respond to changes in consumer health
perceptions or resulting new laws or regulations or to adapt our product offerings to trends in eating habits.

Our business operations and future development could be significantly disrupted if we lose key members of our management team.

The success of our business significantly depends upon the continued contributions of our founders and key employees, both individually and as a group.
Our future performance will substantially depend upon our ability to motivate and retain our
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founders Christopher Pappas, our chairman, president and chief executive officer, and John Pappas, our vice chairman, as well as certain other senior key
employees. The loss of the services of either of our founders or any of our key employees, including key employees of the businesses we have acquired,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. We have no reason to believe that we will lose the services
of these individuals in the foreseeable future; however, we currently have no effective replacement for these individuals due to their experience, reputation
in the foodservice distribution industry and special role in our operations.

Our insurance policies may not provide adequate levels of coverage against all claims, and fluctuating insurance requirements and costs could
negatively impact our profitability. In addition, if we fail to establish proper reserves and adequately estimate future expenses, the costs associated with
our self-insured group medical, workers’ compensation liability and auto liability plans may adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

We believe that our insurance coverage is customary for businesses of our size and type. However, there are types of losses we may incur that cannot be
insured against or that we believe are not commercially reasonable to insure. These losses, should they occur, could have a material and adverse effect on
our business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, the cost of workers’ compensation insurance, auto liability insurance, general liability
insurance and directors’ and officers’ liability insurance fluctuates based upon our historical trends, market conditions and availability. Because our
operations principally are centered in large, metropolitan areas, our insurance costs are higher than if our operations and facilities were based in more rural
markets. Additionally, health insurance costs in general have risen significantly over the past few years. These increases, as well as federal legislation
requiring employers to provide specified levels of health insurance to all employees, could have a negative impact upon our business, financial condition or
results of operations, and we cannot assure investors that we will be able to successfully offset the effect of such increases with plan modifications and cost
control measures, additional operating efficiencies or the pass-through of such increased costs to our customers.

We maintain a self-insured group medical program. The program contains individual stop loss thresholds of $275 thousand per incident and aggregate stop
loss thresholds based upon the average number of employees enrolled in the program throughout the year. The amount in excess of the self-insured levels is
fully insured by third party insurers. We record a liability for medical claims during the period in which they occur, as well as an estimate of incurred but
not reported claims. Management determines the adequacy of these accruals based on a monthly evaluation of our historical claims experience and medical
cost trends. Projections of future loss expenses are inherently uncertain because of the random nature of insurance claims occurrences and could be
significantly affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these assumptions and historical trends. If we suffer a substantial loss that is not covered
by our self- insurance reserves, the loss and attendant expenses could harm our business and operating results.

We are self-insured for workers’ compensation and automobile liability to deductibles or self-insured retentions of $500 thousand per occurrence. The
amounts in excess of our deductibles are fully insured by third party insurers. Liabilities associated with this program are estimated in part by considering
historical claims experience and cost trends. Projections of future loss expenses are inherently uncertain because of the random nature of insurance claims
occurrences and could be significantly affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these assumptions and historical trends.

Supply Chain and Labor Risk

Conditions beyond our control could materially affect the cost and/or availability of our specialty food products or center-of-the-plate products and/or
interrupt our distribution network.

Our profitability and operating margins are dependent upon, among other things, our ability to anticipate and react to any interruptions in our distribution
network and changes to food costs and availability. We obtain a significant portion of our specialty food products and center-of-the-plate products from
local, regional, national and international third-party suppliers. We generally do not enter into long-term contracts with our suppliers, whereby they would
be committed to provide products to us for any appreciable duration of time. Although our purchasing volume can provide leverage when dealing with
suppliers, particularly smaller suppliers for whom we may be their largest customer, suppliers may not provide or may be unable to provide the specialty
food products or center-of-the-plate products we need in the quantities and at the times and prices we request. Failure to identify an alternate source of
supply for these items or comparable products that meet our customers’ expectations may result in significant cost increases. Additionally, weather,
governmental regulation, water shortages, availability and seasonality may affect our food costs or cause a disruption in the quantity of our supply. For
example, weather patterns in recent years have resulted in lower than normal or, conversely, higher than normal levels of rainfall and snowfall in key
agricultural states such as California, impacting the price of water and the corresponding prices of food products grown in states affected by such weather.
Additionally, the route-to-market for some of the products we sell, such as baking chocolate, depends upon the stability of political climates and a stable
labor force in developing nations, such as the Ivory Coast. In such
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countries, political and social unrest may cause the prices for these products to rise to levels beyond those that our customers are willing to pay, if the
product is available at all. If we are unable to obtain these products, our customers may seek a different supplier for these or other products which could
negatively impact our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We do not currently use financial instruments to hedge our risk exposure to market fluctuations in the price of food products. Similarly, our suppliers may
also be affected by higher costs to source or produce and transport food products, as well as by other related expenses that they pass through to their
customers, which could result in higher costs for the specialty food products or center-of-the-plate products they supply to us. Our inability to anticipate
and react to changing food costs through our sourcing and purchasing practices in the future could therefore negatively impact our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

We may also be subject to material supply chain interruptions based upon conditions outside of our control. These interruptions could include work
slowdowns, work interruptions, strikes or other adverse employment actions taken by employees of ours or our suppliers, short-term weather conditions or
more prolonged climate change, crop conditions, product recalls, water shortages, transportation interruptions within our distribution channels,
unavailability of fuel or increases in fuel costs, competitive demands and natural disasters or other catastrophic events, such as food-borne illnesses or
bioterrorism. The efficiency and effectiveness of our distribution network is dependent upon our suppliers’ ability to consistently deliver the specialty food
products and meat, poultry and seafood we need in the quantities and at the times and prices we request. Accordingly, if we are unable to obtain the
specialty food products or meat, poultry or seafood that comprise a significant percentage of our product portfolio in a timely manner and in the quantities
and at the prices we request as a result of any of the foregoing factors or otherwise, we may be unable to fulfill our obligations to customers who may, as a
result of any such failure, resort to other distributors for their food product needs or change the types of products they buy from us to products that are less
profitable for us.

Our increased distribution of center-of-the-plate products, like meat, poultry and seafood involves increased exposure to price volatility experienced by
those products.

As a result of our acquisition of specialty center-of-the-plate distributors and manufacturers, a larger percentage of our revenues is expected to come from
center-of-the-plate products. With our increased distribution of center-of-the-plate products like meat, poultry and seafood, we are more susceptible to
increases in the prices of those products, and we cannot assure investors in our common stock that all or part of any increased costs experienced by us from
time to time can be passed along to consumers of our products, in a timely manner or at all. Conversely, rapid downward pricing for these products,
including as a result of export restrictions on U.S. beef products or lower demand internationally for U.S. beef products, may result in us lowering our
prices to our customers even though our inventory on hand is at a higher cost. The supply and market price of our center-of the plate products are typically
more volatile than most of our core specialty products and are dependent upon a variety of factors over which we have no control, including the relative
cost of feed and energy, weather, livestock diseases, government regulation and the availability of beef, chicken and seafood.

The prices of our meat and poultry products are largely dependent on the production of feed ingredients, which is affected primarily by the global level of
supply inventories and demand for feed ingredients, the agricultural policies of the U.S. and foreign governments and weather patterns throughout the
world. In particular, weather patterns often change agricultural conditions in an unpredictable manner. A significant change in weather patterns could affect
supplies of feed ingredients, as well as the industry’s ability to obtain feed ingredients or deliver products. More recently, feed prices have been impacted
by increased demand both domestically for ethanol and globally for protein production.

Additionally, our center-of-the-plate category is subject to risks relating to animal health and diseases. An outbreak of diseases affecting livestock (such as
foot-and-mouth disease or bovine spongiform encephalopathy, commonly referred to as mad cow disease) could result in restrictions on sales of products,
restrictions on purchases of livestock from suppliers or widespread destruction of livestock. Outbreaks of diseases, or the perception by the public that an
outbreak has occurred, or other concerns regarding diseases, can lead to inadequate supply, cancellation of orders by customers and adverse publicity, any
of which can have a significant negative impact on consumer demand and, as a result, on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

In addition, meat, seafood and poultry products that we distribute could be subject to recall because they are, or are alleged to be, contaminated, spoiled or
inappropriately labeled. Our meat and poultry products may be subject to contamination by disease-producing organisms, or pathogens, such as Listeria
monocytogenes, Salmonella and generic E.coli. These pathogens are generally found in the environment, and, as a result, there is a risk that they, as a result
of food processing, could be present in the meat and poultry products that we distribute. These pathogens can also be introduced as a result of improper
handling in our facilities or at the consumer level. These risks may be controlled, although not eliminated, by adherence to good
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manufacturing practices and finished product testing. We have little, if any, control over proper handling before we receive the product or once the product
has been shipped to our customers. Illness and death may result if the pathogens are not eliminated before these products are sold to customers.

We are also susceptible to increases in the prices of our seafood products. The prices of our seafood products are largely dependent on the continuous
supply of fresh seafood, which in turn could be affected by a large number of factors, including, but not limited to, environmental factors, the availability of
seafood stock, weather conditions, water contamination, the policies and regulations of the governments of the relevant territories where such fishing is
carried out, the ability of the fishing companies and fishermen that supply us to continue their operations and pressure from environmental or animal rights
groups. The major raw material for our seafood products is fresh seafood, and any shortage in supply or upsurge in demand of fresh seafood may lead to an
increase in prices, which may adversely affect our profitability, including as a result of increased production costs and lower profit margins.

Our operations are subject to extensive regulation and oversight by the USDA, the FDA, and other federal, state, local and foreign authorities regarding the
processing, packaging, storage, safety, distribution, advertising and labeling of its products. Recently, food safety practices and procedures in the meat
processing industry have been subject to more intense scrutiny and oversight by the USDA. Failure to comply with existing or new laws and regulations
could result in administrative penalties and injunctive relief, civil remedies, fines, interruption of operations, recalls of products or seizures of properties,
potential criminal sanctions and personal injury or other damage claims. These remedies, changes in the applicable laws and regulations or discovery of
currently unknown conditions could increase costs, limit business operations and reduce profitability.

Group purchasing organizations may become more active in our industry and increase their efforts to add our customers as members of these
organizations.

Some of our customers, including a majority of our hotel customers, purchase their products from us through group purchasing organizations. These
organizations have increased their efforts to aggregate the purchasing power of smaller, independent restaurants in an effort to lower the prices paid by
these customers on their foodservice orders, and we have experienced some pricing pressure from these purchasers. If these group purchasing organizations
are able to add a significant number of our customers as members, we may be forced to lower the prices we charge these customers in order to retain the
business, which would negatively affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Additionally, if we were unable or unwilling to lower the
prices we charge for our products to a level that was satisfactory to the group purchasing organization, we may lose the business of those of our customers
that are members of these organizations, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Fuel cost volatility may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Fuel cost volatility may have a negative impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations. The cost of diesel fuel can increase the price
we pay for products as well as the costs we incur to distribute products to our customers. These factors, in turn, may negatively impact our net sales,
margins, operating expenses and operating results. Although we have been able to pass along a portion of increased fuel costs to our customers in the past,
we cannot assure investors that we can do so again. If fuel costs increase in the future, we may experience difficulties in passing all or a portion of these
costs along to our customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Increases in our labor costs, including as a result of labor shortages, the unionization of some of our associates, the price or unavailability of insurance
and changes in government regulation could slow our growth or harm our business.

We are subject to a wide range of labor costs. Because our labor costs (particularly those in our center-of-the-plate category) are, as a percentage of
revenues, higher than other industries, we may be significantly harmed by labor cost increases.

Our operations are dependent upon our experienced and sophisticated sales professionals, warehouse personnel and drivers, and, in our center-of-the plate
facilities, on the experienced butchers we employ. Qualified individuals have historically been in short supply and an inability to attract and retain them
may limit our ability to expand our operations in existing markets, as well as our ability to penetrate new markets. We cannot assure investors that we will
be able to attract and retain qualified individuals in the future. Additionally, the cost of attracting and retaining qualified individuals may be higher than we
currently anticipate, and as a result, our profitability could decline. We are subject to the risk of employment-related litigation, which we believe increased
as a result of our expansion in California resulting from the Del Monte and Bassian acquisitions and our large workforce in New York, at both the state and
federal levels, including claims styled as class action lawsuits, which are more costly to defend. Also, some employment-related claims in the area of wage
and hour disputes are not insurable risks.
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Despite our efforts to control costs while still providing competitive healthcare benefits to our staff members, significant increases in healthcare costs
continue to occur, and we can provide no assurance that our cost containment efforts in this area will be effective. Moreover, we are continuing to assess
the impact of federal healthcare legislation on our healthcare benefit costs, and significant increases in such costs could adversely impact our operating
results. We cannot assure investors that we will be able to pass through the costs of such legislation in a manner that will not adversely impact our operating
results.

In addition, many of our delivery and warehouse personnel are hourly workers subject to various minimum wage requirements. Mandated increases in
minimum wage levels have recently been and continue to be proposed and implemented at both federal and state government levels. Minimum wage
increases may increase our labor costs.

We are also subject to the regulations of the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services and U.S. Customs and Immigration Enforcement. Our failure to
comply with federal and state labor laws and regulations, or our employees’ failure to meet federal citizenship or residency requirements, could result in a
disruption in our work force, sanctions or fines against us as well as adverse publicity and additional cost.

As of December 25, 2020, we had 2,221 full-time employees, 149 of whom (approximately 7%) are represented by unions and are operating under
collective bargaining agreements which expire at various times between fiscal 2020 and 2025. We have in the past been the focus of union negotiating
efforts, and it is likely that we will be the focus of similar efforts in the future.

As we increase our employee base and broaden our distribution operations to new geographic markets, including as a result of acquisitions, our increased
visibility could result in increased or expanded union-organizing efforts or we may acquire businesses with unionized workforces. Three labor unions have
been certified to represent bargaining units at our New York, Chicago and Maryland facilities, and we have entered into a collective bargaining agreement
with our union employees in New York, Chicago and Maryland. Although we have not experienced a work stoppage to date, if we are unable to
successfully negotiate union contracts, or renewals of existing contracts, if additional employees were to unionize or if we acquire additional businesses
with unionized employees, we could be subject to work stoppages and increases in labor costs, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations.

Geographic and Global Risk

Significant public health epidemics or pandemics, including COVID-19, may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

A public health epidemic or pandemic can significantly impact our business or those of our core customers or suppliers, particularly if located in
geographies in which we have significant operations. Such events could significantly impact the food-away-from-home industry and other industries that
are sensitive to changes in consumer discretionary spending habits. In addition, our operations could be disrupted if we were required to quarantine
employees that work at our various distribution centers and processing facilities.

For instance, the recent outbreak of the Pandemic is resulting in governmental authorities in many locations where we operate, and in which our customers
are present and suppliers operate, to impose mandatory temporary closures, seek voluntary closures and impose restrictions on, or advisories with respect
to, travel, business operations and public gatherings or interactions. Among other matters, these actions have required or strongly urged various venues
where foodservice products are served, including restaurants and hotels, to reduce or discontinue operations, which has and will continue to adversely
affect demand in the foodservice industry, including demand for our products and services. In addition, the perceived risk of infection and health risk
associated with the Pandemic, and the illness of many individuals across the globe, is resulting in many of the same effects intended by such governmental
authorities to stop the spread of the Pandemic. These events have had, and could continue to have, an adverse impact on numerous aspects of our business,
financial condition and results of operations including, but not limited to, our growth, product costs, supply chain disruptions, labor shortages, logistics
constraints, customer demand for our products and industry demand generally, consumer spending, our liquidity, the price of our securities and trading
markets with respect thereto, our ability to access capital markets, and the global economy and financial markets generally. The Pandemic may also have
exacerbated many of the other risks described in this section or may have the potential to do so in the future. The extent to which the Pandemic impacts our
financial condition or results of operations is uncertain and will depend on future developments including new information that may emerge on the severity
or transmissibility of the disease, the extent of the outbreak, federal, state and local government responses, trends in infection rates, development of
effective medical treatments for the disease, the timing and effectiveness of vaccine distribution, and future consumer spending behavior, among others.
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Because our foodservice distribution operations are concentrated in certain culinary markets, we are susceptible to economic and other developments,
including adverse weather conditions, in these areas.

Our financial condition and results of operations are highly dependent upon the local economies of the culinary markets in which we distribute our
products. In recent years, certain of these markets have been more resilient to economic downturns than others. Moreover, sales in our New York market,
which we define as our operations on the East Coast of the United States spanning from Boston to Atlantic City, accounted for approximately 19.1% of our
net sales in our 2020 fiscal year. We are therefore particularly exposed to downturns in this regional economy. Following our acquisition of Del Monte and
Bassian, we now have significant operations in the San Francisco Bay area and Los Angeles, California. Deterioration in the economic conditions of our
key markets generally, or in the local economy of the New York metropolitan area, San Francisco Bay or Los Angeles, California areas, specifically, could
affect our business, financial condition or results of operations in a materially adverse manner.

In addition, given our geographic concentrations, other regional occurrences such as adverse weather conditions, terrorist attacks and other catastrophic
events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Adverse weather conditions can significantly
impact the business of our customers and our ability to profitably and efficiently conduct our operations and, in severe cases, could result in our trucks
being unable to make deliveries or cause the temporary closure or the destruction of one or more of our distribution centers. Our operations and/or
distribution centers which are located in (i) New York City, Ohio, Washington D.C., Chicago and Canada are particularly susceptible to significant amounts
of snowfall and ice, (ii) Miami and Orlando are particularly susceptible to hurricanes and (iii) Los Angeles and San Francisco are particularly susceptible to
earthquakes, mudslides and wildfires. In addition, our restaurant customers, many of which are independently owned with operations limited to one or two
markets, may be less able to withstand the impact on their business from adverse weather conditions than national chain restaurants because they are unable
to spread the risks of such events across numerous locations. In some cases, these customers may not be able to re-open their restaurants, and consequently
make payment to us for products previously provided, if the weather event or other catastrophic event is severe, particularly if they lacked sufficient
insurance or their insurance claims are not processed quickly.

Due to their prominence as, among other characteristics, densely-populated major metropolitan cities and as international hubs for intermodal
transportation, a majority of our markets are known as targets for terrorist activity and other catastrophic events. If our or our customers’ operations are
significantly disrupted or if any one or more of our distribution centers is temporarily closed or destroyed for any of the foregoing reasons, our business,
financial condition or results of operations may be materially adversely affected. In anticipation of any such adverse weather conditions, terrorist attacks,
man-made disasters or other unforeseen regional occurrences, we have implemented a disaster recovery plan. Should any of these events occur, and if we
are unable to execute our disaster recovery plan, we may experience challenges in acquiring and distributing our products, failures or delays in the recovery
of critical data, delayed reporting and compliance with governmental entities, inability to perform necessary corporate functions and other breakdowns in
normal operating procedures that could have a material adverse effect on our business and create exposure to administrative and other legal claims against
us.

Information Technology, Intellectual Property and Data Risk

Information technology system failures, cybersecurity incidents or other disruptions to our use of technology and networks could interrupt our
operations and adversely affect our business.

We rely upon information technology solutions including enterprise networks and software to process, transmit and store data related to virtually all our
business processes and activities. Our business involves the storage and transmission of many types of sensitive or confidential information, including
customers’ and suppliers’ personal information, private information about employees, and financial and strategic information about us and our operations.
We leverage a suite of integrated hardware and software that relies on the availability of private and public networks to facilitate collaboration among all
stakeholders. Likewise, we use mobile networks, web social media and other online applications to conduct business with suppliers and customers. Our
operations depend upon our ability to protect our computer equipment and systems against damage from physical theft, fire, power loss,
telecommunications failure or other catastrophic events, as well as from internal and external cybersecurity breaches, viruses, worms and other disruptive
problems. We are continuously improving our information technology solutions, resulting in a larger technological presence and corresponding increase in
exposure to cybersecurity risk. Any damage or failure of our computer systems or network infrastructure that causes an interruption in our operations, due
to theft, destruction, loss, misappropriation, or release of confidential information or intellectual property, or interference with our information technology
systems or the technology systems of third parties on which we rely, could result in business disruption, negative publicity, brand damage, violation of
privacy laws, loss of customers, potential liability, remediation costs, and competitive disadvantage, which in turn could adversely affect our business and
results of operations. While we have implemented cybersecurity solutions, conducted employee awareness campaigns, employed both internal resources
and external
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consultants to conduct auditing and testing for weaknesses in our systems, controls, firewalls and encryption and intend to maintain and upgrade our
security technology and operational procedures to prevent such damage, breaches or other disruptive problems, we cannot assure investors that these
security measures will either continue or be successful.

Our investments in information technology may not produce the benefits that we anticipate.

In an attempt to reduce our operating expenses, increase our operational efficiencies, boost our operating margins and more closely track the movement of
our inventory in our center-of-the-plate category, we have aggressively invested in the development and implementation of new information technology.
We may not be able to implement these technological changes in the time frame we have planned, and any delays in implementation could negatively
impact our business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, the costs to make these changes may exceed our estimates and will likely
exceed any benefits that we realize during the early stages of implementation. Even if we are able to implement the changes as planned, and within our cost
estimates, we may not be able achieve the expected efficiencies, cost savings and operational enhancements from these investments which could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which, in turn, could harm the value of our brands and adversely affect our
business.

Our ability to implement our business plan successfully depends in part upon our ability to further build brand recognition, including for our proprietary
products, using our trademarks, service marks and other proprietary intellectual property, including our names and logos. We have registered or applied to
register a number of our trademarks. We cannot assure investors that our trademark applications will be approved. Third parties may also oppose our
trademark applications, or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced
to rebrand our goods and services, which could result in loss of brand recognition and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing
new brands. If our efforts to register, maintain and protect our intellectual property are inadequate, or if any third party misappropriates, dilutes or infringes
upon our intellectual property, the value of our brands may be harmed, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations and might prevent our brands from achieving or maintaining market acceptance.

We may also face the risk of claims that we have infringed third parties’ intellectual property rights. If third parties claim that we have infringed or are
infringing upon their intellectual property rights, our operating profits could be affected in a materially adverse manner. Any claims of intellectual property
infringement, even those without merit, could be expensive and time consuming to defend, require us to rebrand our services, if feasible, divert
management’s attention and resources or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the right to use a third party’s intellectual
property. Any royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. A successful claim of infringement
against us could result in our being required to pay significant damages, enter into costly license or royalty agreements, or stop the sale of certain products
or services, any of which could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations and could harm our future prospects.

Legal and Regulatory Risk

Product liability claims could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Like any other distributor of food products, we face an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims if the products we sell cause injury or illness.
We may be subject to liability, which could be substantial, because of actual or alleged contamination in products sold by us, including products sold by
companies before we acquired them. We have, and the companies we have acquired have had, liability insurance with respect to product liability claims.
This insurance may not continue to be available at a reasonable cost or at all, and it may not be adequate to cover product liability claims against us or
against any of the companies we have acquired. We generally seek contractual indemnification from manufacturers or suppliers of the product, but any
such indemnification is limited, as a practical matter, to the creditworthiness of the indemnifying party. If we or any of our acquired companies do not have
adequate insurance or contractual indemnification available, product liability claims and costs associated with product recalls, including a loss of business,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We are subject to significant governmental regulation, and failure to comply could subject us to enforcement actions, recalls or other penalties, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our business is highly regulated at the federal, state and local levels, and our specialty food products, meat, poultry and seafood products and distribution
operations require various licenses, permits and approvals. For example:
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• the products we distribute in the United States are subject to regulation and inspection by the FDA and the USDA, and the products we distribute
in Canada are subject to regulation by Health Canada and the Canadian Food Inspection Agency;

• our warehouse, distribution facilities, repackaging activities and other operations also are subject to regulation and inspection, as applicable, by the
FDA, the USDA, Health Canada, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency and state and provincial health authorities; and

• our U.S. and Canadian trucking operations are subject to regulation by, as applicable, the U.S. Department of Transportation, the U.S. Federal
Highway Administration, Transport Canada, the Surface Transportation Board and provincial transportation authorities.

Our suppliers are also subject to similar regulatory requirements and oversight. The failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements could result
in civil or criminal fines or penalties, product recalls, closure of facilities or operations, the loss or revocation of any existing licenses, permits or approvals
or the failure to obtain additional licenses, permits or approvals in new jurisdictions where we intend to do business, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

In addition, as a distributor and repackager of specialty food products and meat, poultry and seafood products, we are subject to increasing governmental
scrutiny of and public awareness regarding food safety and the manufacture, sale, packaging, storage and marketing of natural, organic and other food
products. Compliance with these laws may impose a significant burden upon our operations. If we were to distribute foods that are or are perceived to be
contaminated, or otherwise not in compliance with applicable laws, any resulting product recalls could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations. We cannot assure investors in our common stock that these actions will not adversely impact us or others in our
industry further, including suppliers of the products we sell, many of whom are small-scale producers who may be unable or unwilling to bear the expected
increases in costs of compliance and as a result cease operations or seek to pass along these costs to us.

Additionally, concern over climate change, including the impact of global warming, has led to significant U.S. and international legislative and regulatory
efforts to limit greenhouse gas emissions. Increased regulation regarding green house gas emissions, especially diesel engine emissions, could impose
substantial costs upon us. These costs include an increase in the cost of the fuel and other energy we purchase and capital costs associated with updating or
replacing our vehicles prematurely.

Until the timing, scope and extent of such regulation becomes known, we cannot predict its effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations. It is reasonably possible, however, that such regulation could impose material costs on us that we may be unable to pass on to our customers.

Federal, state, provincial and local tax rules in the United States and Canada may adversely impact our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

We are subject to federal, state and local taxes in the United States, as well as federal, provincial and local taxes in Canada. Although we believe that our
tax estimates are reasonable, if the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) or any other taxing authority disagrees with the positions we have taken on our tax
returns, we could face additional tax liability, including interest and penalties. If material, payment of such additional amounts upon final adjudication of
any disputes could have a material impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Complying with new tax rules, laws or regulations could impact our business, financial condition or results of operations, and increases to federal,
provincial or state statutory tax rates and other changes in tax laws, rules or regulations may increase our effective tax rate. Any increase in our effective
tax rate could have a material impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We estimate our ability to recover deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise. A valuation allowance is recognized if, based on the
available positive and negative evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of a deferred tax asset is not recoverable. This evaluation considers
several factors, including recent results of operations, future taxable income, scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, and tax planning strategies. Our
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely impacted if our valuation allowances increase due to an unfavorable change in our estimate
of the recoverability of our deferred tax assets or changes in laws or regulations that limit our ability to recover them.
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Financial Risk

Our substantial indebtedness may limit our ability to invest in the ongoing needs of our business.

As of December 25, 2020, we had approximately $411.4 million of total indebtedness, consisting of $201.6 million of loans outstanding on our senior
secured term loan facility (“Term Loan”), $154.0 million of convertible debt and $15.8 million of finance leases. We had $40.0 million borrowings
outstanding under our asset-based loan facility (“ABL”). See Note 10 “Debt Obligations” to our consolidated financial statements for a full description of
our debt instruments.

Our indebtedness could have important consequences for us and our investors. For example our indebtedness:

• requires us to utilize a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to make payments on our indebtedness, reducing the availability of
our cash flows to fund working capital, capital expenditures, development activity and other general corporate purposes;

• increases our vulnerability to adverse general economic or industry conditions;
• limits our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or the industries in which we operate;
• makes us more vulnerable to increases in interest rates, as borrowings under our Term Loan and ABL (together the “Credit Facilities”) are at

variable rates;
• in the case of our convertible debt, could result in the issuance of additional shares of our common stock that would result in the dilution of our

then-existing stockholders;
• limits our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital or other purposes, including to finance acquisitions; and
• places us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors with less indebtedness.

If our earnings are insufficient to fund our operations, including our acquisition growth strategy, we will need to raise additional capital or issue additional
debt, including longer-term, fixed-rate debt, to pay our indebtedness as it comes due or as our availability under our ABL is exhausted. If we are unable to
obtain funds necessary to make required payments or if we fail to comply with the various requirements of our Credit Facilities and convertible debt
agreements, we would be in default, which would permit the holders of our indebtedness to accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness and could cause
defaults under any indebtedness we may incur in the future. Any default under our indebtedness requiring the repayment of outstanding borrowings would
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If we are unable to refinance or repay our indebtedness as it
becomes due, we may become insolvent and be unable to continue operations.

Although the agreements governing the Credit Facilities contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a
number of qualifications and exceptions, and the indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. Also, these restrictions
do not prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute indebtedness.

The agreements governing the Credit Facilities require us to maintain fixed charge coverage ratios and leverage ratios. Our ability to comply with these
ratios in the future may be affected by events beyond our control, and our inability to comply with the required financial ratios could result in a default
under the Credit Facilities. In the event of events of default, the lenders under the Credit Facilities could elect to terminate lending commitments and
declare all borrowings outstanding, together with accrued and unpaid interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable. See “Management’s
Discussion and Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited.

Our business and operations may consume resources, including availability under our ABL, faster than we currently anticipate. In the future, we may need
to raise additional funds through the issuance of new equity securities, debt, including longer-term, fixed-rate debt, or a combination of both. Additional
financing may not be available on favorable terms or at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to fund our capital
requirements or grow our business through acquisitions, or otherwise. If we issue new debt securities, the debt holders may have rights senior to those of
our common stockholders to make claims on our assets, and the terms of any debt could restrict our operations, including our ability to pay dividends on
our common stock. If we issue additional equity securities or convertible debt, existing stockholders will experience dilution, and the new equity securities
could have rights senior to those of our common stock. Because our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend upon market conditions
and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. Thus, our stockholders bear the
risk of our future securities offerings reducing the market price of our common stock and diluting their interest.
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We may be unable to obtain debt or other financing, including financing necessary to execute on our acquisition strategy, on favorable terms or at all.

There are inherent risks in our ability to borrow debt capital. Lenders, including those participating in the Credit Facilities, may become insolvent or tighten
their lending standards, which could make it more difficult for us to borrow under our ABL, refinance our existing indebtedness or obtain other financing
on favorable terms or at all. Our access to funds under the Credit Facilities is dependent upon the ability of our lenders to meet their funding commitments.
Our financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected in a material manner if we were unable to draw funds under the ABL because
of a lender default or if we had to obtain other cost-effective financing. Longer term disruptions in the capital and credit markets as a result of uncertainty,
changing or increased regulation, reduced alternatives or failures of significant financial institutions could adversely affect our access to liquidity needed
for our business. Any disruption could require us to take measures to conserve cash until the markets stabilize or until alternative credit arrangements or
other funding for our business can be arranged. Such measures could include deferring capital expenditures (including our entry into new markets,
including through acquisitions) and reducing or eliminating other discretionary uses of cash.

Changes in the method of determining London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), or the replacement of LIBOR with an alternative rate, may adversely
affect interest charged on our outstanding debt.

A portion of the interest rate charged on our Term Loan is currently based on LIBOR and, at our option, a component of the interest charged on the
borrowings outstanding on our ABL, if any, may bear interest rates based on LIBOR. On July 27, 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority in the U.K.
announced that it would phase out LIBOR by the end of 2021. On November 30, 2020, the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (“ICE”) announced
plans to delay the phase out of LIBOR to June 30, 2023. The U.S. Federal Reserve is considering replacing U.S. dollar LIBOR with a newly created index
called the Secured Overnight Funding Rate (“SOFR”), a broad measure of the cost of borrowing cash overnight collateralized by U.S. Treasury securities.
If LIBOR ceases to exist, we may need to renegotiate the Credit Facilities and may not be able to do so with terms that are favorable to us. The overall
financing market may be disrupted as a result of the phase-out or replacement of LIBOR with SOFR or any other reference rate. Disruption in the financial
market or the inability to renegotiate the Credit Facilities with favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

Risks Relating to Ownership of our Common Stock

The price of our common stock may be volatile and our stockholders could lose all or part of their investment.

Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent our stockholders from being able to sell their shares at or above the price the stockholders
paid for their shares. The market price of our common stock could fluctuate significantly for various reasons, which include the following:

• our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry;
• changes in laws or regulations, or new interpretations or applications of laws and regulations, that are applicable to our business;
• the public’s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC;
• changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;
• additions or departures of our senior management personnel;
• sales of common stock by our directors and executive officers;
• adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we may incur or securities we may issue in the future;
• actions by stockholders;
• the level and quality of research analyst coverage for our common stock, changes in financial estimates or investment recommendations by

securities analysts following our business or failure to meet such estimates;
• the financial disclosure we may provide to the public, any changes in such disclosure or our failure to meet projections included in our public

disclosure;
• various market factors or perceived market factors, including rumors, whether or not correct, involving us, our customers, our distributors or

suppliers or our competitors;
• introductions of new products or new pricing policies by us or by our competitors;
• acquisitions or strategic alliances by us or our competitors;
• short sales, hedging and other derivative transactions in our common stock;
• the operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors may deem comparable to us; and
• other events or factors, including changes in general conditions in the United States and global economies or financial markets (including those

resulting from acts of God, war, incidents of terrorism, global pandemics or responses to such events).
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Concentration of ownership among our existing executive officers, directors and their affiliates may prevent new investors from influencing significant
corporate decisions.

As of February 16, 2021, our executive officers, directors and their affiliates beneficially owned, in the aggregate, approximately 13.8% of our outstanding
shares of common stock. In particular, Christopher Pappas, our president and chief executive officer, and John Pappas, our vice chairman, beneficially
owned approximately 12.4% of our outstanding shares of common stock as of February 16, 2021. As a result of their significant individual ownership
levels, these stockholders will be able to exercise a significant level of control over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of
directors, amendment of our certificate of incorporation and approval of significant corporate transactions. This control could have the effect of delaying or
preventing a change of control of our company or changes in management and will make the approval of certain transactions difficult or impossible without
the support of these stockholders.

If securities analysts or industry analysts downgrade our stock, publish negative research or reports or do not publish reports about our business, our
stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us, our business
and our industry. If one or more analysts adversely change their recommendation regarding our stock or our competitors’ stock, our stock price may likely
decline. If one or more analysts cease coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in
turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and our stock may not appreciate in value.

We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the operation and growth of our business and do not expect to pay any cash dividends in
the foreseeable future. As a result, the success of an investment in shares of our common stock will depend upon any future appreciation in its value. There
is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or that the price at which our stockholders have purchased their shares will be able
to be maintained.

Our issuance of preferred stock or debt securities could adversely affect holders of our common stock and discourage a takeover.

Our board of directors is authorized to issue up to five shares of preferred stock without any action on the part of our stockholders. Our board of directors
also has the power, without stockholder approval, to set the terms of any series of preferred stock that may be issued, including voting rights, dividend
rights, preferences over our common stock with respect to dividends or in the event of a dissolution, liquidation or winding up and other terms. In the event
that we issue preferred stock in the future that has preference over our common stock with respect to payment of dividends or upon our liquidation,
dissolution or winding up, or if we issue preferred stock with voting rights that dilute the voting power of our common stock, the rights of the holders of
our common stock or the market price of our common stock could be adversely affected. In addition, the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of
preferred stock without any action on the part of our stockholders may impede a takeover of us and prevent a transaction favorable to our stockholders.

Additionally, in the future, we may need to raise additional funds or pay all, or a portion, of the acquisition price for a business we acquire through the
issuance of new debt, including longer-term, fixed-rate debt. If we issue new debt securities, the debt holders may have rights senior to those of our
common stockholders to make claims on our assets, and the terms of any debt could restrict our operations, including our ability to pay dividends on our
common stock.

Some provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could discourage an acquisition of us by others, even
if an acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders, and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws as well as provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law could make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire us or increase the cost of acquiring us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders, including transactions in which stockholders
might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions include:

• authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued without
stockholder approval;

• prohibiting stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;
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• eliminating the ability of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders; and
• establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon at

stockholder meetings.

Item 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 2.    PROPERTIES

We operate 36 distributions centers located in the United States and Canada totaling approximately 2.2 million square feet. We own two distribution
facilities in Massachusetts with a combined 241,00 square feet, a 59,500 square foot distribution center in Cincinnati, Ohio and a 10,000 square foot protein
processing facility and distribution center in Chicago, Illinois. All of our other properties are leased. The following table sets forth our distribution, protein
processing, corporate and other support facilities by state or province and their approximate aggregate square footage as of February 10, 2021.

State / Province Number of Facilities Aggregate Size
California 10 618,900 
Massachusetts 3 271,000 
Florida 4 262,400 
New York 1 231,100 
Texas 3 214,300 
Illinois 3 144,200 
Ohio 2 120,400 
Maryland 3 115,300 
Nevada 1 74,000 
Oregon 1 55,500 
Ontario 1 51,300 
New Jersey 1 38,400 
Connecticut 1 29,200 
British Columbia 1 24,900 
Alberta 2 16,500 
Arizona 1 14,500 
Washington 1 10,500 
Total 39 2,292,400 

(1) Represents our corporate headquarters in Ridgefield, Connecticut.

We consider our properties to be in good condition generally and believe our facilities are adequate for our operations and provide sufficient capacity to
meet our anticipated requirements.

Item 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings that arise from the normal course of business activities. If an unfavorable ruling were to
occur, there exists the possibility of a material adverse impact on our results of operations, prospects, cash flows, financial position and brand. We are not
currently aware of any pending or threatened legal proceeding against us that could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or
financial condition.

Item 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

 (1)
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PART II

Item 5.    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. Common Stock

Our common stock is publicly traded under the symbol “CHEF” on the NASDAQ Global Select Market. As of February 16, 2021, there were 189 holders
of record of our common stock. This does not include the number of persons whose stock is in nominee or “street” name accounts through brokers.

We have never paid a cash dividend on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, we are prohibited from paying cash dividends under the terms of our senior secured credit facilities without the consent of the lenders
thereunder.

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock during the period from December 25, 2015 through
December 25, 2020 with the cumulative total return on the NASDAQ Composite and the S&P Smallcap Food Distributor Index. The comparison assumes
that $100 was invested on December 25, 2015 in our common stock and in each of the foregoing indices and assumes reinvestment of dividends, if any.

The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, each as amended, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate such information by reference into such filing.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
AMONG THE CHEFS’ WAREHOUSE, INC.

NASDAQ COMPOSITE INDEX AND THE S&P SMALLCAP FOOD DISTRIBUTOR INDEX
ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON DECEMBER 25, 2015

December 25,
2015

December 30,
2016

December 29,
2017

December 28,
2018

December 27,
2019

December 25,
2020

The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 90.96 $ 118.02 $ 180.37 $ 218.60 $ 137.54 
NASDAQ Composite Index $ 100.00 $ 106.63 $ 136.74 $ 130.43 $ 178.40 $ 253.63 
S&P Smallcap Food Distributor Index $ 100.00 $ 158.22 $ 108.25 $ 68.74 $ 64.37 $ 68.68 
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ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Total Number
of Shares

Repurchased(1)

Average
Price

Paid Per Share

Total
Number of Shares
Purchased as Part

of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs

Maximum
Number (or

Approximate
Dollar Value) of

Shares That May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans

or Programs
September 26, 2020 to October 23, 2020 — $ — — — 
October 24, 2020 to November 20, 2020 1,333 16.02 — — 
November 21, 2020 to December 25, 2020 35,646 24.39 — — 

Total 36,979 $ 24.09 — — 

(1) During the thirteen weeks ended December 25, 2020, we withheld 36,979 shares of our common stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon
the vesting of restricted shares of our common stock awarded to certain of our officers and key employees.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

See Part III, Item 12 for information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans.
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Item 6.    SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presented below as of the end of each of the fiscal years in the five-year period ended December 25, 2020 have
been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. The data set forth below is qualified by reference to, and should be read in conjunction
with our consolidated financial statements and their notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our consolidated statement of operations for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2016 contained a
53rd week while all other years presented contained 52 weeks.

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

(Amounts presented in thousands, except for per share amounts)

For the Fiscal Years Ended

Statement of Operations Data:
December 25,

2020 (1)
December 27,

2019
December 28,

2018
December 29,

2017
December 30,

2016
Net sales $ 1,111,631 $ 1,591,834 $ 1,444,609 $ 1,301,520 $ 1,192,866 
Cost of sales 863,480 1,205,266 1,095,693 985,432 904,140 
Gross profit 248,151 386,568 348,916 316,088 288,726 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 336,394 329,542 298,102 275,254 251,025 
Other operating (income) expenses 14,417 6,359 2,225 (283) (9,607)
Operating (loss) income (102,660) 50,667 48,589 41,117 47,308 
Interest expense 20,946 18,264 20,745 22,709 41,632 
(Loss) income before income taxes (123,606) 32,403 27,844 18,408 5,676 
Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (40,703) 8,210 7,442 4,042 2,653 
Net (loss) income $ (82,903) $ 24,193 $ 20,402 $ 14,366 $ 3,023 

Basic net (loss) income per share $ (2.46) $ 0.82 $ 0.71 $ 0.55 $ 0.12 
Diluted net (loss) income per share $ (2.46) $ 0.81 $ 0.70 $ 0.54 $ 0.12 
Weighted average common shares outstanding:      
Basic 33,716 29,532 28,703 26,118 25,919 
Diluted 33,716 30,073 29,679 27,425 26,030 

Balance Sheet Data (at end of period)      
Cash and cash equivalents $ 193,281 $ 140,233 $ 42,410 $ 41,504 $ 32,862 
Working capital $ 287,560 $ 303,005 $ 203,193 $ 188,567 $ 157,117 
Total assets $ 974,325 $ 1,013,679 $ 732,398 $ 687,749 $ 633,538 
Long-term debt, net of current portion $ 398,084 $ 386,106 $ 278,169 $ 313,995 $ 317,725 
Total liabilities $ 629,735 $ 677,746 $ 423,722 $ 439,148 $ 439,778 
Total stockholders’ equity $ 344,590 $ 335,933 $ 308,676 $ 248,601 $ 193,760 

(1) Fiscal year 2020 results of operations were materially impacted by the Pandemic.
(2) Includes the impact of the reclassification of food processing costs from selling, general, and administrative expenses, to cost of sales and other

reclassifications. Refer to the “Reclassifications” section of “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(3) Fiscal year 2020 includes a $24,200 write-down related to Del Monte and Bassian trademarks and income of $11,479 related to the revaluation of
several earn-out liabilities. Fiscal year 2016 includes income of $8,347 related to the revaluation of the Del Monte earn-out liabilities.

(4) Fiscal year 2016 includes the impact of our debt restructuring resulting in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $22,310.
(5) Fiscal year 2017 includes a tax benefit of $3,573 related to the enactment of H.R. 1, originally known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax

Act”). Among other changes to the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, the Tax Act reduced the U.S. federal corporate top tax rate from 35.0% to 21.0%.

 (2)

 (2)

 (2, 3)

 (4)

 (5)

(6, 7)

(6)

 (6)
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(6) Fiscal year 2019 and beyond includes the impact of recognizing operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities as a result of our adoption of
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, “Leases,” as of December 29, 2018.

(7) We define working capital as current assets less current liabilities.

Acquisitions Affecting Comparability of Operating Results

The Company has made several acquisitions throughout the five-year period ended December 25, 2020. For acquisitions affecting the comparability of the
most recent three fiscal years, refer to the “Recent Significant Acquisitions” section of “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Acquisitions affecting comparability of the previous periods as described
below:

On August 25, 2017, we entered into an asset purchase agreement to acquire substantially all of the assets of Fells Point, a specialty center-of-the-plate
manufacturer and distributor based in the metro Baltimore and Washington DC area. The final purchase price for the transaction was approximately $34.1
million, including $29.7 million paid in cash at closing, $3.3 million consisting of 185,442 shares of our common stock and $1.1 million paid upon
settlement of a net working capital true-up. We are also required to pay additional contingent consideration, if earned, in the form of an earn-out amount
which could total approximately $12.0 million. The payment of the earn-out liability is subject to the successful achievement of annual Adjusted EBITDA
targets for the Fells Point business over a period of four years following closing. We paid $3.0 million during both fiscal 2018 and fiscal 2019 to the former
owners of Fells Point related to the successful attainment of the targeted EBITDA in the first two years of their earn-out agreement.

On June 27, 2016, we acquired substantially all of the assets of MT Food, based in Chicago, Illinois. Founded in the mid-1990’s, MT Food was a wholesale
distributor of dairy, produce, specialty and grocery items in the metro Chicago area. The purchase price for the transaction was $21.5 million, of which,
$21.0 million was paid in cash at closing with an additional $0.5 million payable eighteen months after the closing date. During the second quarter of fiscal
2017, we paid an earn-out of $0.5 million to the former owners.
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Item 7.    MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with information included in Item 8 of this report. Unless otherwise indicated, the terms
“Company”, “Chefs’ Warehouse”, “we”, “us”, and “our” refer to The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Overview and Recent Developments

Overview

We are a premier distributor of specialty foods in nine of the leading culinary markets in the United States. We offer more than 50,000 SKUs, ranging from
high-quality specialty foods and ingredients to basic ingredients and staples, produce and center-of-the-plate proteins. We serve more than 34,000 customer
locations, primarily located in our sixteen geographic markets across the United States and Canada, and the majority of our customers are independent
restaurants and fine dining establishments. Our Allen Brothers subsidiary sells certain of our center-of-the-plate products directly to consumers. We
expanded our direct-to-consumer product offerings in fiscal 2020 by launching our “Shop Like a Chef” online home delivery platform in several of the
markets we serve.

We believe several key differentiating factors of our business model have enabled us to execute our strategy consistently and profitably across our
expanding customer base. These factors consist of a portfolio of distinctive and hard-to-find specialty food products, an extensive selection of center-of-
the-plate proteins, a highly trained and motivated sales force, strong sourcing capabilities, a fully integrated warehouse management system, a highly
sophisticated distribution and logistics platform and a focused, seasoned management team.

In recent years, our sales to existing and new customers have increased through the continued growth in demand for specialty food and center-of-the-plate
products in general; increased market share driven by our large percentage of sophisticated and experienced sales professionals, our high-quality customer
service and our extensive breadth and depth of product offerings, including, as a result of our acquisitions; the expansion of our existing distribution
centers; our entry into new distribution centers, including the construction of new distribution centers in San Francisco, Toronto, Dallas, Los Angeles and
Miami; and the import and sale of our proprietary brands. Through these efforts, we believe that we have been able to expand our customer base, enhance
and diversify our product selections, broaden our geographic penetration and increase our market share.

Effect of the COVID-19 Pandemic on our Business and Operations

The COVID-19 pandemic (“Pandemic”) has had a material impact on our business and operations and those of our customers. In an effort to limit the
spread of the virus, federal, state and local governments began implementing various restrictions beginning in late March that resulted in the closure of
non-essential businesses in many of the markets we serve, which forced our customers in those markets to either transition their establishments to take-out
service, delivery service or temporarily cease operations. State and local governments began to ease these restrictions in mid-May, however, restrictions in
certain of our key markets were not eased until early June. As of December 25, 2020, the majority of state and local governments with jurisdiction over
markets in which the Company operates allow the Company’s customers to operate outdoor dining and indoor dining service while adhering to specified
social distancing and capacity restrictions. The duration and extent of restrictions imposed on our customers by federal, state and local governments is
dependent on future developments regarding the Pandemic, including new information about the severity of the disease, trends in infection rates, and
development of effective medical treatments for the disease, among others.

The adverse impact of the Pandemic on our customers during the fifty-two weeks ended December 25, 2020 resulted in a $616.7 million decline in our
organic sales compared to the prior year. Due to the Pandemic, we incurred estimated non-cash charges of $15.8 million related to incremental bad debt
expense and approximately $14.6 million related to estimated inventory obsolescence during the fifty-two weeks ended December 25, 2020.

Our management team is responding rapidly to the changing landscape and pursuing alternate sources of revenue to mitigate the extent of sales declines in
our core customer base. Our sales force is working closely with our core customers and developing solutions to help them fulfill the demand in their
communities while complying with health and safety restrictions. We are actively entering into new business relationships which include retail food outlets
as they have experienced increases in consumer demand and shortages in their traditional supply chains due to the Pandemic. As we develop these new
sales channels, we are negotiating favorable credit terms given the nature of the underlying customer base and the current market
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environment. In addition, our purchasing teams have worked diligently to shift our product purchases to SKUs that are in high demand. Thus far, we have
not experienced difficulties in procuring products from our suppliers.

In response to the Pandemic, we expanded our direct-to-consumer product offerings by launching our “Shop Like a Chef” online home delivery platform in
several of the markets we serve. We now offer products directly to consumers through both our Allen Brothers and “Shop Like a Chef” online platforms.

We have implemented cost control measures during this time of demand volatility. Our variable cost structure naturally decreases as our sales decrease,
however, we are also reducing our fixed cost structure. Among other actions, we have postponed planned capital expenditures, returned certain equipment
on short-term rental agreements, and reduced compensation expense through salary reductions, furloughs and lay-offs as we right-size our organization to
current levels of demand.

Management determined the Pandemic’s adverse impact on our operations and our market capitalization were triggering events that required us to test
goodwill and long-lived assets for impairment as of March 27, 2020. No impairments were identified as a result of these tests. Although there were no
additional triggering events during the remainder of fiscal 2020, the impacts of the Pandemic on our business are uncertain and will depend on future
developments, and as such, it is possible that another triggering event could occur that under certain circumstances could cause us to recognize an
impairment charge in the future.

We closed the fiscal year with total cash and cash equivalents of $193.3 million, and approximately $50.3 million of remaining availability under our asset-
based loan facility as of December 25, 2020.

The future impact of the Pandemic on our business, operations and liquidity is difficult to predict at this time and is highly dependent on future
developments including new information that may emerge on the severity of the disease, the extent of the outbreak, federal, state and local government
responses, trends in infection rates, development of effective medical treatments for the disease, and future consumer spending behavior, among others.

Recent Significant Acquisitions

On February 3, 2020, we entered into an asset purchase agreement to acquire substantially all of the assets of Cambridge Packing Co, Inc. (“Cambridge”), a
specialty center-of-the-plate producer and distributor in New England. The cash purchase price was approximately $16.4 million, inclusive of a $0.6
million working capital true-up. We are required to pay additional contingent consideration, if earned, of up to $3.0 million over a two-year period upon
successful attainment of certain gross profit targets.

On January 27, 2020, we entered into an asset purchase agreement to acquire substantially all of the assets, including certain real-estate assets, of Sid
Wainer & Son (“Sid Wainer”), a specialty food and produce distributor in New England. The cash purchase price was approximately $44.1 million,
inclusive of a $2.4 million working capital true-up. We are required to pay additional contingent consideration, if earned, of up to $4.0 million over a two-
year period upon successful attainment of certain gross profit targets.

On February 25, 2019, pursuant to an asset purchase agreement, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Bassian Farms, Inc. and related entities
(“Bassian”), a specialty center-of-the-plate distributor based in northern California. The aggregate purchase price for the transaction was approximately
$31.8 million, consisting of $28.0 million in cash paid at closing and the issuance of a $4.0 million unsecured convertible note, partially offset by the
settlement of a net working capital true-up. We are also required to pay additional contingent consideration, if earned, which could total $9.0 million over a
four-year period. The payment of the earn-out liability is subject to the successful achievement of certain gross profit targets.

Transition of Trademarks

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, we committed to a plan to shift our brand strategy to leverage our Allen Brothers brand in our west coast region
and determined that our Del Monte, Ports Seafood and Bassian Farms trademarks did not fit our long-term strategic objectives. This brand transition is
planned to begin in the second quarter of fiscal 2021. As a result, we recorded a $24.2 million impairment charge, $17.5 million net of tax, to write-down
the value of our Del Monte and Bassian Farms trademarks.

Our Growth Strategies and Outlook

We continue to invest in our people, facilities and technology in an effort to achieve the following objectives and maintain our premier position within the
specialty foodservice distribution market:
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• sales and service territory expansion;
• operational excellence and high customer service levels;
• expanded purchasing programs and improved buying power;
• product innovation and new product category introduction;
• operational efficiencies through system enhancements; and
• operating expense reduction through the centralization of general and administrative functions.

Our growth has allowed us to improve upon our organization’s infrastructure, open new distribution facilities and pursue selective acquisitions. Over the
last several years, we have increased our distribution capacity to approximately 2.2 million square feet in 36 distribution facilities as of February 10, 2021.
From fiscal 2018 through the end of fiscal 2020, we have invested significantly in acquisitions, infrastructure and management.

Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

Due to our focus on menu-driven independent restaurants, fine dining establishments, country clubs, hotels, caterers, culinary schools, bakeries, patisseries,
chocolateries, cruise lines, casinos and specialty food stores, our results of operations are materially impacted by the success of the food-away-from-home
industry in the United States and Canada, which is materially impacted by general economic conditions, weather, discretionary spending levels and
consumer confidence. When economic conditions deteriorate, our customers’ businesses are negatively impacted as fewer people eat away-from-home and
those who do spend less money. As economic conditions begin to improve, our customers’ businesses historically have likewise improved, which
contributes to improvements in our business. Similarly, the direct-to-consumer business of our Allen Brothers subsidiary is significantly dependent on
consumers’ discretionary spending habits, and weakness or uncertainty in the economy could lead to consumers buying less from Allen Brothers.

Volatile food costs may have a direct impact upon our profitability. Prolonged periods of product cost inflation may have a negative impact on our profit
margins and results of operations to the extent we are unable to pass on all or a portion of such product cost increases to our customers. In addition, product
cost inflation may negatively impact consumer discretionary spending decisions within our customers’ establishments, which could adversely impact our
sales. Conversely, our profit levels may be negatively impacted during periods of product cost deflation even though our gross profit as a percentage of
sales may remain relatively constant. However, some of our products, particularly certain of our center-of-the-plate protein items, are priced on a “cost
plus” markup, which helps mitigate the negative impact of deflation.

Given our wide selection of product categories, as well as the continuous introduction of new products, we can experience shifts in product sales mix that
have an impact on net sales and gross profit margins. This mix shift is most significantly impacted by the introduction of new categories of products in
markets that we have more recently entered, the shift in product mix resulting from acquisitions, as well as the continued growth in item penetration on
higher velocity items such as dairy products.

The foodservice distribution industry is fragmented but consolidating, and we have supplemented our internal growth through selective strategic
acquisitions. We believe that the consolidation trends in the foodservice distribution industry will continue to present acquisition opportunities for us, which
may allow us to grow our business at a faster pace than we would otherwise be able to grow the business organically.

Performance Indicators

In addition to evaluating our income from operations, our management team analyzes our performance based on net sales growth, gross profit and gross
profit margin.

• Net sales growth. Our net sales growth is driven principally by changes in volume and, to a lesser degree, changes in price related to the impact of
inflation in commodity prices and product mix. In particular, product cost inflation and deflation impacts our results of operations and, depending on
the amount of inflation or deflation, such impact may be material. For example, inflation may increase the dollar value of our sales, and deflation
may cause the dollar value of our sales to fall despite our unit sales remaining constant or growing.

• Gross profit and gross profit margin. Our gross profit and gross profit as a percentage of net sales, or gross profit margin, are driven principally by
changes in volume and fluctuations in food and commodity prices and our ability to pass on any price increases to our customers in an inflationary
environment and maintain or increase gross profit margin when our costs decline. Our gross profit margin is also a function of the product mix of
our net sales in any period. Given our wide selection of product categories, as well as the continuous introduction of new products, we can
experience
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shifts in product sales mix that have an impact on net sales and gross profit margins. This mix shift is most significantly impacted by the introduction
of new categories of products in markets that we have more recently entered, impact of product mix from acquisitions, as well as the continued
growth in item penetration on higher velocity items such as dairy products.

Key Financial Definitions

• Net sales: Net sales consist primarily of sales of specialty products, center-of-the-plate proteins and other food products to independently-owned
restaurants and other high-end foodservice customers, which we report net of certain group discounts and customer sales incentives. Net sales also
include direct-to-consumer sales on our e-commerce platforms.

• Cost of sales: Cost of sales include the net purchase price paid for products sold, plus the cost of transportation necessary to bring the product to our
distribution facilities and food processing costs. Food processing costs include, but are not limited, to direct labor and benefits, applicable overhead
and depreciation of equipment and facilities used in food processing activities. Our cost of sales may not be comparable to other similar companies
within our industry.

• Selling, general and administrative expenses: Selling, general and administrative expenses include facilities costs, product shipping and handling
costs, warehouse costs, and other selling, general and administrative costs.

• Other operating expenses: Other operating expenses includes expenses primarily related to changes in the fair value of the Company’s earn-out
liabilities, gains and losses on asset disposals, asset impairments and certain third-party deal costs incurred in connection with business acquisitions
or financing arrangements.

• Interest expense: Interest and other expense consists primarily of interest on our outstanding indebtedness and, as applicable, the amortization or
write-off of deferred financing fees.

Reclassifications

In response to a comment letter from the staff of the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance, we have reclassified our food processing costs, previously
included in operating expenses, to cost of sales and have split our historical presentation of operating expenses between selling, general and administrative
expenses and other operating expenses. These reclassifications have no impact on the Company’s operating income, net income or cash flows.
Furthermore, management has reclassified gain/loss from asset disposal, which was previously presented as a non-operating expense, to other operating
expenses. See Note 2 “Reclassifications” to our consolidated financial statements for a full description of these reclassifications.

Results of Operations

Fiscal Years Ended
December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018

Net sales $ 1,111,631 $ 1,591,834 $ 1,444,609 
Cost of sales 863,480 1,205,266 1,095,693 

Gross profit 248,151 386,568 348,916 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 336,394 329,542 298,102 
Other operating expenses 14,417 6,359 2,225 

Operating (loss) income (102,660) 50,667 48,589 
Interest expense 20,946 18,264 20,745 
(Loss) income before income taxes (123,606) 32,403 27,844 
Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (40,703) 8,210 7,442 
Net (loss) income $ (82,903) $ 24,193 $ 20,402 
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Fiscal Year Ended December 25, 2020 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 27, 2019

Net Sales

2020 2019 $ Change % Change
Net sales $ 1,111,631 $ 1,591,834 $ (480,203) (30.2)%

Sales growth from acquisitions contributed $136.5 million, or 8.6%, to sales growth. Organic sales declined $616.7 million, or 38.8%, versus the prior year
primarily due to impacts of the Pandemic. Organic case count declined approximately 43.5% in our specialty category. In addition, specialty unique
customers and placements declined 30.4% and 43.6%, respectively, compared to the prior year. Pounds sold in our center-of-the-plate category
decreased 38.0% compared to the prior year. Estimated deflation was 0.3% in our specialty category and inflation of 3.5% in our center-of-the-plate
category compared to fiscal 2019.
                                        
Gross Profit

2020 2019 $ Change % Change
Gross profit $ 248,151 $ 386,568 $ (138,417) (35.8)%
Gross profit margin 22.3 % 24.3 %

Gross profit decreased primarily due to decreased sales volumes. Gross profit margin decreased approximately 196 basis points. Gross profit
margins decreased 441 basis points in the Company’s specialty category and increased 117 basis points in the Company’s center-of-the-plate category
compared to the prior year period. Our gross profit results include a charge of approximately $14.6 million related to estimated inventory losses from
obsolescence due to the Pandemic’s impact on our customers’ purchasing behavior.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

2020 2019 $ Change % Change
Selling, general and administrative expenses 336,394 329,542 6,852 2.1 %
Percentage of net sales 30.3 % 20.7 %

The increase in selling, general and administrative expense relates primarily to our recent acquisitions and an estimated non-cash charge of approximately
$15.8 million to bad debt expense incurred during the first quarter of fiscal 2020 at the onset of the Pandemic, partially offset by cost measures
implemented during the year in response to the Pandemic’s adverse impact on demand for our products. Our ratio of selling, general and administrative
expenses to net sales was higher as a result of the Pandemic’s adverse impacts on our sales growth and a 161 basis point increase in non-cash charges
related to bad debt expense.

Other Operating Expenses

2020 2019 $ Change % Change
Other operating expenses 14,417 6,359 8,058 126.7 %

The increase in other operating expenses relates primarily to a $24.2 million impairment charge on Del Monte and Bassian trademarks and non-cash credits
of $11.5 million for changes in the fair value of our contingent earn-out liabilities compared to non-cash charges of $5.9 million in the prior year period.

Interest Expense

2020 2019 $ Change % Change
Interest expense 20,946 18,264 $ 2,682 14.7 %

Interest and other expense increased primarily due to $1.2 million in one-time third-party costs incurred during the second quarter of 2020 in connection
with the extension of a majority of our senior secured term loans and the full year impact of interest charged on our Convertible Senior Notes issued on
November 22, 2019.
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Provision for Income Taxes

2020 2019 $ Change % Change
Provision for taxes (40,703) 8,210 $ (48,913) (595.8)%
Effective tax rate 32.9 % 25.3 %

The higher effective tax rate is primarily related to our net loss for fiscal 2020 which allows us to claim tax refunds against taxes paid in fiscal 2015 and
2017, both of which were at statutory tax rates of 35%.

Fiscal Year Ended December 27, 2019 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 28, 2018

Net Sales

2019 2018 $ Change % Change
Net sales $ 1,591,834 $ 1,444,609 $ 147,225 10.2 %

Organic growth contributed $65.0 million, or 4.5%, to sales growth in the year. The remaining sales growth of $82.2 million, or 5.7%, resulted from
acquisitions. Organic case count grew approximately 5.2% in our specialty category. In addition, growth in specialty unique customers and placements
grew 4.5% and 3.0%, respectively, compared to the prior year. Pounds sold in our center-of-the-plate category increased 0.7% compared to the prior year.
Estimated inflation was 2.4% in our specialty category and 2.6% in our center-of-the-plate category compared to fiscal 2018.

Gross Profit

2019 2018 $ Change % Change
Gross profit 386,568 348,916 $ 37,652 10.8 %
Gross profit margin 24.3 % 24.2 %

Gross profit increased primarily due to increased sales volumes. Gross profit margin increased approximately 13 basis points. Gross profit margins
increased 19 basis points in the Company’s specialty category and increased 27 basis points in the Company’s center-of-the-plate category compared to the
prior year period

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

2019 2018 $ Change % Change
Selling, general and administrative expenses 329,542 298,102 31,440 10.5 %
Percentage of net sales 20.7 % 20.6 %

The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses relates primarily to increased sales volumes. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a
percentage of net sales increased 7 basis points. The primary drivers of the increase in the ratio of selling, general and administrative expenses to sales were
a 27 basis point increase in warehouse costs, primarily related to our investments in Texas and our new facility in Los Angeles, partially offset by a 22 basis
point reduction in general and administrative compensation costs as a percentage of sales.

Other Operating Expenses

2019 2018 $ Change % Change
Other operating expenses 6,359 2,225 4,134 185.8 %

The increase in other operating expenses relates primarily to non-cash charges of $5.9 million for changes in the fair value of our contingent earn-out
liabilities compared to non-cash charges of $1.4 million in the prior year period.

Interest Expense

2019 2018 $ Change % Change
Interest expense 18,264 20,745 $ (2,481) (12.0)%
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Interest and other expense decreased primarily due to a $1.1 million write-off of deferred financing fees in fiscal 2018 associated with the re-pricing of our
Term Loan and lower effective interest charged on our outstanding debt in fiscal 2019.

Provision for Income Taxes

2019 2018 $ Change % Change
Provision for taxes 8,210 7,442 $ 768 10.3 %
Effective tax rate 25.3 % 26.7 %

The lower effective tax rate in fiscal 2019 is due to certain permanent tax differences related to stock compensation.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We finance our day-to-day operations and growth primarily with cash flows from operations, borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities and other
indebtedness, operating leases, trade payables and equity financing.

Indebtedness

The following table presents selected financial information on our indebtedness (in thousands):

December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
Senior secured term loan $ 201,553 $ 238,129 $ 239,745 
Total convertible debt $ 154,000 $ 154,000 $ — 
Borrowings outstanding on asset-based loan facility $ 40,000 $ — $ 44,185 
Finance leases and other financing obligations $ 15,798 $ 3,905 $ 193 

As of December 25, 2020, we have various floating- and fixed-rate debt instruments with varying maturities for an aggregate principal amount of $395.6
million. See Note 10 “Debt Obligations” to our consolidated financial statements for a full description of our debt instruments.

On June 8, 2020, we amended our senior secured credit agreement which converted $238.1 million of the term loans then outstanding into a new tranche of
term loans (the “2025 Tranche”), which, among other things, extended the maturity date by three years and increased the fixed-rate portion of interest
charged by 200 basis points. The Company made a prepayment of $35.7 million on the 2025 Tranche immediately after it was established. See Note 10
“Debt Obligations” to our consolidated financial statements for a full description.

On March 18, 2020, we drew $100.0 million on our asset-based loan facility to increase our cash on hand during the early stages of the Pandemic’s impact
to our business and have subsequently repaid $60.0 million of the draw.

On November 22, 2019, we issued $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes (the “Senior Notes”). Approximately
$43.2 million of the net proceeds were used to repay all borrowings then outstanding under our ABL and we intend to use the remainder for working
capital and general corporate purposes, which may include future acquisitions.

On July 25, 2018, the holders of the $36.8 million principal amount of convertible subordinated notes, issued in connection with our acquisition of Del
Monte, converted these notes and related accrued interest of $0.3 million into 1,246,272 shares of the Company’s common stock.

On June 29, 2018, we entered into a new asset-based loan facility (“ABL”) that increased our borrowing capacity from $75.0 million to $150.0 million.
Additionally, we reduced the fixed-rate portion of interest charged on our senior secured term loan (“Term Loan”) from 475 basis points to 350 basis points
over Adjusted LIBOR as a result of repricings executed on December 14, 2017 and November 16, 2018.

A portion of the interest rate charged on our Term Loan is currently based on LIBOR and, at our option, a component of the interest charged on the
borrowings outstanding on our ABL, if any, may bear interest rates based on LIBOR. LIBOR has been the subject of reform and was expected to phase out
by the end of fiscal 2021, however, on November 30, 2020, the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (“ICE”) announced plans to delay the phase out of
LIBOR to June 30, 2023. The consequences of the discontinuation of LIBOR cannot be entirely predicted but could impact the interest expense we incur
on
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these debt instruments. We will negotiate alternatives to LIBOR with our lenders before LIBOR ceases to be a widely available reference rate.

Equity Offering

On May 14 and June 2, 2020, we completed public offerings for a total of 6,634,615 shares of our common stock which resulted in net proceeds of
approximately $85.9 million. See Note 11 “Stockholders’ Equity” to our consolidated financial statements for a full description.

Liquidity

The following table presents selected financial information on liquidity (in thousands):

December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 193,281 $ 140,233 $ 42,410 
Working capital, excluding cash and cash equivalents $ 94,279 $ 162,772 $ 160,783 
Availability under asset-based loan facility $ 50,282 $ 133,359 $ 90,015 

(1) We define working capital as current assets less current liabilities. The fiscal 2020 and 2019 balances include the impact of recognizing operating
lease right-of-use assets and liabilities as a result of our adoption of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, “Leases,” as of December 29,
2018.

We believe our existing balances of cash and cash equivalents, working capital and the availability under our asset-based loan facility, are sufficient to
satisfy our working capital needs, capital expenditures, debt service and other liquidity requirements associated with our current operations over the next
twelve months.

Our capital expenditures, excluding cash paid for acquisitions, were approximately $7.0 million for fiscal 2020. We are not providing guidance on our
capital expenditures for fiscal 2021 due to the continued uncertainty with regards to the pace of the economic recovery and the duration of the Pandemic
related restrictions on our customers.

Cash Flows

Fiscal Year Ended
December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018

Net income $ (82,903) $ 24,193 $ 20,402 
Non-cash charges $ 62,509 $ 47,625 $ 38,186 
Changes in working capital $ 63,275 $ (26,811) $ (13,506)

Cash provided by operating activities $ 42,881 $ 45,007 $ 45,082 
Cash used in investing activities $ (67,968) $ (44,154) $ (33,688)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ 78,056 $ 96,947 $ (10,442)

Fiscal Year 2020 Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operations was $42.9 million for fiscal 2020 consisting of a $82.9 million net loss, offset by $62.5 million of non-cash charges and an
increase in working capital of $63.3 million. Non-cash charges increased predominately due to the $24.2 million write down of Del Monte and Bassian
trademarks. The increase in working capital of $63.3 million is primarily driven by negotiating favorable credit terms with our customers and suppliers and
maintaining lower inventory balances as a result of reduced demand due to the Pandemic.

Net cash used in investing activities was $68.0 million in fiscal 2020 driven by $7.0 million in capital expenditures which included implementations of our
Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) system. The Company used $60.9 million in cash to fund acquisitions, the most significant of which were Sid
Wainer and Cambridge.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $78.1 million for fiscal 2020 driven by $85.9 million net proceeds from our common stock offering and
$40.0 million of net draws on our asset-based loan facility, partially offset by payments of debt and finance lease obligations of $40.4 million.

(1) 
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Fiscal Year 2019 Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operations was $45.0 million for fiscal 2019 consisting of $24.2 million of net income and $47.6 million of non-cash charges,
partially offset by an increase in working capital of $26.8 million. The increase in non-cash charges of $9.4 million is primarily driven by changes in the
fair value of earn-out liabilities of $4.4 million and higher depreciation and amortization expense. The increase in working capital of $26.8 million is a
result of organic growth and acquisitions and includes $1.8 million of earn-out liability payments classified as operating activities.

Net cash used in investing activities was $44.2 million in fiscal 2019 driven by $16.1 million in capital expenditures which included implementations of
our ERP system and the buildouts of our headquarters in Ridgefield, CT and distribution center in Dallas, Texas. The Company used $28.1 million in cash
to fund acquisitions, the most significant of which was Bassian.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $96.9 million for fiscal 2019 driven by $145.0 million of net proceeds received from the issuance of our
Senior Notes, partially offset by $44.2 million to settle all borrowings outstanding on our ABL and $2.4 million of earn-out liability payments classified as
financing activities.

Seasonality

Excluding our Allen Brothers direct-to-consumer business, we generally do not experience any material seasonality. However, our sales and operating
results may vary from quarter to quarter due to factors such as changes in our operating expenses, management’s ability to execute our operating and
growth strategies, personnel changes, demand for our products, supply shortages, weather patterns and general economic conditions.

Our Allen Brothers direct-to-consumer business is subject to seasonal fluctuations, with direct-to-consumer center-of-the-plate protein sales typically
higher during the holiday season in our fourth quarter; accordingly, a disproportionate amount of operating cash flows from this portion of our business is
generated by our direct-to-consumer business in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year. Despite a significant portion of these sales occurring in the fourth
quarter, there are operating expenses, principally advertising and promotional expenses, throughout the year.

The Pandemic has had a material impact on our business and operations and those of our customers. Our net sales were most significantly impacted during
the second quarter of fiscal 2020 when, in an effort to limit the spread of the virus, federal, state and local governments began implementing various
restrictions that resulted in the closure of non-essential businesses in many of the markets we serve, which forced our customers in those markets to either
transition their establishments to take-out service, delivery service or temporarily cease operations.

Inflation

Our profitability is dependent on, among other things, our ability to anticipate and react to changes in the costs of key operating resources, including food
and other raw materials, labor, energy and other supplies and services. Substantial increases in costs and expenses could impact our operating results to the
extent that such increases cannot be passed along to our customers. The impact of inflation on food, labor, energy and occupancy costs can significantly
affect the profitability of our operations.

Commitments and Significant Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commercial commitments at December 25, 2020:

Payments Due by Period (1, 2, 3)

Total
Less than One

Year
1-3

Years
4-5

Years Thereafter
(In thousands)

Indebtedness $ 405,889 $ 4,715 $ 84,516 $ 316,658 $ — 
Finance lease obligations $ 17,259 $ 4,905 $ 6,756 $ 4,291 $ 1,307 
Pension exit liabilities $ 2,020 $ 159 $ 351 $ 401 $ 1,109 
Long-term operating leases $ 177,740 $ 24,542 $ 40,787 $ 25,104 $ 87,307 

Total $ 602,908 $ 34,321 $ 132,410 $ 346,454 $ 89,723 
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(1) Interest on our various outstanding debt instruments is included in the above table, except for our Term Loans and ABL, which have floating
interest rates. At December 25, 2020, we had borrowings of $201.6 million under our Term Loans and $40.0 million under our ABL. During the
fiscal year ended December 25, 2020, the weighted average interest rate on our Term Loan and ABL borrowings were approximately 4.4% and
1.7%, respectively. See Note 10 “Debt Obligations” to our consolidated financial statements for further information on our debt instruments.

(2) The table above excludes $2.8 million of total contingent earn-out liabilities related to certain acquisitions as of December 25, 2020 and
approximately $30.2 million of lease payments related to a distribution facility that does not commence until fiscal 2021.

(3) The table above excludes our supplier purchase obligations as we do not have any material unconditional contractual obligations to purchase fixed
or minimum quantities of goods or services from our suppliers.

We had outstanding letters of credit of approximately $20.1 million and $16.6 million at December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively.
Substantially all of our assets are pledged as collateral to secure our borrowings under our credit facilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 25, 2020, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The SEC has defined critical accounting policies as those that are both
most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and require our most difficult, complex or subjective judgments or estimates. Based
on this definition, we believe our critical accounting policies include the following: (i) determining our allowance for doubtful accounts, (ii) inventory
valuation, with regard to determining inventory balance adjustments for excess and obsolete inventory, (iii) business combinations, (iv) valuing goodwill
and intangible assets, (v) self-insurance reserves, (vi) accounting for income taxes and (vii) contingent earn-out liabilities. For all financial statement
periods presented, there have been no material modifications to the application of these critical accounting policies.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We analyze customer creditworthiness, accounts receivable balances, payment history, payment terms and historical bad debt levels when evaluating the
adequacy of our allowance for doubtful accounts. In instances where a reserve has been recorded for a particular customer, future sales to the customer are
either conducted using cash-on-delivery terms or the account is closely monitored so that agreed-upon payments are received prior to orders being released.
A failure to pay results in held or cancelled orders. We also estimate receivables that will ultimately be uncollectible based upon historical write-off
experience. Management incorporates current macro-economic factors in existence as of the balance sheet date that may impact the food-away-from-home
industry and/or its customers, and specifically, beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2020, the impact of the Pandemic. We may be required to increase or
decrease our allowance for doubtful accounts due to various factors, including the overall economic environment and particular circumstances of individual
customers. Our accounts receivable balance was $96.4 million and $175.0 million, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts of $24.0 million and $8.8
million, as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively.

Inventory Valuation

We adjust our inventory balances for excess and obsolete inventories. These adjustments are primarily based upon customer demand, inventory age,
specifically identified inventory items and overall economic conditions. A sudden and unexpected change in consumer preferences or change in overall
economic conditions could result in a significant change to these adjustments that could require a corresponding charge to earnings. We actively manage
our inventory levels as we seek to minimize the risk of loss and have consistently achieved a relatively high level of inventory turnover. As a result of the
impacts of the Pandemic on our customer demand we incurred additional inventory valuation charges of $14.6 million in fiscal 2020.

Business Combinations

We account for acquisitions in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805 “Business Combinations.” Assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are recorded at their estimated fair values, as of the acquisition date. The judgments made in determining the estimated fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, including estimated useful life, may
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have a material impact on our consolidated balance sheet and may materially impact the amount of depreciation and amortization expense recognized in
periods subsequent to the acquisition. We determine the fair value of intangible assets using an income approach and, when appropriate, we engage a third
party valuation firm. Generally, we utilize the multi-period excess earnings method to determine the fair value of customer relationships and the relief from
royalty method to determine the fair value of tradenames. These valuation methods contain significant assumptions and estimates including forecasts of
expected future cash flows and discount rates. Determining the useful life of an intangible asset also requires judgment, as different types of intangible
assets will have different useful lives. The excess of the purchase price over the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.

Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We are required to test goodwill for impairment at each of our reporting units annually, or more frequently when circumstances indicate an impairment may
have occurred. We have elected to perform our annual tests for indications of goodwill impairment during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year.

Goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level, which is an operating segment or a component of an operating segment. When analyzing whether to aggregate
components into single reporting units, management considers whether each component has similar economic characteristics. We have evaluated the
economic characteristics of our different geographic markets, including our recently acquired businesses, along with the similarity of the operations and
margins, nature of the products, type of customer and methods of distribution of products and the regulatory environment in which we operate and
concluded that the business consists of three operating segments: East Coast, Midwest and West Coast and these operating segments represent our reporting
units.

In testing goodwill for impairment, we may elect to perform a qualitative assessment to evaluate whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of
each reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The qualitative analysis considers various factors including macroeconomic conditions, market
conditions, industry trends, cost factors and financial performance, among others. If our qualitative assessment indicates that goodwill impairment is more
likely than not, we proceed to perform a quantitative assessment to determine the fair value of the reporting unit.

When a quantitative analysis is required, we estimate the fair value of our reporting units using an income approach that incorporates the use of a
discounted cash flow model that involves many management assumptions that are based upon future growth projections. Assumptions include estimates of
future revenue based upon budget projections and growth rates which include estimates for the duration of the Pandemic’s impact on the Company’s
customers. We develop estimates of future levels of gross and operating profits and projected capital expenditures. This methodology includes the use of
estimated discount rates based upon industry and competitor analysis as well as other factors. A goodwill impairment loss, if any, would be recognized for
the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value.

Due to the Pandemic’s adverse impact on our business, we performed an interim quantitative goodwill impairment test as of March 27, 2020 and concluded
that goodwill was not impaired. As required, we performed our annual goodwill impairment test during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020 the results of
which indicated that goodwill was not impaired. Total goodwill as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019 was $214.9 million and $197.7 million,
respectively.

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. Cash flows expected to be generated by the related assets are estimated over the assets useful lives based on updated projections. If the
evaluation indicates that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable, the potential impairment is measured based on a projected discounted
cash flow model. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, we committed to a plan to shift our brand strategy to leverage our Allen Brothers brand in our
west coast region and determined our Del Monte, Ports Seafood and Bassian Farms trademarks did no fit our long-term strategic objectives. This brand
transition is planned to begin in the second quarter of fiscal 2021. The Company assessed these trademarks for impairment and used the relief of royalty
method to determine fair value. Significant assumptions used include future sales forecasts, royalty rates and discount rates. As a result, we recorded a
$24.2 million impairment charge, $17.5 million net of tax, to write-down the value of our Del Monte and Bassian Farms trademarks. There have been no
other events or changes in circumstances during fiscal 2020 or 2019 indicating that the carrying value of our finite-lived intangible assets are not
recoverable. Total finite-lived intangible assets as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019 were $111.7 million and $138.8 million, respectively.

The assessment of the recoverability of goodwill and intangible assets contain uncertainties requiring management to make assumptions and to apply
judgment to estimate economic factors and the profitability of future operations. Actual results could
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differ from these assumptions and projections, resulting in us revising our assumptions and, if required, recognizing an impairment loss.

Self-Insurance Reserves

We maintain a self-insured group medical program. The program contains individual stop loss thresholds of $275 thousand per incident and aggregate stop
loss thresholds based upon the average number of employees enrolled in the program throughout the year. The amount in excess of the self-insured levels is
fully insured by third party insurers. Liabilities associated with this program are estimated in part by considering historical claims experience and medical
cost trends. Projections of future loss expenses are inherently uncertain because of the random nature of insurance claims occurrences and could be
significantly affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these assumptions and historical trends.

We are self-insured for workers’ compensation and automobile liability to deductibles or self-insured retentions of $500 thousand per occurrence. The
amounts in excess of our deductibles are fully insured by third party insurers. Liabilities associated with this program are estimated in part by considering
historical claims experience and cost trends. Projections of future loss expenses are inherently uncertain because of the random nature of insurance claims
occurrences and could be significantly affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these assumptions and historical trends.

Income Taxes

The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of estimates and the interpretation and application of complex
tax laws. Our provision for income taxes primarily reflects a combination of income earned and taxed in the various U.S. federal and state jurisdictions.
Jurisdictional tax law changes, increases or decreases in permanent differences between book and tax items, accruals or adjustments of accruals for
unrecognized tax benefits, and our change in the mix of earnings from these taxing jurisdictions all affect the overall effective tax rate.

We estimate our ability to recover deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise. This evaluation considers several factors, including
recent results of operations, scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, future taxable income and tax planning strategies. As of December 25, 2020 and
December 27, 2019, we had valuation allowances of $2.3 million and $0.9 million, respectively, relating to certain net operating losses that may not be
realizable in the future based on taxable income forecasts and certain state net operating loss limitations.

Contingent Earn-out Liabilities

We account for contingent consideration relating to business combinations as a liability and an increase to goodwill at the date of the acquisition and
continually remeasure the liability at each balance sheet date by recording changes in the fair value through our consolidated statements of operations. We
determine the fair value of contingent consideration based on future operating projections under various potential scenarios, including the use of Monte
Carlo simulations, and weight the probability of these outcomes. The ultimate settlement of contingent earn-out liabilities relating to business combinations
may be for amounts which are materially different from the amounts initially recorded and may cause volatility in our results of operations.

Management has discussed the development and selection of these critical accounting policies with our board of directors, and the board of directors has
reviewed the above disclosure. Our consolidated financial statements contain other items that require estimation, but are not as critical as those discussed
above. These other items include our calculations for bonus accruals, depreciation and amortization. Changes in estimates and assumptions used in these
and other items could have an effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 “Operations and Basis of Presentation” to our consolidated financial statements for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements
including the respective expected dates of adoption and expected effects on our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate market risk relates primarily to our long-term debt. The Company has various floating- and fixed-rate debt instruments as
described in Note 10 “Debt Obligations” to our consolidated financial statements. As of December 25, 2020, we had an aggregate $241.6 million of
floating-rate indebtedness. A 100 basis point increase in market interest rates would decrease our after tax earnings by approximately $1.8 million per
annum, holding other variables constant.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and Board of Directors
The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc.
Ridgefield, CT

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. (the “Company”) and subsidiaries as of December 25, 2020
and December 27, 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 25, 2020, and the related notes. In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 25, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 25, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) and our report dated February 23, 2021 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinions

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, effective on December 29, 2018, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases
due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, Leases.

Emphasis of Matter

As more fully described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has been negatively impacted by the ongoing effects of the
outbreak of a novel coronavirus (COVID-19) on the Company’s operations.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Goodwill Impairment

As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance was $214.9
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million at December 25, 2020, which was allocated between three reporting units. The Company’s evaluation of goodwill for impairment involves the
comparison of the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. Management assesses goodwill impairment annually in the fourth quarter, but
identified a triggering event requiring an interim impairment assessment of goodwill at the end of the first quarter of 2020 due to the economic impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company prepared the valuations of the reporting units for the interim and annual assessments using an income approach,
which requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions related to discount rates and forecasts of future revenue and earnings.

We identified the valuation of goodwill during the interim and annual impairment assessments as a critical audit matter. The principal considerations for
our determination are the inherent uncertainties related to the Company’s forecasts and how various other factors, including the projected impact from the
COVID-19 pandemic, could affect the Company’s forecasted assumptions of revenue and earnings included in the income approach. Auditing these
significant assumptions and judgments involved especially challenging auditor judgment and an increased level of effort, including the extent of specialized
skills or knowledge needed.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

• Evaluating the reasonableness of assumptions used in the Company’s income approach, including the revenue growth rate, terminal value growth
rate, and the economic impact that the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to have on the Company’s performance and its reporting units by: (i)
comparing to historical results and industry trends, (ii) understanding state and local restrictions on occupancy capacity for indoor establishments
to evaluate management’s expected timing to return to historical revenue and profitability levels, (iii) comparing the actual results for the second
and third quarters to the projections that management used for those quarters in the interim assessment, and (iv) performing a sensitivity analysis
of significant assumptions and evaluating the impact of such on the fair value of each reporting unit that would result from changes in the
assumptions.

• Testing the accuracy and completeness of the data used by management to develop its projections.

• Testing management’s market capitalization reconciliation and the reasonableness of the calculated control premium identified by management.

• Utilizing personnel with specialized skills and knowledge in valuation approach and methodologies to assist in: (i) assessing the appropriateness
of the fair value methodology, (ii) evaluating the reasonableness of certain assumptions used, including the discount rate.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2006.

Stamford, CT
February 23, 2021
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THE CHEFS’ WAREHOUSE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(Amounts in thousands, except share data)

December 25,
2020

December 27,
2019

ASSETS   
Current assets:   

Cash and cash equivalents $ 193,281 $ 140,233 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $24,027 in 2020 and $8,846 in 2019 96,383 175,044 
Inventories, net 82,519 124,056 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 33,479 13,823 
Total current assets 405,662 453,156 

Equipment, leasehold improvements and software, net 115,448 92,846 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 115,224 127,649 
Goodwill 214,864 197,743 
Intangible assets, net 111,717 138,751 
Deferred taxes, net 7,535 — 
Other assets 3,875 3,534 

Total assets $ 974,325 $ 1,013,679 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

Current liabilities:   
Accounts payable $ 57,515 $ 94,097 
Accrued liabilities 27,924 29,847 
Short-term operating lease liabilities 17,167 17,453 
Accrued compensation 9,401 8,033 
Current portion of long-term debt 6,095 721 
Total current liabilities 118,102 150,151 

Long-term debt, net of current portion 398,084 386,106 
Operating lease liabilities 109,133 120,572 
Deferred taxes, net — 10,883 
Other liabilities and deferred credits 4,416 10,034 

Total liabilities 629,735 677,746 
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:   
Preferred Stock - $0.01 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at December 25,
2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively — — 

Common Stock, - $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 37,274,768 and 30,341,941 shares issued
and outstanding at December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively 373 304 

Additional paid in capital 303,734 212,240 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,051) (2,048)
Retained earnings 42,534 125,437 

Total stockholders’ equity 344,590 335,933 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 974,325 $ 1,013,679 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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THE CHEFS’ WAREHOUSE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Fiscal Years Ended
December 25,

2020
December 27,

2019
December 28,

2018
Net sales $ 1,111,631 $ 1,591,834 $ 1,444,609 
Cost of sales 863,480 1,205,266 1,095,693 

Gross profit 248,151 386,568 348,916 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 336,394 329,542 298,102 
Other operating expenses 14,417 6,359 2,225 

Operating (loss) income (102,660) 50,667 48,589 
Interest expense 20,946 18,264 20,745 
(Loss) income before income taxes (123,606) 32,403 27,844 
Provision for income tax (benefit) expense (40,703) 8,210 7,442 
Net (loss) income $ (82,903) $ 24,193 $ 20,402 
Other comprehensive income (loss):    

Foreign currency translation adjustments (3) 173 (672)
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (82,906) $ 24,366 $ 19,730 
Net (loss) income per share:    

Basic $ (2.46) $ 0.82 $ 0.71 
Diluted $ (2.46) $ 0.81 $ 0.70 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:   
Basic 33,716,157 29,532,342 28,703,265 
Diluted 33,716,157 30,073,338 29,678,919 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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THE CHEFS’ WAREHOUSE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Fiscal Years Ended December 25, 2020, December 27, 2019, and December 28, 2018
(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)

 Common Stock Additional
Paid in
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
Earnings Total Shares Amount

Balance December 29, 2017 28,442,208 $ 284 $ 166,997 $ (1,549) $ 82,869 $ 248,601 
Net income — — — — 20,402 20,402 
Stock compensation 310,451 3 4,091 — — 4,094 
Conversion of notes 1,246,272 13 37,002 — — 37,015 
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — (672) — (672)
Shares surrendered to pay withholding
taxes (30,448) — (764) — — (764)
Balance December 28, 2018 29,968,483 $ 300 $ 207,326 $ (2,221) $ 103,271 $ 308,676 
Cumulative effect adjustment — — — — (2,027) (2,027)
Net income — — — — 24,193 24,193 
Stock compensation 329,338 3 4,396 — — 4,399 
Option exercises 76,169 1 1,540 — — 1,541 
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — 173 — 173 
Shares surrendered to pay withholding
taxes (32,049) — (1,022) — — (1,022)
Balance December 27, 2019 30,341,941 $ 304 $ 212,240 $ (2,048) $ 125,437 $ 335,933 
Net loss — — — — (82,903) (82,903)
Stock compensation 500,100 5 9,287 — — 9,292 
Public offering 6,634,615 66 85,875 — — 85,941 
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — (3) — (3)
Shares surrendered to pay withholding
taxes (201,888) (2) (3,668) — — (3,670)
Balance December 25, 2020 37,274,768 $ 373 $ 303,734 $ (2,051) $ 42,534 $ 344,590 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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THE CHEFS’ WAREHOUSE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 25, 2020, December 27, 2019, and December 28, 2018
(Amounts in thousands)

December 25,
2020

December 27,
2019

December 28,
2018

Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net (loss) income $ (82,903) $ 24,193 $ 20,402 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization 19,774 13,328 10,296 
Amortization of intangible assets 13,502 12,663 11,910 
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts 21,372 4,981 3,790 
Non-cash operating lease expense 689 2,043 770 
(Benefit) provision for deferred income taxes (18,418) 2,063 2,554 
Amortization of deferred financing fees 3,426 2,168 3,155 
Stock compensation 9,292 4,399 4,094 
Change in fair value of contingent earn-out liabilities (11,479) 5,879 1,448 
Intangible asset impairment 24,200 — — 
Loss on asset disposal 151 101 169 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:    
Accounts receivable 77,590 (13,213) (19,466)
Inventories 49,050 (9,439) (6,330)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (18,240) (1,813) 120 
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and accrued compensation (46,442) 3,775 13,677 
Other assets and liabilities 1,317 (6,121) (1,507)

Net cash provided by operating activities 42,881 45,007 45,082 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Capital expenditures (7,036) (16,077) (19,817)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash received (60,932) (28,077) (13,901)
Proceeds from asset disposals — — 30 

Net cash used in investing activities (67,968) (44,154) (33,688)

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Payment of debt, finance lease and other financing obligations (40,432) (1,894) (49,360)
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 85,941 — — 
Proceeds from debt issuance — 150,000 — 
Payment of deferred financing fees (856) (5,082) (1,502)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — 1,541 — 
Surrender of shares to pay withholding taxes (3,670) (1,022) (764)
Cash paid for contingent earn-out liabilities (2,927) (2,412) (3,000)
Borrowings under asset based loan facility 100,000 — 47,100 
Payments under asset based loan facility (60,000) (44,184) (2,916)

Net cash provided by (used in ) financing activities 78,056 96,947 (10,442)

Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents 79 23 (46)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 53,048 97,823 906 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 140,233 42,410 41,504 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 193,281 $ 140,233 $ 42,410 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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THE CHEFS’ WAREHOUSE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Note 1 - Operations and Basis of Presentation
 
Description of Business and Basis of Presentation
 
The financial statements include the consolidated accounts of The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. (the “Company”), and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The
Company’s quarterly periods end on the thirteenth Friday of each quarter. Every six to seven years the Company will add a fourteenth week to its fourth
quarter to more closely align its year end to the calendar year. The Company’s business consists of three operating segments: East Coast, Midwest and West
Coast that aggregate into one reportable segment, food product distribution, which is concentrated in the United States. The Company’s customer base
consists primarily of menu-driven independent restaurants, fine dining establishments, country clubs, hotels, caterers, culinary schools, bakeries,
patisseries, chocolateries, cruise lines, casinos and specialty food stores.
 
The COVID-19 Pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic (“Pandemic”) has had a material impact on the Company’s business and operations and those of its customers. In an effort to
limit the spread of the virus, federal, state and local governments implemented measures that resulted in the temporary closure of non-essential businesses
in many of the markets the Company serves, which has forced its customers in those markets to either transition their establishments to take-out service,
delivery service or temporarily cease operations. State and local governments began to ease these restrictions in mid-May, however, the severity of indoor
and outdoor dining restrictions have varied throughout the year depending on the extent of outbreaks and actions taken by the federal, state and local
governments. The duration and extent of restrictions imposed on the Company’s customers by federal, state and local governments is dependent on future
developments regarding the Pandemic including new information about the severity of the disease, trends in infection rates, and development of effective
medical treatments for the disease, among others. Due to the Pandemic’s adverse impact on our customers’ operations and purchasing behavior, the
Company incurred estimated non-cash charges of approximately $15,800 related to incremental bad debt expense and approximately $14,600 related to
incremental inventory obsolescence during the fifty-two weeks ended December 25, 2020. The adverse impact to the Company’s customer base and market
capitalization at the onset of the Pandemic were considered triggering events and, accordingly, the Company performed interim goodwill and long-lived
asset quantitative impairment tests during the first quarter of 2020, as described in Note 9 to these financial statements, the results of which indicated that
goodwill or long-lived assets were not impaired.

Consolidation
 
The consolidated financial statements include all the accounts of the Company and its direct and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Guidance Adopted in Fiscal 2020
 
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments: In June 2016 and as further amended in November 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (the “FASB”) issued guidance which requires entities to use a forward-looking expected loss model to estimate credit losses. It also requires
additional disclosure related to credit quality of trade and other receivables, including information related to management’s estimate of credit allowances.
The Company adopted this guidance on December 28, 2019. The Company analyzes customer creditworthiness, accounts receivable balances, payment
history, payment terms and historical bad debt levels when evaluating the adequacy of its allowance for doubtful accounts. In instances where a reserve has
been recorded for a particular customer, future sales to the customer are either conducted using cash-on-delivery terms or the account is closely monitored
so that agreed-upon payments are received prior to orders being released. A failure to pay results in held or cancelled orders. The Company also estimates
receivables that will ultimately be uncollectible based upon historical write-off experience. Management incorporates current macro-economic factors in
existence as of the balance sheet date that may impact the food-away-from-home industry and/or its customers, and specifically, beginning in the first
quarter of fiscal 2020, the impact of the Pandemic. Adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

Leases: In April 2020, the FASB issued guidance describing approaches entities should follow when accounting for lease concessions negotiated due to the
effects of the Pandemic. The Company has negotiated rent deferrals with certain lessors that do not materially modify the amount of consideration due
under the original contract terms. Consistent with the guidance, the
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Company elected to recognize such rent deferrals as accrued expenses. The Company continues to recognize expense during the deferral period.

Guidance Not Yet Adopted

Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes: In December 2019, the FASB issued guidance that eliminates certain exceptions related to the approach for
intraperiod tax allocations, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period and other simplifications and clarifications. The guidance
will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. The Company expects to adopt this guidance when
effective. Upon adoption, the Company may recognize additional income tax benefits during interim periods in which interim losses exceed full year
projections due to provisions in the guidance that remove loss limitation rules.

Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity: In August 2020, the FASB issued guidance that simplifies the accounting
models for financial instruments with characteristics of debt and equity. The amendments in the guidance result in fewer instances in which an embedded
conversion feature must be accounted for separately from its host contract. This guidance will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2021. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company expects to adopt this guidance on
December 26, 2020. The Company’s existing convertible debt instruments are not bifurcated and as such adoption will have no impact on ts consolidated
financial statements.

Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires it to make
estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates
are used in determining, among other items, the allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory valuation adjustments, self-insurance reserves for group
medical insurance, workers’ compensation insurance and automobile liability insurance, future cash flows associated with impairment testing for intangible
assets (including goodwill) and long-lived assets, useful lives for intangible assets, stock-based compensation, contingent earn-out liabilities and tax
reserves. Actual results could differ from estimates.

Note 2 – Reclassifications

On September 1, 2020, the Company received a comment letter from the staff of the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance (“SEC”) with respect to the
Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 27, 2019, requesting information regarding the Company’s presentation of food
processing costs and separate presentation of selling, general and administrative expenses from other operating expenses.

Food Processing Costs

The Company’s food processing costs represent the costs to cut and package products, primarily beef products, for sale to the Company’s customer base.
The costs associated with food processing are normally incurred immediately prior to shipment and thus, historically, the Company treated these costs as
handling expenses and presented them within operating expenses on its consolidated statements of operations. The Company has also separately disclosed
its food processing costs, excluding depreciation expense, in the notes to its annual consolidated financial statements. Upon further consideration and
discussions with the SEC, the Company concluded that food processing costs are more fairly presented as cost of sales and such costs should include
depreciation expense associated with equipment and facilities used in food processing activities. Accordingly, the Company has reclassified its food
processing costs from operating expenses to cost of sales. In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 99 “Materiality,” and SAB No. 108,
“Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements”, the Company evaluated the
impact of the reclassification and determined that the impact was not material to its consolidated financial statements for any prior annual or interim period.
See Note 3 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for a full description of the components of costs of sales and food processing costs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

In response to the SEC’s comment, the Company revised its presentation of total operating expenses such that selling, general and administrative expenses
are presented separately from other operating expenses. Furthermore, management has reclassified gain/loss from asset disposal, which was previously
presented as a non-operating expense, to other operating expenses. See Note 3 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for a full description of the
components of selling, general and
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administrative expenses and other expenses.

The aggregate impact of the above reclassifications on prior periods are as follows:
Fiscal Years Ended

December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
As Reported Reclass As Restated As Reported Reclass As Restated

Net sales $ 1,591,834 $ — $ 1,591,834 $ 1,444,609 $ — $ 1,444,609 
Cost of sales 1,185,481 19,785 1,205,266 1,077,562 18,131 1,095,693 

Gross profit 406,353 (19,785) 386,568 367,047 (18,131) 348,916 
Operating expenses 355,585 (355,585) — 318,289 (318,289) — 
Selling, general and administrative expenses — 329,542 329,542 — 298,102 298,102 
Other operating expenses — 6,359 6,359 — 2,225 2,225 

Operating income 50,768 (101) 50,667 48,758 (169) 48,589 
Interest expense 18,264 — 18,264 20,745 — 20,745 
Loss on asset disposal 101 (101) — 169 (169) — 

Income before income taxes 32,403 — 32,403 27,844 — 27,844 
Provision for income tax expense 8,210 — 8,210 7,442 — 7,442 

Net income $ 24,193 $ — $ 24,193 $ 20,402 $ — $ 20,402 

Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Revenue Recognition
 
Revenues from product sales are recognized at the point at which control of each product is transferred to the customer. The Company’s contracts contain
performance obligations which are satisfied when customers have physical possession of each product. The majority of customer orders are fulfilled within
a day and customer payment terms are typically 20 to 60 days from delivery, although in response to the Pandemic our credit terms have been temporarily
tightened to a maximum of 30 days for the majority of our customers. Shipping and handling activities are costs to fulfill the Company’s performance
obligations. These costs are expensed as incurred and presented within selling, general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of
operations. The Company offers certain sales incentives to customers in the form of rebates or discounts. These sales incentives are accounted as variable
consideration. The Company estimates these amounts based on the expected amount to be provided to customers and records a corresponding reduction in
revenue. The Company does not expect a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized. Sales tax billed to customers is not included
in revenue but rather recorded as a liability owed to the respective taxing authorities at the time the sale is recognized.

The following table presents the Company’s net sales disaggregated by principal product category:

December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
Center-of-the-Plate $ 533,813 48.0 % $ 711,980 44.7 % $ 629,038 43.5 %
Dry Goods 150,631 13.6 % 260,976 16.4 % 239,326 16.6 %
Pastry 135,913 12.2 % 221,041 13.9 % 199,990 13.8 %
Cheeses and Charcuterie 107,915 9.7 % 158,834 10.0 % 151,640 10.5 %
Produce 80,920 7.3 % 17,955 1.1 % 13,850 1.0 %
Dairy and Eggs 38,172 3.4 % 110,740 7.0 % 106,768 7.4 %
Oils and Vinegars 40,389 3.6 % 80,155 5.0 % 76,313 5.3 %
Kitchen Supplies 23,878 2.2 % 30,153 1.9 % 27,684 1.9 %
Total $ 1,111,631 100 % $ 1,591,834 100 % $ 1,444,609 100 %
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The Company determines its product category classification based on how the Company currently markets its products to its customers. The Company’s
definition of its principal product categories may differ from the way in which other companies present similar information.

Deferred Revenue

Certain customer arrangements in the Company’s direct-to-consumer business, prepaid gift plans and gift card purchases, result in deferred revenues when
cash payments are received in advance of performance. The Company recognizes revenue on its prepaid gift plans when control of each product is
transferred to the customer. Performance obligations under the Company’s prepaid gift plans are satisfied within a period of twelve months or less. Gift
cards issued by the Company do not have expiration dates. The Company records a liability for unredeemed gift cards at the time gift cards are sold and the
liability is reduced when the card is redeemed, the value of the card is escheated to the appropriate government agency, or through breakage. Gift card
breakage is estimated based on the Company’s historical redemption experience and expected trends in redemption patterns. Amounts recognized through
breakage represent the portion of the gift card liability that is not subject to unclaimed property laws and for which the likelihood of redemption is remote.
The Company recorded deferred revenues, reflected as accrued liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, of $2,558 and $1,345 as of
December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively.

Right of Return

The Company’s standard terms and conditions provide customers with a right of return if the goods received are not merchantable. Customers are either
issued a replacement order at no cost, or are issued a credit for the returned goods. The Company recorded a refund liability of $174 and $314 as
of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively. Refund liabilities are reflected as accrued liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets. The Company recognized a corresponding asset of $107 and $194 as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively, for its right to
recover products from customers on settling its refund liabilities. This asset is reflected as inventories, net on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Contract Costs

Sales commissions are expensed when incurred because the amortization period is one year or less. These costs are presented within selling, general and
administrative expenses on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
 
Cost of Sales

The Company records cost of sales based upon the net purchase price paid for a product, including applicable freight charges incurred to deliver the
product to the Company’s warehouse, and food processing costs. Food processing costs include but are not limited to direct labor and benefits, applicable
overhead and depreciation of equipment and facilities used in food processing activities. Food processing costs included in cost of sales were $18,682,
$19,785 and $18,131 for fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses include facilities costs, product shipping and handling costs, warehouse costs, and other selling, general and
administrative costs. Shipping and handling costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses were $78,152, $85,620 and $79,143 for fiscal
2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses includes expenses primarily related to changes in the fair value of the Company’s earn-out liabilities, gains and losses on asset
disposals, asset impairments and certain third-party deal costs incurred in connection with business acquisitions or financing arrangements.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of less than three months to be cash equivalents. The Company periodically
maintains balances at financial institutions which may exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits. The Company has not experienced any
losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant risks on its cash in bank accounts.
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Accounts Receivable
 
Accounts receivable consist of trade receivables from customers and are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is determined based upon a number of specific criteria, such as whether a customer has filed for or been placed into bankruptcy, has had accounts
referred to outside parties for collections or has had accounts significantly past due. The allowance also covers short paid invoices the Company deems to
be uncollectable as well as a portion of trade accounts receivable balances projected to become uncollectable based upon historic patterns and macro-
economic factors in existence as of the balance sheet date that may impact the food-away-from-home industry and/or its customers, and specifically,
beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2020, the impact of the Pandemic.

 Inventories
 
Inventories consist primarily of finished goods, food and related food products held for resale and are valued at the lower of cost or market. Our different
entities record inventory using a mixture of first-in, first-out and average cost, which we believe approximates first-in, first-out. The Company adjusts
inventory balances for excess and obsolete inventories to approximate their net realizable value.
 
Vendor Rebates and Other Promotional Incentives
 
The Company receives consideration and product purchase credits from certain vendors that the Company accounts for as a reduction of cost of sales.
There are several types of cash consideration received from vendors. The purchase incentive is primarily in the form of a specified amount per pound or per
case, or an amount for year-over-year growth. For the years ended December 25, 2020, December 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018, the recorded purchase
incentives totaled approximately $12,678, $21,769 and $19,731, respectively.
 
Concentrations of Credit Risks
 
Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash, temporary cash investments and trade receivables. The
Company’s policy is to deposit its cash and temporary cash investments with major financial institutions. The Company distributes its food and related
products to a customer base that consists primarily of leading menu-driven independent restaurants, fine dining establishments, country clubs, hotels,
caterers, culinary schools, bakeries, patisseries, chocolateries, cruise lines, casinos and specialty food stores. To reduce credit risk, the Company performs
ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial conditions. The Company generally does not require collateral. However, the Company, in certain
instances, has obtained personal guarantees from certain customers. There is no significant balance with any individual customer.
 
Equipment and Leasehold Improvements
 
Equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the
asset or the lease term.
 
Leases

The Company leases various distribution centers, office facilities, vehicles and equipment. The Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease at
contract inception. An arrangement is or contains a lease if the agreement identifies an asset, implicitly or explicitly, that the Company has the right to use
over a period of time. If an arrangement contains a lease, the Company classifies the lease as either an operating lease or as a finance lease based on the
five criteria defined in ASC 842.

Lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of the remaining lease payments over the lease term. The corresponding
right-of-use (“ROU”) asset is recognized for the same amount as the lease liability adjusted for any payments made at or before the commencement date,
any lease incentives received, and any initial direct costs. The Company’s lease agreements may include options to renew, extend or terminate the lease.
These clauses are included in the initial measurement of the lease liability when at lease commencement the Company is reasonably certain that it will
exercise such options. The discount rate used is based on the Company’s incremental borrowing rate since the implicit rate in the Company’s leases is not
readily determinable.

Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and presented within selling, general and administrative expenses on the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Finance lease ROU assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful life of the
asset or the lease term. Interest expense on the finance lease liability is recognized using the effective interest rate method and is presented within interest
expense on the Company’s consolidated
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statements of operations. Variable rent payments related to both operating and finance leases are expensed as incurred. The Company’s variable lease
payments primarily consist of real estate taxes, maintenance and usage charges. The Company made an accounting policy election to combine lease and
non-lease components (maintenance, taxes and insurance) when measuring lease liabilities for vehicle and equipment leases.

The Company has elected to exclude short-term leases from the recognition requirements of ASC 842. A lease is short-term if, at the commencement date,
it has a term of less than or equal to one year. Lease expense related to short-term leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Software Costs
 
The Company capitalizes certain computer software licenses and software implementation costs that are included in software costs in its consolidated
balance sheets. These costs were incurred in connection with developing or obtaining computer software for internal use if it has a useful life in excess of
one year, in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 350-40 “Internal-Use Software.” Subsequent additions, modifications or
upgrades to internal-use software are capitalized only to the extent that they allow the software to perform a task that it previously did not perform. Internal
use software is amortized on a straight-line basis over a three to seven year period. Capitalized costs include direct acquisitions as well as software and
software development acquired under capitalized leases and internal labor where appropriate. Capitalized software purchases and related development
costs, net of accumulated amortization, were $14,087 at December 25, 2020 and $15,203 at December 27, 2019.
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
 
Long-lived assets, other than goodwill, are reviewed for impairment in accordance with ASC 360-10-35-15, “Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets” which only requires testing whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. If
any indicators are present, a recoverability test is performed by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the net undiscounted cash flows expected to
be generated from the asset. If the net undiscounted cash flows do not exceed the carrying amount (i.e., the asset is not recoverable), an additional step is
performed that determines the fair value of the asset and the Company records an impairment, if any. The adverse impact to the Company’s customer base
and market capitalization at the onset of the Pandemic were considered triggering events during the first quarter of fiscal 2020, and accordingly, the
Company performed a long-lived asset recoverability test as of March 27, 2020 (more fully described in Note 9) the results of which indicated no
impairment. The Company has not recorded any impairment of long-lived assets in fiscal 2020, 2019 or 2018.
 
Convertible Debt

The Company evaluates debt instruments with embedded conversion features in accordance with ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging” and ASC 470
“Debt” both of which provide several criteria that determine whether a conversion feature must be bifurcated from its debt host and accounted as a separate
financial instrument. An entity is not required to bifurcate if the conversion feature is indexed to its own stock, meets all equity classification criteria and
does not contain a beneficial conversion feature. The Company determined that bifurcation of its convertible debt instruments was not required and
recognized the principal amount of these instruments as debt in its consolidated balance sheets.

Debt Issuance Costs
 
Certain up-front costs associated with the Company’s asset based loan facility are capitalized and included in other non-current assets in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets. The Company had $1,429 and $1,363 of such unamortized costs as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019,
respectively. Costs associated with the issuance of other debt instruments are capitalized and presented as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of
the underlying debt liability. The Company had $7,172 and $9,207 of such unamortized costs as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019,
respectively. These costs are amortized over the terms of the related debt instruments by the effective interest rate method. Amortization of debt issuance
costs was $3,426 for the fiscal year ended December 25, 2020, $2,168 for the fiscal year ended December 27, 2019 and $3,155 for the fiscal year ended
December 28, 2018, inclusive of a $1,081 write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees as a result of the Company’s term loan debt repricing.
 
Business Combinations

The Company accounts for acquisitions in accordance with ASC 805 “Business Combinations.” Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets at their estimated fair values, as of the acquisition date.
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The excess of the purchase price over the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Acquisition-related expenses are
recognized separately from the business combination and are expensed as incurred and presented in other operating expenses in the Company’s
consolidated results of operations. Results of operations are included in the Company’s financial statements from the date of acquisition.

Intangible Assets
 
The intangible assets recorded by the Company consist of customer relationships, covenants not to compete and trademarks which are amortized over their
useful lives on a schedule that approximates the pattern in which economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed. Intangible assets with finite lives
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any indicators are
present, a recoverability test is performed by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from
the asset. Undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the related assets are estimated over the assets’ useful lives based on updated projections. If
the evaluation indicates that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable, the potential impairment is measured based on a projected discounted
cash flow model. The adverse impact to the Company’s customer base and market capitalization at the onset of the Pandemic were considered triggering
events during the first quarter of fiscal 2020, and accordingly, the Company performed a long-lived asset recoverability test as of March 27, 2020 (more
fully described in Note 9) the results of which indicated no impairment.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company recorded a $24,200 impairment charge, $17,545 net of tax, to write-down the value of its Del Monte
and Bassian Farms trademarks. See Note 9 for more information. There have been no other events or changes in circumstances during fiscal 2020, 2019 or
2018, indicating that the carrying value of the Company’s finite-lived intangible assets are not recoverable.

Goodwill
 
Goodwill is the excess of the acquisition cost of businesses over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired in accordance with ASC 350, “Intangibles-
Goodwill and Other.” The Company’s business consists of three operating segments: East Coast, Midwest and West Coast and these operating segments
represent our reporting units. The Company evaluates the recoverability of goodwill at each of its reporting units annually in the fourth quarter, or more
frequently when circumstances indicate an impairment may have occurred. A goodwill impairment loss, if any, would be recognized for the amount by
which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeded its fair value. The Company has the option to evaluate goodwill impairment using a qualitative or
quantitative analysis.

The adverse impact to the Company’s customer base and market capitalization at the onset of the Pandemic were considered triggering events during the
first quarter of fiscal 2020, and accordingly, the Company performed an interim goodwill impairment test as of March 27, 2020 (more fully described in
Note 9) the results of which indicated no impairment.

For its annual goodwill impairment test performed during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company tested goodwill for impairment using a
quantitative analysis. The Company estimated the fair value of its reporting units using an income approach and determined the fair value of its reporting
units substantially exceeded their respective carry values. The Company’s income approach incorporates the use of a discounted cash flow methodology
that involves many management assumptions that are based upon future growth projections which include estimates for the duration of the Pandemic’s
impact on the Company’s customers. Assumptions include estimates of future revenue based upon budget projections and growth rates. The Company
develops estimates of future levels of gross and operating profits and projected capital expenditures. This methodology includes the use of estimated
discount rates based upon industry and competitor analysis as well as other factors. The Company also performed a reconciliation of its market
capitalization and the estimate of the aggregate fair value of its reporting units, including consideration of a control premium.

For the fiscal year ended December 27, 2019, the Company assessed the recoverability of goodwill using a qualitative analysis and determined that it is
more likely than not that the fair value of its reporting units exceeded their respective carry values. The qualitative analysis considered various factors
including macroeconomic conditions, market conditions, industry trends, cost factors and financial performance, among others.

There have been no events or changes in circumstances during fiscal 2020, 2019 or 2018, indicating that goodwill may be impaired.
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Employee Benefit Programs
 
The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan covering substantially all full-time employees (the “401(k) Plan”). The Company recognized expense
related to the 401(k) Plan totaling $720, $1,268 and $1,097, respectively, for fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018.
 
Income Taxes
 
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, “Income Taxes.” Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recorded to reflect the future
tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and their tax basis at each year-end. These amounts
are adjusted, as appropriate, to reflect enacted changes in tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse. The Company estimates
its ability to recover deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise. This evaluation considers several factors, including results of recent
operations, future taxable income, scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, and tax planning strategies. As of December 25, 2020 and December 27,
2019, the Company had valuation allowances of $2,261 and $907, respectively, relating to certain net operating losses that may not be realizable in the
future based on taxable income forecasts and certain state net operating loss limitations.

The Company follows certain provisions of ASC 740, “Income Taxes” which established a single model to address accounting for uncertain tax positions
and clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing a minimum recognition threshold that a tax position is required to meet before being
recognized in the financial statements. The Company evaluates uncertain tax positions, if any, by determining if it is more likely than not to be sustained
upon examination by the tax authorities. The Company records uncertain tax positions when it is estimable and probable that such liabilities have been
incurred. The Company, when required, will accrue interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. The Company releases
disproportionate tax effects from accumulated other comprehensive income as individual items are liquidated.
 
Commitments and Contingencies
 
The Company is subject to various claims and contingencies related to lawsuits, taxes and environmental matters, as well as commitments under
contractual and other commercial obligations. The Company recognizes liabilities for contingencies and commitments when a loss is probable and can be
reasonably estimated.
 
Contingent Earn-out Liabilities
 
The Company accounts for contingent consideration relating to business combinations as a liability and an increase to goodwill at the date of the
acquisition and continually remeasures the liability at each balance sheet date by recording changes in the fair value through the consolidated statements of
operations. The Company determines the fair value of contingent consideration based on future operating projections under various potential scenarios,
including the use of Monte Carlo simulations, and weighs the probability of these outcomes. The ultimate settlement of contingent earn-out liabilities
relating to business combinations may be for amounts which are materially different from the amounts initially recorded and may cause volatility in the
Company’s results of operations.
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 
The Company measures stock-based compensation at the grant date based on the fair value of the award. Restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) and
performance share units are valued based on the fair value of the stock on the grant date. The related compensation expense is recognized over the service
period on a straight-line basis and reduced by forfeitures when they occur. Compensation expense on performance share units reflects the estimated
probable outcome at the end of the performance period. The fair value of stock options and RSAs with market conditions is determined based on a Monte
Carlo simulation in order to simulate a range of possible future stock prices for the Company’s common stock. For awards subject to graded vesting, the
Company ensures that the compensation expense recognized is at least equal to the vested portion of the award.
 
Self-Insurance Reserves
 
The Company maintains a self-insured group medical program. The program contains individual stop loss thresholds of $275 per incident and aggregate
stop loss thresholds based upon the average number of employees enrolled in the program throughout the year. The amount in excess of the self-insured
levels is fully insured by third party insurers. Liabilities associated with this program are estimated in part by considering historical claims experience and
medical cost trends. Projections of future loss expenses are inherently uncertain because of the random nature of insurance claims occurrences and
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could be significantly affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these assumptions and historical trends.
 
The Company maintains an insurance program for its automobile liability and workers’ compensation insurance subject to deductibles or self-insured
retentions of $500 per occurrence. The amounts in excess of the deductibles are fully insured by third party insurers. Liabilities associated with this
program are estimated in part by considering historical claims experience and cost trends. Projections of future loss expenses are inherently uncertain
because of the random nature of insurance claims occurrences and could be significantly affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these
assumptions and historical trends.
 
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

The Company accounts for certain assets and liabilities at fair value. The Company categorizes each of its fair value measurements in one of the following
three levels based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety:
 
Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.

 
Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities include the following:

a) quoted prices for similar assets in active markets;
b) quoted prices for identical or similar assets in inactive markets;
c) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset; and
d) inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

If the asset has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset.
 
Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable (i.e., supported by little or no market activity) and significant to the fair value measure.

Note 4 – Net Income per Share
 
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

 Fiscal Year Ended
 December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
Net (loss) income per share:    
Basic $ (2.46) $ 0.82 $ 0.71 
Diluted $ (2.46) $ 0.81 $ 0.70 
Weighted average common shares:    
Basic 33,716,157 29,532,342 28,703,265 
Diluted 33,716,157 30,073,338 29,678,919 
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Reconciliation of net income per common share:

 Fiscal Year Ended
 December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
Numerator:    
Net (loss) income $ (82,903) $ 24,193 $ 20,402 
Add effect of dilutive securities:    

Interest on convertible notes, net of tax — 207 362 
Adjusted net (loss) income $ (82,903) $ 24,400 $ 20,764 
Denominator:    
Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 33,716,157 29,532,342 28,703,265 
Dilutive effect of stock options and unvested common shares — 211,050 270,520 
Dilutive effect of convertible notes — 329,946 705,134 
Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding 33,716,157 30,073,338 29,678,919 

Potentially dilutive securities that have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per common share because the effect is anti-dilutive are as
follows:

 Fiscal Year Ended
 December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
Restricted share awards 505,568 132,861 42 
Stock options 115,639 — — 
Convertible notes 3,484,788 76,384 — 

 
Note 5 – Fair Value Measurements
 
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value
 
The Company’s contingent earn-out liabilities are measured at fair value. These liabilities were estimated using Level 3 inputs. The fair value of contingent
consideration was determined based on a probability-based approach which includes projected results, percentage probability of occurrence and the
application of a discount rate to present value the payments. A significant change in projected results, discount rate, or probabilities of occurrence could
result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement. The Pandemic’s impact on the Company’s revenue growth and profitability resulted in a
significant reduction in the fair value of its contingent earn-out liabilities. The Company the value of Changes in the fair value of contingent earn-out
liabilities are reflected in other operating expenses on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 contingent earn-out liabilities:

Del Monte Fells Point Bassian Sid Wainer
Other

Acquisitions Total
Balance December 28, 2018 $ — $ 3,649 $ — $ — $ 1,441 $ 5,090 

Acquisition value — — 7,450 — 479 7,929 
Cash payments (200) (3,000) — — (1,000) (4,200)
Changes in fair value 200 3,895 507 — 1,277 5,879 

Balance December 27, 2019 — 4,544 7,957 — 2,197 14,698 
Acquisition value — — — 2,081 1,383 3,464 
Cash payments — — (2,250) — (1,677) (3,927)
Changes in fair value — (4,544) (4,631) (1,570) (734) (11,479)

Balance December 25, 2020 $ — $ — $ 1,076 $ 511 $ 1,169 $ 2,756 

In May 2019, the Company fully settled its Del Monte earn-out liability for $200. The long-term portion of contingent earn-out liabilities
was $2,556 and $7,957 as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively, and are reflected as other
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liabilities and deferred credits on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The remaining short-term portion of earn-out liabilities are reflected
as accrued liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Contingent earn-out liability payments in excess of the acquisition date fair value of
the underlying contingent earn-out liability are classified as operating activities on the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows and all other such
payments are classified as financing activities.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

 The carrying amounts reported in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets for accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value due to
the immediate to short-term nature of these financial instruments. The fair values of the asset based loan facility and term loan approximated their book
values as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019 as these instruments had variable interest rates that reflected current market rates available to the
Company.

The following table presents the carrying value and fair value of the Company’s convertible notes (more fully described in Note 10). In estimating the fair
value of its convertible notes, the Company utilized Level 3 inputs including prevailing market interest rates to estimate the debt portion of the instrument
and a Black Scholes valuation model to estimate the fair value of the conversion options. The Black Scholes model utilizes the market price of the
Company’s common stock, estimates of the stock’s volatility and the prevailing risk free interest rate in calculating the fair value estimates.

 December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Convertible Senior Notes $ 150,000 $ 163,204 $ 150,000 $ 165,000 
Convertible Unsecured Note $ 4,000 $ 4,290 $ 4,000 $ 4,282 

 
Note 6 – Acquisitions
 
Sid Wainer

On January 27, 2020, pursuant to an asset purchase agreement, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets, including certain real-estate assets, of
Sid Wainer & Son (“Sid Wainer”), a specialty food and produce distributor in New England. The final purchase price was approximately $44,081,
consisting of $46,450 paid in cash at closing, partially offset by a $2,369 net working capital true-up. The Company will also pay additional contingent
consideration, if earned, in the form of an earn-out amount which could total $4,000 over a two-year period. The payment of the earn-out liability is subject
to the successful achievement of certain gross profit targets. The Company estimated the fair value of this contingent earn-out liability to be $511 and
$2,081 as of December 25, 2020 and January 27, 2020, respectively.

Trademarks were valued at fair value using Level 3 inputs and are being amortized over 15 years. Goodwill for the Sid Wainer acquisition will be
amortized over 15 years for tax purposes. The goodwill recorded primarily reflects the value of acquiring an established specialty food and produce
distributor to leverage the Company’s existing products in the markets served by Sid Wainer, to supply Sid Wainer’s produce offerings to the Company’s
metro New York market and any intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition. The Company reflected net sales of $89,638 and an operating
loss of $9,598 for the fifty-two weeks ended December 25, 2020 in its consolidated statement of operations related to the Sid Wainer acquisition.

The table below presents unaudited pro forma consolidated income statement information of the Company as if the Sid Wainer acquisition had occurred on
December 29, 2018. The pro forma results were prepared from financial information obtained from the sellers of the business, as well as information
obtained during the due diligence process associated with the acquisition. The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of the Company’s results
of operations had the acquisition been completed on the above date, nor is it necessarily indicative of the Company’s future results. The pro forma
information does not reflect any cost savings from operating efficiencies or synergies that could result from the acquisition, any incremental costs for Sid
Wainer transitioning to become a public company, and also does not reflect additional revenue opportunities following the acquisition. The pro forma
information reflects amortization and depreciation of the Sid Wainer acquisition at their respective fair values.
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Fiscal Years Ended
December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019

Net sales $ 1,124,409 $ 1,814,304 
(Loss) income before income taxes $ (124,611) $ 34,445 

Bassian

On February 25, 2019, pursuant to an asset purchase agreement, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Bassian Farms, Inc. and certain
affiliated entities (“Bassian”), a specialty center-of-the-plate distributor based in northern California. The aggregate purchase price for the transaction was
approximately $31,777, including $27,990 paid in cash at closing and the issuance of a $4,000 unsecured convertible note, partially offset by the settlement
of a net working capital true-up. The Company will also pay additional contingent consideration, if earned, in the form of an earn-out amount which could
total $9,000 over a four-year period. The payment of the contingent earn-out liability is subject to the successful achievement of certain gross profit targets.

Customer relationships, non-compete agreements and trademarks are valued at fair value using Level 3 inputs and are being amortized
over 15, 5 and 10 years, respectively. Goodwill for the Bassian acquisition is being amortized over 15 years for tax purposes. The goodwill recorded
primarily reflects the value of acquiring an established center-of-the-plate distributor to grow the Company's center-of-the-plate product category in the
West Coast region, as well as any intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition.

The table below sets forth the purchase price allocation of these and other acquisitions:

Sid Wainer Bassian Other Acquisitions
Current assets $ 22,960 $ 6,657 $ 6,795 
Customer relationships — 15,530 6,638 
Trademarks 3,500 4,610 700 
Non-compete agreements — 1,000 — 
Goodwill 11,571 13,065 5,892 
Fixed assets 19,425 856 308 
Other assets — 10 — 
Right-of-use assets 8,259 — 1,019 
Lease liabilities (8,259) — (1,019)
Current liabilities (11,294) (2,501) (1,300)
Earn-out liability (2,081) (7,450) (1,383)
Other long-term liabilities — — (499)
Total consideration $ 44,081 $ 31,777 $ 17,151 

The Company recognized professional fees of $435 and $235 in other operating expenses related to acquisitions in fiscal 2020 and 2019, respectively.
During the years ended December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, the Company also paid approximately $16,851 and $300, respectively, on other
strategic acquisitions.

Note 7 – Inventories
 
Inventories consist primarily of finished product. Our entities record inventory using a mixture of first-in, first-out and average cost, which we believe
approximates first-in, first-out. Inventory is reflected net of adjustments for shrinkage, excess and obsolescence totaling $9,013 and $1,937 at December 25,
2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively.

65



Note 8 – Equipment, Leasehold Improvements and Software
 
Equipment, leasehold improvements and software as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019 consisted of the following:

 Useful Lives December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019
Land Indefinite $ 5,020 $ 1,170 
Buildings 20 years 15,685 1,360 
Machinery and equipment 5 - 10 years 24,900 21,718 
Computers, data processing and other equipment 3 - 7 years 14,207 12,686 
Software 3 - 7 years 33,063 29,305 
Leasehold improvements 1- 40 years 68,747 70,903 
Furniture and fixtures 7 years 3,412 3,309 
Vehicles 5 - 7 years 21,873 6,410 
Other 7 years 88 95 
Construction-in-process  8,115 9,200 
  195,110 156,156 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization  (79,662) (63,310)
Equipment, leasehold improvements and software, net  $ 115,448 $ 92,846 

Construction-in-process at December 25, 2020 and at December 27, 2019 related primarily to the implementation of the Company’s Enterprise Resource
Planning (“ERP”) system. The rollout of its ERP system will continue through fiscal 2021. The net book value of equipment financed under finance leases
at December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019 was $14,705 and $3,905, respectively. No interest expense was capitalized during the fiscal years ended
December 25, 2020, December 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018.

The components of depreciation and amortization expense were as follows:

 Fiscal Year Ended
 December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
Depreciation expense $ 14,984 $ 9,535 $ 7,142 
Software amortization $ 4,790 $ 3,793 $ 3,154 

Note 9 – Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
 
The Pandemic has had a material impact on the Company’s customers. In an effort to limit the spread of the virus, federal, state and local governments
implemented measures that resulted in the temporary closure of non-essential businesses in many of the markets the Company serves, which forced its
customers in those markets to either transition their establishments to take-out service, delivery service or temporarily cease operations. Beginning in mid-
March, these actions led to a significant decrease in demand for the Company’s products. The adverse impact to the Company’s customer base and market
capitalization at the onset of the Pandemic were considered triggering events during the first quarter of fiscal 2020, and accordingly, the Company
performed interim goodwill and long-lived asset quantitative impairment tests as of March 27, 2020.

Interim Goodwill Impairment Test

The Company estimated the fair value of its reporting units using an income approach that incorporates the use of a discounted cash flow model that
involves many management assumptions that are based upon future growth projections which include estimates of the Pandemic’s impact on our business.
Assumptions include estimates of future revenues, growth rates which include estimates for the duration of the Pandemic’s impact on the Company’s
customers, estimates of future levels of gross profit and operating profit, projected capital expenditures and discount rates based upon industry and
competitor analyses. On the basis of these assumptions, the Company determined that the fair values of its reporting units exceeded the net carry values of
their assets and liabilities. As such, goodwill was not impaired as of March 27, 2020.

Interim Long-lived Impairment Test

Long-lived assets, including other intangible assets, were tested for recoverability at the asset group level. The Company
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estimated the net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the asset group over the expected useful of the asset group’s primary asset. Key
assumptions include future revenues, growth rates, estimates of future levels of gross profit and operating profit and projected capital expenditures
necessary to maintain the operating capacity of each asset group. On the basis of these assumptions, the Company determined that the undiscounted cash
flows for each of the Company’s asset groups exceeded their respective carry values and therefore long-lived assets were not impaired as of March 27,
2020.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company performed its annual goodwill impairment test, the results of which indicated that fair values of its
reporting units exceeded their respective net carry values and as such goodwill was not impaired.

Also during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company committed to a plan to shift its brand strategy to leverage its Allen Brothers brand in its west
coast region and determined its Del Monte, Ports Seafood and Bassian Farms trademarks did not fit the Company’s long-term strategic objectives. This
brand transition is planned to begin in the second quarter of fiscal 2021. The Company assessed these trademarks for impairment and used the relief of
royalty method to determine fair value. Significant assumptions used include future sales forecasts, royalty rates and discount rates. As a result of the
assessment, the Company recorded a $24,200 impairment charge, $17,545 net of tax, to write-down the value of its Del Monte and Bassian Farms
trademarks. There were no other triggering events during fiscal 2020 that would require the Company to test the recoverability of its long-lived assets.

The impacts of the Pandemic on the Company’s business are uncertain and will depend on future developments, and as such, it is possible that another
triggering event could occur that under certain circumstances could cause the Company to recognize an impairment charge in the future.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are presented as follows:

Carrying amount as of December 28, 2018 $ 184,280 
Acquisitions 13,424 
Foreign currency translation 39 
Carrying amount as of December 27, 2019 197,743 
Acquisitions 17,104 
Foreign currency translation 17 
Carrying amount as of December 25, 2020 $ 214,864 

Other intangible assets as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019 consisted of the following:

Weighted Average
Remaining Amortization Period

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net Amount

December 25, 2020    
Customer relationships 128 months $ 141,679 $ (55,135) $ 86,544 
Non-compete agreements 37 months 8,579 (7,752) 827 
Trademarks 209 months 44,520 (20,174) 24,346 
Total $ 194,778 $ (83,061) $ 111,717 
December 27, 2019     
Customer relationships 134 months $ 135,226 $ (45,454) $ 89,772 
Non-compete agreements 49 months 8,579 (7,479) 1,100 
Trademarks 193 months 64,505 (16,626) 47,879 
Total $ 208,310 $ (69,559) $ 138,751 

Amortization expense for other intangibles was $13,502, $12,663 and $11,910 for the fiscal years ended December 25, 2020, December 27, 2019 and
December 28, 2018, respectively.
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As of December 25, 2020, estimated amortization expense for other intangible assets for each of the next five fiscal years and thereafter is as follows: 

2021 $ 12,163 
2022 10,901 
2023 9,872 
2024 9,528 
2025 9,369 
Thereafter 59,884 
Total $ 111,717 

Note 10 – Debt Obligations
 
Debt obligations as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019 consisted of the following:

December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019
Senior secured term loan $ 201,553 $ 238,129 
Convertible senior notes 150,000 150,000 
Asset-based loan facility 40,000 — 
Finance lease and other financing obligations 15,798 3,905 
Convertible unsecured note 4,000 4,000 
Deferred finance fees and original issue discount (7,172) (9,207)
Total debt obligations 404,179 386,827 
Less: current installments (6,095) (721)
Total debt obligations excluding current installments $ 398,084 $ 386,106 

Maturities of the Company’s debt, excluding finance leases, for each of the next five years and thereafter at December 25, 2020 are as follows:

2021 $ 1,712 
2022 72,878 
2023 5,712 
2024 151,712 
2025 163,539 
Thereafter — 
Total $ 395,553 

 
Senior Secured Term Loan Credit Facility

On June 22, 2016, the Company refinanced its debt structure by entering into a credit agreement (the “Term Loan Credit Agreement”) with a group of
lenders for which Jefferies Finance LLC acts as administrative agent and collateral agent. The Term Loan Credit Agreement provides for a senior secured
term loan B facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) in an aggregate amount of $305,000 (the loans outstanding under the Term Loan Facility, the “Term
Loans”) maturing on June 22, 2022. Additionally, the Term Loan Facility includes an accordion which permits the Company to request that the lenders
extend additional Term Loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $50,000 (less the aggregate amount of certain indebtedness incurred to finance
acquisitions) plus an unlimited amount subject to the Company’s Total Leverage Ratio not exceeding 4.90:1.00 on a pro forma basis. Borrowings were used
to repay the Company’s senior secured notes, as well as the prior term loan and revolving credit facility. Remaining funds were used for capital
expenditures, permitted acquisitions, working capital and general corporate purposes of the Company.

On December 13, 2017, the Company completed a repricing of the Term Loan Facility to reduce Applicable Rate (as defined in the Term Loan Credit
Agreement) from 475 basis points to 400 basis points over the London Inter-bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). In connection with the repricing, the Company
paid debt financing costs of $761 which were capitalized as deferred financing charges.

68



On July 6, 2018, the Company made a $47,100 prepayment and was no longer required to make quarterly amortization payments on the Term Loans. On
November 16, 2018, the Company completed a repricing of the Term Loan Facility to reduce the Applicable Rate from 400 basis points to 350 basis points
over LIBOR. In connection with the repricing, the Company paid debt financing costs of $626 which were capitalized as deferred financing charges. The
Company wrote off unamortized deferred financing fees of $1,081 as a result of this repricing.

On June 8, 2020, the Company entered into a sixth amendment (the “Sixth Amendment”) to its Term Loan Credit Agreement. Upon the consent of the
lenders, the Sixth Amendment converted a portion of the term loans then outstanding of $238,129 (the “Term Loans”) into a new tranche of term loans (the
“2025 Tranche”) which among other things extended the maturity date by three years and increased the fixed-rate portion of interest charged by 200 basis
points. The portion of the Term Loans that did not convert (the “2022 Tranche”) retained the maturity date and interest rate in effect prior to the Sixth
Amendment. The Company made a prepayment of $35,719 on the 2025 Tranche immediately after it was established.
The following table summarizes the key terms of the Term Loans as of December 25, 2020:

Term Loans Principal Outstanding Interest Rate Maturity Date Scheduled Principal Payments
2022 Tranche $ 31,166 LIBOR + 3.5% June 22, 2022 none
2025 Tranche $ 170,387 LIBOR + 5.5% June 22, 2025 0.25% per quarter

The 2025 Tranche has a springing maturity date of June 22, 2024 if, as of that date, the Company’s 1.875% convertible senior notes maturing on December
1, 2024 have not been repaid or refinanced by debt having a maturity date on or after December 23, 2025. The Sixth Amendment was accounted for as a
debt modification. The Company incurred lender fees of $856 which were capitalized as debt issuance costs. Third-party transaction costs of $1,233 were
expensed as incurred.

The Sixth Amendment introduced a minimum liquidity covenant which requires the Company to maintain at least $35,000 of liquidity as of the last day of
any fiscal quarter where EBITDA, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is less than $10,000. The Company had minimum liquidity, as defined in the Credit
Agreement, of $248,852 as of December 25, 2020.

The interest charged on the Term Loans, will be equal to a spread plus, at the Company’s option, either the Base Rate (as defined in the Term Loan Credit
Agreement) or LIBOR for one, two, three, six or (if consented to by the lenders) twelve-month interest periods chosen by the Company. The weighted
average interest rate on the Term Loans at December 25, 2020 was 5.3%.

The Term Loan Facility contains affirmative covenants, negative covenants and events of default customary for a term loan B facility of this type, as more
particularly described in the Term Loan Credit Agreement. As of December 25, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants under the
Term Loan Credit Agreement.

Asset-Based Loan Facility

On June 29, 2018, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”) with a group of lenders for which BMO Harris Bank, N.A.
acts as administrative agent. The ABL Credit Agreement provides for an asset-based loan facility (the “ABL”) in the aggregate amount of up to $150,000.
Borrowings under the ABL will be used, and are expected to be used, for capital expenditures, permitted acquisitions, working capital and general
corporate purposes of the Company. Availability under the ABL will be limited to a borrowing base equal to the lesser of: (i) the aggregate amount of
commitments or (ii) the sum of specified percentages of eligible receivables and eligible inventory, minus certain availability reserves. The co-borrowers
under the ABL are entitled on one or more occasions, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to request an increase in the commitments under the
ABL in an aggregate principal amount of up to $25,000. The ABL matures on the earlier of June 29, 2023 and 90 days prior to the maturity date of the
Company’s Term Loan Facility. The Company incurred transaction costs of $877 which were capitalized as deferred financing fees to be amortized over
the term of the ABL.

The interest rate charged on borrowing under the ABL is equal to a spread plus, at the Company’s option, either the Base Rate (as defined in the ABL
Credit Agreement) or LIBOR (except for swingline loans) for one, two, three, six or (if consented to by the lenders) twelve-month, interest periods chosen
by the Company. The Company will pay certain recurring fees with respect to the ABL, including fees on unused lender commitments. The interest rate on
the ABL at December 25, 2020 was 1.9%.

The ABL Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative covenants, negative covenants and events of default as more particularly described in the ABL
Credit Agreement. The Company is required to comply with a minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of 1:1 if the amount of availability under
the ABL falls below $10,000 or 10% of the borrowing base.
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As of December 25, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants and the Company had reserved $20,141 of the ABL for the issuance of
letters of credit. As of December 25, 2020, funds totaling $50,282 were available for borrowing under the ABL.

Convertible Senior Notes
 
On November 22, 2019, the Company issued $150,000 aggregate principal amount of 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes (the “Senior Notes”). The Senior
Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of November 22, 2019 (the “Indenture”), between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company, N.A., as trustee. Approximately $43,225 of the net proceeds were used to repay all outstanding borrowings under the ABL and the
Company intends to use the remainder for working capital and general corporate purposes, which may include future acquisitions. The Company incurred
transaction costs of approximately $5,082 which were capitalized as deferred financing fees to be amortized over the term of the Senior Notes.

The Senior Notes bear interest of 1.875% per annum payable semiannually in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each year, beginning on June 1, 2020.
At any time before the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date, the Senior Notes will be convertible at the
option of holders into shares of the Company’s common stock, together with cash in lieu of any fractional share, at an initial conversion price of
approximately $44.20 per share. The conversion price is subject to adjustments upon the occurrence of certain events. The Senior Notes will mature on
December 1, 2024, unless earlier converted or repurchased in accordance with their terms.

The Company may not redeem the Senior Notes at its option prior to maturity. In addition, if the Company undergoes a fundamental change, as described
in the Indenture, holders may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or part of their Senior Notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Senior Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest up to, but excluding, the required repurchase date.

Convertible Unsecured Note

On February 25, 2019, the Company issued a $4,000 convertible unsecured note (the “Unsecured Note”), maturing on June 29, 2023, to Bassian Farms,
Inc. (the “Holder”) as partial consideration in the Bassian acquisition. The interest rate charged on the Unsecured Note is 4.5% per annum and increases to
5.0% after the two-year anniversary of the closing date. The Company may, in certain instances beginning eighteen months after issuance of the Unsecured
Note, redeem the Unsecured Note in whole or in part for cash or convert the Unsecured Note into shares of the Company’s common stock at the conversion
price of $43.93 per share. After the two-year anniversary of the closing date, the Holder may convert the Unsecured Note into shares of the Company’s
common stock at the conversion price. Upon a change of control event, the Holder may convert the Unsecured Note into shares of the Company’s common
stock at the conversion price or redeem the Unsecured Note for cash.

Note 11 – Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock Purchase Rights

On March 22, 2020, the Company’s board of directors approved a limited duration Preferred Stock Purchase Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement”).
Under the Rights Agreement, the board of directors approved a dividend of one preferred share purchase right (a “Right”) for each share outstanding share
of the Company’s common stock to purchase one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock of the Company at a price of $40.00 per Unit of
Preferred Stock, subject to adjustment as provided in the Rights Agreement. The Rights will expire on March 21, 2021, unless the Rights are earlier
redeemed or exchanged by the Company or upon the occurrence of certain transactions.

Public Common Stock Offering

On May 14, 2020, the Company completed a public offering of 5,769,231 shares of its common stock at a price of $13.00 per share to the underwriters, to
be reoffered by the underwriters at variable prices per share, which resulted in net proceeds of approximately $74,691 after deducting underwriters’ fees,
commissions and transaction expenses. In addition, the Company granted a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 865,384 shares of its common
stock at a price of $13.00 per share to the underwriters, to be reoffered by the underwriters at variable prices per share. The option was fully exercised on
June 2, 2020 and resulted in additional proceeds of $11,250.
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Conversion of Convertible Subordinated Notes

On July 25, 2018, the holders of the $36,750 principal amount of convertible subordinated notes that were issued in connection with the Company’s
acquisition of Del Monte Capitol Meat Company converted these notes and related accrued interest of $265 into 1,246,272 shares of the Company’s
common stock.

Equity Incentive Plan
 
On May 17, 2019, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2019 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”). Concurrently, the 2011 Omnibus
Equity Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”) was terminated and any shares remaining available for new grants under the 2011 Plan share reserve were
extinguished. The purpose of the 2019 Plan is to promote the interests of the Company and its stockholders by (i) attracting and retaining key officers,
employees and directors of, and consultants to, the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates; (ii) motivating such individuals by means of performance-
related incentives to achieve long-range performance goals; (iii) enabling such individuals to participate in the long-term growth and financial success of
the Company; (iv) encouraging ownership of stock in the Company by such individuals; and (v) linking their compensation to the long-term interests of the
Company and its stockholders.

The 2019 Plan is administered by the Compensation and Human Capital Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors and allows for the
issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), RSAs, restricted share units, performance awards, or other stock-based awards. Stock option
exercise prices are fixed by the Committee but shall not be less than the fair market value of a common share on the date of the grant of the option, except
in the case of substitute awards. Similarly, the grant price of an SAR may not be less than the fair market value of a common share on the date of the grant.
The Committee will determine the expiration date of each stock option and SAR, but in no case shall the stock option or SAR be exercisable after the
expiration of 10 years from the date of the grant. The 2019 Plan provides for 2,600,000 shares available for grant. As of December 25, 2020, there were
1,562,724 shares available for grant.
 
Stock compensation expense was $9,292, $4,399 and $4,094 for the fiscal years ended December 25, 2020, December 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018,
respectively. The related tax benefit for stock-based compensation was $133, $883 and $864 for the fiscal years ended December 25, 2020, December 27,
2019 and December 28, 2018, respectively.

The following table reflects the activity of RSAs during the fiscal year ended December 25, 2020:
Time-based Performance-based Market-based

Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Date Fair
Value Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Date Fair
Value Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Date Fair
Value

Unvested at December 27, 2019 286,917 $ 29.94 426,740 $ 26.01 26,952 $ 30.16 
Granted 799,371 13.91 187,806 30.85 30,318 27.70 
Vested (167,883) 27.88 (144,556) 20.36 — — 
Forfeited (17,087) 28.73 (469,990) 30.35 (30,318) 27.70 
Unvested at December 25, 2020 901,318 $ 16.14 — $ — 26,952 $ 30.16 

The fair value of RSAs vested during the fiscal years ended December 25, 2020, December 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018, was $8,109, $3,742 and
$2,936, respectively.

These awards are a mix of time-, market- and performance-based grants awarded to key employees and non-employee directors that generally vest over a
range of periods up to four-years. The market- and performance-based RSAs generally cliff vest, if at all, after the conclusion of a three-year performance
period and vesting is subject to the award recipient’s continued service to the Company as of the vesting date. The number of performance-based RSAs that
ultimately vest is based on the Company’s attainment of certain profitability and return on invested capital targets.

During fiscal 2019, the Company awarded market-based RSAs that vest based on the Company’s attainment of an average closing trade price of the
Company’s common stock of $39.86 per share, based on an average of 20 consecutive trading days. The grant date fair value of these market-based
performance awards was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation in order to simulate a range of possible future stock prices. Key assumptions used
included a risk-free interest rate of 2.2% and expected volatility of 44.6%.
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company modified its 2018 performance-awards and certain 2018 time-based awards such that they vested on
December 17, 2020. The modifications affected seventeen employees and resulted in incremental stock compensation expense of $1,999. Concurrent with
these modifications, the Company also cancelled its 2020 and 2019 performance-based awards and its 2020 market-based equity awards.

At December 25, 2020, the total unrecognized compensation cost for the Company’s unvested RSAs was $9,523 to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of approximately 1.9 years. Of this total, $9,180 related to RSAs with time-based vesting provisions to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 1.9 years and $343 related to RSAs with performance- or market-based vesting provisions to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.5
years.

The following table summarizes stock option activity during the fiscal year ended December 25, 2020:

Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual

Term (in years)
Outstanding December 27, 2019 115,639 $ 20.23 $ 2,051 6.2
Granted — — 
Exercised — — 
Forfeited — — 
Outstanding December 25, 2020 115,639 $ 20.23 $ 423 5.2
Exercisable at December 25, 2020 115,639 20.23 $ 423 5.2

The Company issues new shares upon the exercise of stock options. The Company recognized expense of zero, $114 and $601 on stock options during the
fiscal years ended December 25, 2020, December 27, 2019 and December 28, 2018, respectively. These awards fully vested during fiscal 2019. No
compensation expense related to the Company’s RSAs or stock options has been capitalized.

Note 12 – Leases
 
 The components of net lease cost for the fiscal year ended December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019 were as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019

Operating lease cost $ 27,521 $ 27,415 
Finance lease cost:

Amortization of right-of-use asset 4,166 308 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 552 96 

Total finance lease cost $ 4,718 $ 404 
Short-term lease cost 2,475 2,143 
Variable lease cost 1,990 2,707 
Sublease income (96) (514)

Total lease cost, net $ 36,608 $ 32,155 

Total rent expense for operating leases for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2018 was $29,202. Total depreciation expense for finance leases for the
fiscal years ended December 28, 2018 was $52.
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The maturities of the Company’s lease liabilities for each of the next five fiscal years and thereafter at December 25, 2020 were as follows:

Operating Leases Finance Leases
Related Party Real

Estate
Third Party Real

Estate
Vehicles and
Equipment Total

Vehicles and
Equipment

2021 $ 499 $ 14,118 $ 9,925 $ 24,542 $ 4,905 
2022 509 13,518 8,160 22,187 3,814 
2023 387 12,462 5,751 18,600 2,942 
2024 — 11,418 2,190 13,608 2,411 
2025 — 10,457 1,039 11,496 1,880 
Thereafter — 87,307 — 87,307 1,307 
Total $ 1,395 $ 149,280 $ 27,065 $ 177,740 $ 17,259 

Less interest (51,440) (1,461)
Present value $ 126,300 $ 15,798 

Supplemental balance sheet information related to finance leases was as follows:

Balance Sheet Location December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019
Short-term finance lease liabilities Current portion of long-term debt $ 4,383 $ 721 
Long-term finance lease liabilities Long-term debt, net of current portion $ 11,415 $ 3,184 

At December 25, 2020, the weighted-average lease term for operating and finance leases was 10.3 years and 4.5 years, respectively. At December 25, 2020,
the weighted-average discount rate for operating and finance leases was 6.3% and 3.7%, respectively.

As of December 25, 2020, the Company is contractually obligated to make payments of approximately $30,174, related to a distribution facility that has not
commenced. Accordingly, the Company has not recognized ROU assets or lease liabilities associated with this lease.

Note 13 – Income Taxes

In response to the Pandemic, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was signed into law on March 27, 2020. The
legislation provides temporary changes to the extent to which companies can carryback net operating losses, changes to interest expense deduction
limitations, raised the corporate charitable contribution deduction limitation to 25% of taxable income and other tax relief provisions. In December 2020
the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, was signed into law, however, its provisions did not have a material impact on the Company.

The Company’s effective income tax rate was 32.9% and 25.3% for the fifty-two weeks ended December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively.
The higher effective tax rate in the current fiscal year is primarily related to the Company’s current net loss forecast for fiscal 2020 which, under the
CARES Act, allows the Company to claim Federal tax refunds against prior year taxes paid, including taxes paid in fiscal 2015 and 2017, both of which
were at statutory tax rates of 35%. The Company’s income tax provision reflects the impact of an expected income tax refund receivable of $21,250 as of
December 25, 2020 which is reflected in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
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The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018

Current income tax (benefit) expense:    
Federal $ (21,877) $ 4,003 $ 2,945 
State (408) 2,144 1,943 

Total current income tax (benefit) expense (22,285) 6,147 4,888 
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense:    

Federal (10,740) 1,617 2,363 
Foreign 50 17 (472)
State (7,728) 429 663 

Total deferred income tax (benefit) expense (18,418) 2,063 2,554 
Total income tax (benefit) expense $ (40,703) $ 8,210 $ 7,442 

Income tax (benefit) expense differed from amounts computed using the statutory federal income tax rate due to the following reasons: 

Fiscal Year Ended
December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018

Statutory U.S. Federal tax $ (25,957) $ 6,805 $ 5,847 
Differences due to:    

State and local taxes, net of federal benefit (6,414) 2,078 1,906 
Change in valuation allowance 1,354 95 523 
Changes in tax rates 24 (95) (432)
Federal NOL rate differential (5,212) — — 
Stock compensation (102) (676) (197)
Other (4,396) 3 (205)

Income tax (benefit) expense $ (40,703) $ 8,210 $ 7,442 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019 consist of the following: 

December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019
Deferred tax assets:   

Receivables and inventory $ 10,944 $ 4,468 
Self-insurance reserves 2,210 1,957 
Net operating loss carryforwards 15,413 1,393 
Debt discount and interest 3,093 — 
Stock compensation 1,686 1,894 
Charitable contribution carryforward 3,166 368 
Operating lease liabilities 34,460 37,740 
Other 1,307 414 

Total deferred tax assets 72,279 48,234 
Deferred tax liabilities:   

Property & equipment (11,289) (5,218)
Goodwill and intangible assets (17,709) (15,192)
Prepaid expenses and other (2,071) (2,905)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (31,414) (34,895)

Total deferred tax liabilities (62,483) (58,210)
Valuation allowance (2,261) (907)

Total net deferred tax asset (liability) $ 7,535 $ (10,883)
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The deferred tax provision results from the effects of net changes during the year in deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The Company files
income tax returns in the U.S. Federal and various state and local jurisdictions as well as the Canadian Federal and provincial districts. For Federal income
tax purposes, the 2017 through 2020 tax years remain open for examination by the tax authorities under the normal three-year statute of limitations and the
fact that we have not yet filed our tax return for 2020. For state tax purposes, the 2016 through 2020 tax years remain open for examination by the tax
authorities under a four-year statute of limitations. The Company records interest and penalties, if any, in income tax expense.

The Company considered all available positive and negative evidence to determine if based on the weight of such evidence, a valuation allowance is
needed. At December 25, 2020, the Company had a valuation allowance of $2,261, which consisted of $892 and $1,369 against foreign and certain state net
operating loss carryforwards, respectively, as they are not expected to be fully realizable in the future. Despite the loss for the year ended December 25,
2020 as a direct impact of the Pandemic, the Company considered the substantial amount of taxable income available in carryback years under applicable
tax law, strong history of earnings, no history of tax attributes expiring before utilization, reversing taxable temporary differences scheduled to reverse
within the reversal period of the respective deferred tax assets, the long term and indefinite nature of tax attributes on hand, and forecasts of future taxable
income in determining a valuation allowance is not needed on the remaining deferred tax assets. However, the impacts of the Pandemic on the Company’s
business are uncertain and will depend on future developments, and as such, it is possible that under certain circumstances the Company may be required to
recognize a valuation allowance in the future.
The Company’s Canada net operating loss carryforward of $1,139 expires at various dates between fiscal 2038 and 2040. The Company’s state net
operating loss carryforwards of $7,082 expire at various dates, the earliest of which expire in fiscal 2023 while others are indefinite-lived. The Company’s
federal net operating loss carry forward of $7,192 is indefinite-lived and its charitable contributions carry forward expires in fiscal 2025.

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries had operating (loss) income before income taxes as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
Foreign subsidiaries operating (loss) income before income taxes $ (4,231) $ 18 $ (3,223)

The Company is permanently reinvesting the earnings of it’s foreign operations which are disregarded for US tax purposes. In addition, the US tax
consequences and foreign withholding taxes on any future remittances are immaterial.

As of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, the Company did not have any material uncertain tax positions. 
 
Note 14 – Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information

December 25, 2020 December 27, 2019 December 28, 2018
Cash paid for income taxes, net of cash received $ 308 $ 6,046 $ 4,825 
Cash paid for interest $ 18,182 $ 16,271 $ 16,955 
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 25,090 $ 25,302 $ — 
Operating cash flows from finance leases $ 3,856 $ 96 $ — 

ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:
Operating leases $ 7,201 $ 155,027 $ — 
Finance leases $ 16,063 $ 4,183 $ — 

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Conversion of subordinated notes and accrued interest into
common stock $ — $ — $ 37,015 
Contingent earn-out liabilities for acquisitions $ 3,464 $ 7,929 $ 1,414 
Convertible notes issued for acquisitions $ — $ 4,000 $ — 
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Note 15 – Employee Benefit Plans
 
Employee Tax-Deferred Savings Plan
 
The Company offers a 401(k) Plan to eligible employees that provides for tax-deferred salary deductions for eligible employees. Employees may choose to
make voluntary contributions of their annual compensation to the 401(k) Plan, limited to an annual maximum amount as set periodically by the Internal
Revenue Service. The Company provides discretionary matching contributions equal to 50 percent of the employee’s contribution amount, up to a
maximum of six of the employee’s annual salary, capped at $2.5 per employee per year. Matching contributions begin vesting after one year and are fully
vested after five years. Employee contributions are fully vested when made. As a result of the Pandemic, the Company’s matching contributions were
temporarily suspended as of March 31, 2020. Under the 401(k) Plan there is no option available to the employee to receive or purchase the Company’s
common stock. Matching contributions under the 401(k) Plan were $720, $1,268 and $1,097, respectively, for fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Note 16 – Related Parties
 
The Company follows the guidance in ASC 850, “Related Party Disclosure”, which requires the disclosure of material related party transactions other than
compensation arrangements, expense allowances, or other similar items that occur in the ordinary course of business. 

The Chefs’ Warehouse Mid-Atlantic, LLC, a subsidiary of the Company, leases a distribution facility that is 100% owned by entities controlled by
Christopher Pappas, the Company’s chairman, president and chief executive officer, and John Pappas, the Company’s vice chairman and one of its
directors, and are deemed to be affiliates of these individuals. Expense related to this facility was $488 for fiscal 2020, $433 for fiscal 2019 and $533 for
fiscal 2018. This lease was amended during the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and expires on September 30, 2023.

The Company purchases products from ConAgra Foods, Inc. of which Steve Goldstone, a Director of the Company, was a member of the board of directors
through September 20, 2018. The Company purchased approximately $662 worth of products from ConAgra Foods, Inc. through September 20, 2018 of
fiscal 2018.

John DeBenedetti was a prior owner of Del Monte and served on the Company’s board of directors through April 20, 2018 at which point he ceased to be a
related party. John DeBenedetti, indirectly through TJ Investments, LLC, owned an 8.33% ownership interest in Old World Provisions, which supplied
products to the Company after the Del Monte acquisition. The Company purchased approximately $474 of products from Old World Provisions during the
sixteen weeks ended April 20, 2018. Mr. J. DeBenedetti was not involved in the day-to-day management of Old World Provisions.
 
Note 17 – Commitments and Contingencies
 
 Legal Contingencies
 
The Company is involved in various legal proceedings. The Company establishes reserves for specific legal proceedings when it determines that the
likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is probable and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Management has also identified certain other legal
matters where the Company believes an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible and/or for which no estimate of possible losses can be made. The
Company does not believe that there is a reasonable possibility of material loss or loss in excess of the amount that the Company has accrued. The
Company recognizes legal fees related to any ongoing legal proceeding as incurred.

Tax Audits
 
The Company is involved in various tax matters, with respect to some of which the outcome is uncertain. These audits may result in the assessment of
additional taxes that are subsequently resolved with authorities or potentially through the courts.
 
Risk Management Programs
 
The Company’s self-insurance reserves for its medical program totaled $1,684 and $1,220 at December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively.

The Company’s self-insurance reserves for its automobile liability program totaled $3,450 and $2,818 at December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019,
respectively. Self-insurance reserves for workers’ compensation totaled $7,696 and $7,082 at
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December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, respectively.
 
Workforce

As of December 25, 2020, approximately 7% of the Company’s employees are represented by unions, all of whom are operating under collective
bargaining agreements which expire at various times between fiscal 2021 and 2025. Approximately 2% of the Company’s employees are under a collective
bargaining agreement that expires in fiscal 2021.
 
Note 18 – Valuation Reserves

The following tables summarize the activity in our valuation accounts during the fiscal years ended December 25, 2020, December 27, 2019 and
December 28, 2018:

Balance at Beginning of
Period

Additions Charged to
Expense Deductions

Balance at End of
Period

Allowance for doubtful accounts
December 25, 2020 $ 8,846 $ 21,372 $ (6,191) $ 24,027 
December 27, 2019 7,460 4,981 (3,595) 8,846 
December 28, 2018 8,026 3,790 (4,356) 7,460 

Allowance for deferred tax assets
December 25, 2020 $ 907 $ 1,354 $ — $ 2,261 
December 27, 2019 812 95 — 907 
December 28, 2018 289 523 — 812 

Note 19 – Quarterly Results (unaudited)
 
The quarterly results of the Company for the fiscal years ended December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, including the impacts of the reclassifications
described in Note 2, are as follows:

Fiscal 2020 (1)
 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Net sales $ 375,431 $ 200,496 $ 254,030 $ 281,674 
Gross profit 85,488 43,426 60,362 58,875 
Operating loss (17,058) (25,409) (11,925) (48,268)
Loss before income taxes (22,182) (31,181) (16,631) (53,612)
Net loss (14,085) (20,334) (11,427) (37,057)
Basic net loss per share (0.48) (0.62) (0.31) (1.02)
Diluted net loss per share (0.48) (0.62) (0.31) (1.02)

Fiscal 2019
 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Net sales $ 357,027 $ 411,420 $ 396,880 $ 426,507 
Gross profit 85,471 101,677 96,994 102,426 
Operating profit 6,116 15,530 10,624 18,397 
Income before income taxes 1,565 10,685 6,107 14,046 
Net income 1,134 7,746 4,425 10,888 
Basic net income per share 0.04 0.26 0.15 0.37 
Diluted net income per share 0.04 0.26 0.15 0.36 

(1) The Company’s results for fiscal 2020 were materially adversely impacted due to the Pandemic.
(2) The Company began reflecting the results of the Sid Wainer acquisition in the first quarter of 2020.
(3) Includes $24,200 intangible asset impairment charge.

 (2)  (3)
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Item 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
 
Item 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
 
The Company, under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's "disclosure controls and procedures" (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 25,
2020.
 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
 
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a–
15(f) and 15d–15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. The Company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
Under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, our management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 25, 2020. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on this assessment,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 25, 2020.
 
The Company’s financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been audited by BDO USA, LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as indicated in the report appearing on page 48 of this Form 10-K. BDO USA, LLP has also provided an attestation report on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
 
Changes In Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
 
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

78



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and Board of Directors
The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc.
Ridgefield, CT

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited, The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. (the “Company’s”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 25, 2020, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
“COSO criteria). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 25,
2020, based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 25, 2020 and December 27, 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 25, 2020, and the related notes and our report dated
February 23, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Item 9A, Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
/s/ BDO USA, LLP
 
Stamford, CT
February 23, 2021
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Item 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION

None.
 
PART III
 
Item 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information set forth under the captions “Corporate Governance,” “Proposal 1 - Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 14, 2021, which we intend to
file within 120 days after our fiscal year-end, is incorporated herein by reference. As provided in General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K and Instruction 3
to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K, information regarding executive officers of our Company is provided in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the caption, “Information about our Executive Officers.”

Item 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information set forth under the caption “Executive Compensation” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to
be held on May 14, 2021, which we intend to file within 120 days after our fiscal year-end, is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS
 
The information set forth under the caption “Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our
2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 14, 2021, which we intend to file within 120 days after our fiscal year-end, is incorporated herein
by reference.

The following table provides certain information with respect to equity awards under our equity compensation plans as of December 25, 2020: 

Plan Category

Number of securities
to be issued upon

exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities

reflected in the
second column)

Plans approved by stockholders 115,639 $ 20.23 1,447,085 
Plans not approved by stockholders — — — 
Total 115,639 $ 20.23 1,447,085 

Item 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information set forth under the captions “Corporate Governance – Director Independence” and “Corporate Governance – Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 14, 2021, which we intend to file
within 120 days after our fiscal year-end, is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 14.    PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
 
The information set forth under the captions “Proposal 2 – Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – Fees Paid to BDO USA, LLP”
and “Proposal 2 – Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible
Non-Audit Services” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 14, 2021, which we intend to file
within 120 days after our fiscal year-end, is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
 
Item 15.    EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
 
The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements – See Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements at Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules - Supplemental schedules are not provided because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or
because the required information is given in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits – The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index of Exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Item 16.    FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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INDEX OF EXHIBITS
 

Exhibit
No. Description

  
2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 11, 2015, by and among The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., a Delaware corporation,

Del Monte Capitol Meat Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, T.J. Foodservice Co., Inc., a California
corporation, TJ Seafood, LLC, a California limited liability company, John DeBenedetti, Victoria DeBenedetti, Theresa Lincoln,
and John DeBenedetti, as the Sellers’ Representative (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
on January 15, 2015) (Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, the schedules and exhibits to this agreement are omitted,
but will be provided supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request).

  
2.2 Merger Agreement, dated as of January 11, 2015, by and among The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Del Monte

Merger Sub, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Del Monte Capitol Meat Co., Inc., a California corporation, David
DeBenedetti, Victoria DeBenedetti, DeBenedetti/Del Monte Trust, and John DeBenedetti, as the Sellers’ Representative
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on January 15, 2015) (Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of
Regulation S-K, the schedules and exhibits to this agreement are omitted, but will be provided supplementally to the Securities
and Exchange Commission upon request).

  
2.3 Earn-Out Agreement, dated April 6, 2015 by and among The Chefs' Warehouse, Inc., Del Monte Capitol Meat Company, LLC,

T.J. Foodservice Co., Inc., TJ Seafood, LLC, and John DeBenedetti, as the Sellers' Representative (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's 8-K filed on April 9, 2015)(Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, the schedules and
exhibits to this agreement are omitted, but will be provided supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon
request).

  
2.4 Indemnification Agreement, dated April 6, 2015, by and among Del Monte Merger Sub, LLC, The Chefs' Warehouse, Inc., Del

Monte Capitol Meat Company, LLC, DeBenedetti/Del Monte Trust, Victoria DeBenedetti, David DeBenedetti, Del Monte
Capitol Meat Co., Inc., T.J. Foodservice Co., Inc., TJ Seafood, LLC, John DeBenedetti, Theresa Lincoln and John DeBenedetti,
as the Selling Parties' Representative (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company's 8-K filed on April 9, 2015)
(Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, the schedules and exhibits to this agreement are omitted, but will be provided
supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request).

  
2.5 Earn-Out Agreement, dated August 25, 2017 by and among Fells Point, LLC, Fells Point Wholesale Meats, Inc., Erik M.

Oosterwijk and Leendert H. Pruissen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s 8-K filed on August 25, 2017).

2.6 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of August 25, 2017, by and among Fells Point, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,
Fells Point Wholesale Meats, Inc., a Maryland close corporation, Erik M. Oosterwijk, and Leendert H. Pruissen (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 8-K filed on August 25, 2017) (Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, the
schedules and exhibits to this agreement are omitted, but will be provided supplementally to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request).

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, dated as of July 27, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed on August 2, 2011).

  
3.2 Bylaws of the Company, dated as of January 30, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed

on January 31, 2017).

3.3 Certificate of Designation of the Voting Powers, Designation, Preferences and Relative, Participating, Optional or Other Special
Rights and Qualifications, Limitations and Restrictions of the Series A Preferred Stock of The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 23, 2020).
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4.0 Description of Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.0 to the Company's From 10-K filed on February 24, 2020).

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s S-1/A filed on July 1, 2011).

4.2 Indenture, dated as of November 22, 2019, between The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on November 22, 2019).

4.3 Form of 1.875% Convertible Senior Note due 2024 (included as an exhibit to Exhibit 4.2)

4.4 Rights Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2020, between The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, LLC, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 23, 2020).

10.1 Joint and Several Guaranty of Payment, dated as of April 26, 2012, among The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., Chefs’ Warehouse
Parent, LLC, Dairyland USA Corporation, The Chefs’ Warehouse Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Bel Canto Foods, LLC, The Chefs’
Warehouse West Coast, LLC, and The Chefs’ Warehouse of Florida, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed on April 30, 2012).

  
10.2 Lease between The Chefs’ Warehouse Leasing Co., LLC and Dairyland USA Corporation, dated as of December 29, 2004

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form S-1/A filed on June 8, 2011).
  
10.3 First Amendment of Lease dated as of January 1, 2015 between Dairyland USA Corporation and TCW Leasing Co., LLC, f/k/a

The Chefs' Warehouse Leasing Co., LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on
August 5, 2015).

  
10.4 Lease Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2015, between CW LV Real Estate, LLC, The Chefs' Warehouse, Inc., Chefs' Warehouse

Parent, LLC and The Chefs' Warehouse West Coast, LLC, jointly and severally as the Tenant, and CW Nevada Landlord, LLC, as
the Landlord (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on July 7, 2015).

  
10.5* Employment Agreement between Christopher Pappas and The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., together with its subsidiaries, dated as of

August 2, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on August 2, 2011).
  
10.6* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between John Pappas and The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., together with its

subsidiaries, dated as of January 12, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on
January 19, 2012).

  
10.7* Offer letter between Chefs’ Warehouse Holdings, LLC and Patricia Lecouras, dated as of January 31, 2007 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March 13, 2013).
  
10.8* Offer letter between Chefs’ Warehouse Holdings, LLC and Alexandros Aldous, dated as of February 18, 2011 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March 13, 2013).
  
10.9* Severance Agreement, made as of August 1, 2014, by and between The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. and Alexandros Aldous

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on August 6, 2014).
  
10.10* The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. 2011 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s

Form S-1/A filed on July 1, 2011).
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10.11* The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. Executive Change in Control Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form
10-Q filed on May 6, 2020).

  
10.12 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Officers and Employees) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the

Company's Form 10-K filed on March 10, 2017).
  
10.13* Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Form

S-1/A filed on July 1, 2011).
  
10.14 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement (Officers and Employees), for awards granted starting March 6, 2017 (incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.24(b) to the Company's Form 10-K filed on March 10, 2017).
  
10.15 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement (Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Form 10-K

filed on March 10, 2017).
  
10.16* Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Form S-1/A filed on

July 1, 2011).
  
10.17 Form of Performance Restricted Share Award Agreement (Officers and Employees), for awards granted starting March 6, 2017

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27(b) to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March 10, 2017).

10.18* Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for a Transaction Bonus Award Grant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to
the Company's Form 8-K filed on April 9, 2015).

  
10.19* Form of LTIP award agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on May 6, 2015).
  
10.20 Credit Agreement, dated as of June 22, 2016, by and among Dairyland USA Corporation and Chefs’ Warehouse Parent, LLC, as

Borrowers, and The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. and the other Loan Parties party thereto, as Guarantors, the Lenders party thereto and
Jefferies Finance LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent (the “Term Loan Facility”) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 22, 2016).

  
10.21 Amendment No. 1, dated as of September 14, 2016, to the Term Loan Facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Company’s Form 8-K filed on September 15, 2016).
  
10.22 Amendment No. 2, dated as of September 1, 2017, to the Term Loan Facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 8, 2017).
  
10.23 Amendment No. 3, dated as of December 13, 2017, to the Term Loan Facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the

Company’s Form 10-K filed on March 1, 2019).
  
10.24 Amendment No. 4, dated as of November 16, 2018, to the Term Loan Facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Company’s Form 8-K filed on November 19, 2018).

10.25 Amendment No. 5, dated as of November 28, 2019, to the Term Loan Facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the
Company's Form 10-K filed on February 24, 2020).

10.26 Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated June 8, 2020, by and among Dairyland USA Corporation and Chefs’ Warehouse
Parent, LLC, as borrowers, The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., certain other subsidiaries, as guarantors, the lenders party thereto and
Jefferies Finance LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Form 8-K filed on June 8, 2020).
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10.27 Credit Agreement, dated as of June 29, 2018, by and among Chefs’ Warehouse Parent, LLC and Dairyland USA Corporation, as
Borrowers, and The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., The Chefs’ Warehouse Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Bel Canto Foods, LLC, The Chefs’
Warehouse West Coast, LLC, The Chefs’ Warehouse Of Florida, LLC, Michael’s Finer Meats, LLC, Michael’s Finer Meats
Holdings, LLC, The Chefs’ Warehouse Midwest, LLC, Fells Point Holdings, LLC and other Loan Parties party thereto as
Guarantors, the Lenders party thereto and BMO Harris Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent and Swing Line Lender (the “ABL
Facility”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 2, 2018).

10.28 Amendment No. 1, dated as of November 28, 2019, to the ABL Facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the
Company's Form 10-K filed on February 24, 2020).

10.29* Offer Letter, dated October 17, 2017, by and between The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. and James Leddy (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on October 17, 2017).

10.30 Separation and Release of Claims Agreement, dated October 17, 2017, by and between The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. and John
Austin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on October 17, 2017).

10.31* Offer Letter, dated February 19, 2018, by and between The Chefs’ Warehouse Inc. and Tim McCauley (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on February 20, 2018).

  
10.32 Cooperation Agreement dated January 15, 2018, among The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., Legion Partners, L.P. I, Legion Partners,

L.P. II, Legion Partners Special Opportunities, L.P. VII, Legion Partners, LLC, Legion Partners Asset Management, LLC, Legion
Partners Holdings, LLC, Christopher S. Kiper, and Raymond White (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Form 8-K filed on January 16, 2018).

  
10.33* Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. and its directors and executive officers

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Form S-1/A filed on July 14, 2011).

10.34*† The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. 2019 Cash Incentive Plan.

10.35*  The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Form 10-Q filed on October 30, 2019).

10.36* Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement under The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2019).

10.37* Form of Performance Restricted Share Award Agreement under The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2019).

10.38* Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2019).

10.39 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement under The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on May 6, 2020.

10.40 Form of Executive Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on May
6, 2020).
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10.41*† The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc 2020 Cash Incentive Plan.

14.1 The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Company’s
Form 10-Q filed on August 6, 2013).

  
21 Subsidiaries of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on February 24, 2020).

23.1† Consent of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1† Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
31.2† Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
32.1† Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
32.2† Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
101.INS† XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear on the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are

embedded within the Inline XBRL document
101.SCH† XBRL Schema Document
101.CAL† XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF† XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB† XBRL Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE† XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

 * Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement
 † Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on February 23, 2021.
 

 THE CHEFS’ WAREHOUSE, INC.
  
February 23, 2021 /s/ Christopher Pappas
 Christopher Pappas
 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
 
  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature  Capacity  Date
     
/s/ Christopher Pappas  Chairman, President and  February 23, 2021
Christopher Pappas

 
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)   

     
/s/ James Leddy  Chief Financial Officer  February 23, 2021
James Leddy  (Principal Financial Officer)   
/s/ Timothy McCauley  Chief Accounting Officer  February 23, 2021
Timothy McCauley  (Principal Accounting Officer)   
     
/s/ John Pappas  Director and Vice Chairman  February 23, 2021
John Pappas     
     
/s/ Alan Guarino  Director  February 23, 2021
Alan Guarino     
     
/s/ Dominick C. Cerbone  Director  February 23, 2021
Dominick C. Cerbone     
     
/s/ Joseph Cugine  Director  February 23, 2021
Joseph Cugine     
     
/s/ Stephen Hanson  Director  February 23, 2021
Stephen Hanson     
     
/s/ Katherine Oliver  Director  February 23, 2021
Katherine Oliver     
/s/ Steven F. Goldstone  Director  February 23, 2021
Steven F. Goldstone     
/s/ Ivy Brown Director February 23, 2021
Ivy Brown
/s/ Aylwin Lewis Director February 23, 2021
Aylwin Lewis
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THE CHEFS’ WAREHOUSE, INC.
2019 CASH INCENTIVE PLAN

1.     Purpose of the Plan.

The purpose of the Plan is to advance the interests of the Company and its stockholders by providing incentives in the form of cash
incentive awards to certain employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Plan is intended to enable the Company to attract and retain
talented employees and to motivate such employees to manage and grow the Company’s business and to attain the performance goals
articulated under the Plan.

2.     Definitions.

The following capitalized terms used in the Plan have the respective meanings set forth in this Section:

(a) “Award” means a cash-based incentive award granted pursuant to the Plan.

(b)     “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(c)     “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor thereto.

(d)     “Committee” means the Compensation and Human Capital Committee of the Board, or any successor thereto or any other
committee designated by the Board to assume the obligations of the Committee hereunder.

(e)     “Company” means The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its Subsidiaries.

(f)     “Participant” means an employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries who is selected by the Committee to participate
in the Plan pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan.

(g)     “Performance Period” means the Company’s 2019 fiscal year and/or any portion thereof or longer period designated by the
Committee.

(h)     “Plan” means The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. 2019 Cash Incentive Plan.

(i)      “Subsidiary” means a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

3.     Administration.

The Plan shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee shall have the authority to select the employees to be granted
Awards under the Plan, to determine the size and terms of an Award (subject to the limitations imposed on Awards in Section 5 below), to
modify the terms of any Award that has been granted (including to modify the performance goals applicable to a particular Award, including
as a result of a shift in focus or industry standards or to take into account acquisitions and divestitures), to determine the time when Awards
will be made, the amount of any payments pursuant to such Awards, and the Performance Period to which they relate, to establish
performance goals in respect of such Performance Periods and to determine whether such performance goals were attained. The Committee is
authorized to interpret the Plan, to establish, amend and rescind any rules and regulations relating to the Plan, and to make any other
determinations that it deems necessary or desirable for the administration of



the Plan. The Committee may correct any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in the manner and to the extent the
Committee deems necessary or desirable. Any decision of the Committee in the interpretation and administration of the Plan, as described
herein, shall lie within its sole and absolute discretion and shall be final, conclusive and binding on all parties concerned. Determinations
made by the Committee under the Plan need not be uniform and may be made selectively among Participants, whether or not such
Participants are similarly situated. The Committee shall have the right to deduct from any payment made under the Plan any federal, state,
local or foreign income or other taxes required by law to be withheld with respect to such payment. The Committee may delegate to one or
more employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including, but not limited to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, the
authority to take actions on its behalf pursuant to the Plan; provided, however, that only the Committee may determine Awards to executive
officers.

4.     Eligibility and Participation.

The Committee shall determine the executive officers and, upon the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer, such other
persons who shall be Participants for any Performance Period. Participants shall be selected from among the full-time, salaried employees of
the Company and any of its Subsidiaries. The designation of Participants may be made individually or by groups or classifications of
employees, as the Committee deems appropriate.

5.     Awards.

(a)     Determination of Target Cash Incentive Awards and Participants. The Committee shall designate all Participants and their
target cash incentive awards for such Performance Period, and establish one or more performance goals.

(b)     Performance Goals. Awards under the Plan shall be conditioned on the attainment of written performance goals which may be
corporate and/or individual goals. Performance goals may be recommended by the Chief Executive Officer (other than with respect to his
Award) and determined and approved by the Board or the Committee for any Performance Periods. The Committee shall determine whether
and to what extent each performance goal has been met. In determining whether and to what extent a performance goal has been met, the
Committee shall consider the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer (other than with respect to his Award) and may consider such
other matters as the Committee deems appropriate.

(c)     Weighting of Goals. The percentage of any Award payable pursuant to the Plan shall be based on the weights assigned to the
applicable performance goal by the Committee.

(d)     Target Cash Incentive Awards. The Committee shall determine and specify a target cash incentive award to be payable
pursuant to an Award for each Participant.

(e)     Amount Payable. The amount payable pursuant to an Award shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion based
on the applicable target cash incentive award, the prescribed weighting of the performance goals, and the Committee’s determination of
whether and to what extent each applicable performance goal has been met.

(f)     Performance Target Adjustment. The Committee may adjust the performance target for the year to exclude losses or expenses,
including related to any of the following events that occur during the Performance Period: (i) asset write-downs, (ii) litigation or claim
judgments or settlements, (iii) the effect of changes in tax law, accounting principles or other such laws or provisions affecting reported
results, (iv) accruals and costs for reorganizations, business acquisitions, and restructuring programs,



including legal, due diligence and integration costs as well as transaction bonuses, (v) stock compensation expense, (vi) duplicate occupancy
and facility consolidation costs (vii) any extraordinary non-recurring items as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30
and/or in management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations appearing in the Company’s annual report to
stockholders for the applicable year, and (viii) the effect of adverse federal, governmental or regulatory action, or delays in federal,
governmental or regulatory action; provided, that the Committee may then exercise its negative discretion to exclude items of income or gain
or include appropriate items of loss or expense in determining the final performance target on which the Awards will be paid.

(g)     Payment. As soon as practicable following the close of the Performance Period, the Committee shall certify whether the
performance targets have been achieved, and the amount of the Award so certified by the Committee shall be paid to the Participant on a date
selected by the Company as soon thereafter as practicable but in no event later than the fifteenth day of the third month following the close of
the Performance Period.

(h)     Prorated Payment. Participants in the Plan hired after the start of the Performance Period will, in the Committee’s discretion, be
eligible for a prorated payout based on full months of participation at the end of the Performance Period if the performance goals applicable
to such Participant are achieved.

(i)     Termination of Employment. Any Participant whose employment is terminated for any reason (e.g., voluntary separation or
termination due to misconduct) prior to the payout of Awards under the Plan will not be eligible for distribution of Awards under the Plan.

6.     Amendments or Termination.

The Committee has the right to amend or terminate this Plan in any manner it may deem appropriate in its discretion at any time, including,
but not limited to, the ability to include or exclude any employee or group of employees from participation in the Plan, modify the award tiers
or percentages or modify or waive performance goals; provided, however, that, in the case of any change to the performance goals, any such
change shall be communicated to Participants within 45 days of the effective date of such change; provided further, that, in the case of
termination, any earned Awards under the Plan shall be paid to Participants on a prorated basis on the date of termination of the Plan.
Furthermore, this Plan does not, nor should any Participant imply that it shall, create a contractual relationship or rights between the Plan, the
Company or any Subsidiary thereof or any employee of the Company or any such Subsidiary.

7.     No Right to Employment.

Neither the Plan nor any action taken hereunder shall be construed as giving any Participant or other person any right to continue to be
employed by or perform services for the Company or any Subsidiary, and the right to terminate the employment of or performance of
services by any Participant at any time and for any reason is specifically reserved to the Company and its Subsidiaries.

8.    Nontransferability of Awards.

An Award shall not be transferable or assignable by the Participant other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

9.    Offset of Awards.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may reduce any amounts otherwise payable to any
Participant hereunder in order to satisfy any liabilities owed to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by the Participant. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, to the extent



Section 409A of the Code is applicable to any Awards under the Plan, such offset shall only be permitted and made in an amount up to that
which is permitted under Section 409A of the Code.

10.     Adjustments Upon Certain Events.

In the event of any material change in the business assets, liabilities or prospects of the Company, any division or any Subsidiary, the
Committee in its sole discretion and without liability to any person may make such adjustment, if any, as it deems to be equitable as to any
affected terms of outstanding Awards.

11.     Recoupment of Award.

Each Participant agrees that, if the Company shall so request, such Participant shall return to the Company all or a portion of any Awards
paid to such Participant pursuant to the Plan based upon financial information or performance metrics later found to be materially inaccurate.
The amount to be recovered shall be equal to the excess amount paid out over the amount that would have been paid out had such financial
information or performance metric been fairly stated at the time the payout was made.

12.    No Limit on Other Compensation Arrangements.

Nothing contained in the Plan shall prevent the Company from adopting or continuing in effect other or additional compensation
arrangements, and such arrangements may be either generally applicable or applicable only in specific cases.

13.     Miscellaneous Provisions.

The Company is the sponsor and legal obligor under the Plan and shall make all payments hereunder, other than any payments to be made by
any of the Subsidiaries (in which case payment shall be made by such Subsidiary, as appropriate). The Company shall not be required to
establish any special or separate fund or to make any other segregation of assets to ensure the payment of any amounts under the Plan, and
the Participants' rights to the payment hereunder shall be no greater than the rights of the Company's (or Subsidiary's) unsecured creditors.
All expenses involved in administering the Plan shall be borne by the Company.

14.     Choice of Law.

The Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware applicable to contracts made and to be
performed in the State of Delaware.

15.    Effectiveness of the Plan.

The Plan shall be effective as of the date of its adoption by the Committee.



THE CHEFS’ WAREHOUSE, INC.
2020 CASH INCENTIVE PLAN

1.     Purpose of the Plan.

The purpose of the Plan is to advance the interests of the Company and its stockholders by providing incentives in the form of cash
incentive awards to certain employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Plan is intended to enable the Company to attract and retain
talented employees and to motivate such employees to manage and grow the Company’s business and to attain the performance goals
articulated under the Plan. This Plan shall be administered pursuant to The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the
“2019 Incentive Plan”). Awards hereunder shall be “Performance Awards” as defined in Section 8 of the 2019 Incentive Plan. All provisions
hereof shall be interpreted accordingly. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 2019 Incentive
Plan.

2.     Definitions.

The following capitalized terms used in the Plan have the respective meanings set forth in this Section:

(a) “Award” means a cash-based incentive award granted pursuant to the Plan.

(b)     “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(c)     “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor thereto.

(d)     “Committee” means the Compensation and Human Capital Committee of the Board, or any successor thereto or any other
committee designated by the Board to assume the obligations of the Committee hereunder.

(e)     “Company” means The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its Subsidiaries.

(f)     “Participant” means an employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries who is selected by the Committee to participate
in the Plan pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan.

(g)     “Performance Period” means the Company’s 2020 fiscal year and/or any portion thereof or longer period designated by the
Committee.

(h)     “Plan” means The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. 2020 Cash Incentive Plan.

(i)     “Subsidiary” means a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

3.     Administration.

The Plan shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee shall have the authority to select the employees to be granted
Awards under the Plan, to determine the size and terms of an Award (subject to the limitations imposed on Awards in Section 5 below), to
modify the terms of any Award that has been granted (including to modify the performance goals applicable to a particular Award, including
as a result of a shift in focus or industry standards or to take into account acquisitions and divestitures), to determine the time when Awards
will be made, the amount of any payments pursuant to such Awards,



and the Performance Period to which they relate, to establish performance goals in respect of such Performance Periods and to determine
whether such performance goals were attained. The Committee is authorized to interpret the Plan, to establish, amend and rescind any rules
and regulations relating to the Plan, and to make any other determinations that it deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the
Plan. The Committee may correct any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in the manner and to the extent the
Committee deems necessary or desirable. Any decision of the Committee in the interpretation and administration of the Plan, as described
herein, shall lie within its sole and absolute discretion and shall be final, conclusive and binding on all parties concerned. Determinations
made by the Committee under the Plan need not be uniform and may be made selectively among Participants, whether or not such
Participants are similarly situated. The Committee shall have the right to deduct from any payment made under the Plan any federal, state,
local or foreign income or other taxes required by law to be withheld with respect to such payment. The Committee may delegate to one or
more employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including, but not limited to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, the
authority to take actions on its behalf pursuant to the Plan; provided, however, that only the Committee may determine Awards to executive
officers.

4.     Eligibility and Participation.

The Committee shall determine the executive officers and, upon the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer, such other persons who
shall be Participants for any Performance Period. Participants shall be selected from among the full-time, salaried employees of the Company
and any of its Subsidiaries. The designation of Participants may be made individually or by groups or classifications of employees, as the
Committee deems appropriate.

5.     Awards.

(a)     Determination of Target Cash Incentive Awards and Participants. At any time ending on or before the 90th calendar day during
each Performance Period, the Committee shall designate all Participants and their target cash incentive awards for such Performance Period,
and establish one or more performance goals.

(b)     Performance Goals. Awards under the Plan shall be conditioned on the attainment of written performance goals which may be
corporate and/or individual goals and which shall be consistent with those performance goals set forth in Section 11.2 of the 2019 Incentive
Plan. Performance goals may be recommended by the Chief Executive Officer (other than with respect to his Award) and determined and
approved by the Board or the Committee for any Performance Periods. The Committee shall determine whether and to what extent each
performance goal has been met. In determining whether and to what extent a performance goal has been met, the Committee shall consider
the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer (other than with respect to his Award) and may consider such other matters as the
Committee deems appropriate.

(c)     Weighting of Goals. The percentage of any Award payable pursuant to the Plan shall be based on the weights assigned to the
applicable performance goal by the Committee.

(d)     Target Cash Incentive Awards. The Committee shall determine and specify a target cash incentive award to be payable
pursuant to an Award for each Participant.

(e)     Amount Payable. The amount payable pursuant to an Award shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion based
on the applicable target cash incentive award, the prescribed



weighting of the performance goals, and the Committee’s determination of whether and to what extent each applicable performance goal has
been met.

(f)     Performance Target Adjustment. The Committee shall adjust the performance target for the year to exclude losses or expenses
related to any of the following events that occur during the Performance Period: (i) asset write-downs, (ii) litigation or claim judgments or
settlements, (iii) the effect of changes in tax law, accounting principles or other such laws or provisions affecting reported results, (iv)
accruals and costs for reorganizations, business acquisitions, and restructuring programs, including legal, due diligence and integration costs
as well as transaction bonuses, (v) stock compensation expense, (vi) duplicate occupancy and facility consolidation costs (vii) any
extraordinary non-recurring items as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 and/or in management’s discussion and
analysis of financial condition and results of operations appearing in the Company’s annual report to stockholders for the applicable year, and
(viii) the effect of adverse federal, governmental or regulatory action, or delays in federal, governmental or regulatory action; provided, that
the Committee may then exercise its negative discretion to exclude items of income or gain or include appropriate items of loss or expense in
determining the final performance target on which the Awards will be paid.

(g)     Payment. As soon as practicable following the close of the Performance Period, the Committee shall certify whether the
performance targets have been achieved, and the amount of the Award so certified by the Committee shall be paid to the Participant on a date
selected by the Company as soon thereafter as practicable but in no event later than the fifteenth day of the third month following the close of
the Performance Period.

(h) Prorated Payment. Participants in the Plan hired after December 27, 2019 will, in the Committee’s discretion, be eligible for a
prorated payout based on full months of participation at the end of the Performance Period if the performance goals applicable to such
Participant are achieved.

(i) Termination of Employment. Any Participant whose employment is terminated for any reason (e.g., voluntary separation or
termination due to misconduct) prior to the payout of Awards under the Plan will not be eligible for distribution of Awards under the Plan.

6.     Amendments or Termination.

The Committee has the right to amend or terminate this Plan in any manner it may deem appropriate in its discretion at any time, including,
but not limited to, the ability to include or exclude any employee or group of employees from participation in the Plan, modify the award tiers
or percentages or modify or waive performance goals; provided, however, that, in the case of any change to the performance goals, any such
change shall be communicated to Participants within 45 days of the effective date of such change; provided further, that, in the case of
termination, any earned Awards under the Plan shall be paid to Participants on a prorated basis on the date of termination of the Plan.
Furthermore, this Plan does not, nor should any Participant imply that it shall, create a contractual relationship or rights between the Plan, the
Company or any Subsidiary thereof or any employee of the Company or any such Subsidiary.

7.     No Right to Employment.

Neither the Plan nor any action taken hereunder shall be construed as giving any Participant or other person any right to continue to be
employed by or perform services for the Company or any Subsidiary, and the right to terminate the employment of or performance of
services by any Participant at any time and for any reason is specifically reserved to the Company and its Subsidiaries.



8.    Nontransferability of Awards.

An Award shall not be transferable or assignable by the Participant other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

9.    Offset of Awards.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may reduce any amounts otherwise payable to any
Participant hereunder in order to satisfy any liabilities owed to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by the Participant. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, to the extent Section 409A of the Code is applicable to any Awards under the Plan, such offset shall only be permitted and made in
an amount up to that which is permitted under Section 409A of the Code.

10.     Adjustments Upon Certain Events.

In the event of any material change in the business assets, liabilities or prospects of the Company, any division or any Subsidiary, the
Committee in its sole discretion and without liability to any person may make such adjustment, if any, as it deems to be equitable as to any
affected terms of outstanding Awards.

11.     Recoupment of Award.

Each Participant agrees that, if the Company shall so request, such Participant shall return to the Company all or a portion of any Awards
paid to such Participant pursuant to the Plan based upon financial information or performance metrics later found to be materially inaccurate.
The amount to be recovered shall be equal to the excess amount paid out over the amount that would have been paid out had such financial
information or performance metric been fairly stated at the time the payout was made.

12.    No Limit on Other Compensation Arrangements.

Nothing contained in the Plan shall prevent the Company from adopting or continuing in effect other or additional compensation
arrangements, and such arrangements may be either generally applicable or applicable only in specific cases.

13.     Miscellaneous Provisions.

The Company is the sponsor and legal obligor under the Plan and shall make all payments hereunder, other than any payments to be made by
any of the Subsidiaries (in which case payment shall be made by such Subsidiary, as appropriate). The Company shall not be required to
establish any special or separate fund or to make any other segregation of assets to ensure the payment of any amounts under the Plan, and
the Participants' rights to the payment hereunder shall be no greater than the rights of the Company's (or Subsidiary's) unsecured creditors.
All expenses involved in administering the Plan shall be borne by the Company.

14.     Choice of Law.

The Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware applicable to contracts made and to be
performed in the State of Delaware.

15.    Effectiveness of the Plan.

The Plan shall be effective as of the date of its adoption by the Committee.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc.
Ridgefield, CT

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 33-175974 and 333-231587), the Registration
Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-211827), the Registration Statement on Form S-3ASR (No. 333-237646), and the Registration Statement on Form S-4
(No. 333-187349) of The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. of our reports dated February 23, 2021, relating to the consolidated financial statements and the
effectiveness of the Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting, which appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Chefs’
Warehouse, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 25, 2020.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Stamford, CT
February 23, 2021



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Christopher Pappas, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f)
and Rule 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: February 23, 2021 /s/ Christopher Pappas
By: Christopher Pappas

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, James Leddy, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule
13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
function):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: February 23, 2021 /s/ James Leddy
By: James Leddy

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 25, 2020 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Christopher Pappas, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 23, 2021 By: /s/ Christopher Pappas
Christopher Pappas
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC or its staff
upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of The Chefs’ Warehouse, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 25, 2020 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, James Leddy, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 23, 2021 By: /s/ James Leddy
James Leddy
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC or its staff
upon request.


